LAZARD ACTIVE ETF TRUST 30 Rockefeller Plaza New York, New York 10112-6300 (800) 823-6300 STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Lazard Active ETF Trust (the "Trust") is an open-end management investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"). This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI"), which is not a prospectus, supplements and should be read in conjunction with the current Prospectus, dated April 7, 2025, as may be revised or supplemented from time to time (the "Prospectus"), relating to the following five portfolios (individually, a "Portfolio" and collectively, the "Portfolios"):

April 7, 2025

	Ticker	Exchange
Lazard Emerging Markets Opportunities ETF	EMKT	NYSE Arca
Lazard Equity Megatrends ETF	THMZ	NASDAQ
Lazard International Dynamic Equity ETF	IEQ	NYSE Arca
Lazard Japanese Equity ETF	JPY	NASDAQ
Lazard Next Gen Technologies ETF	TEKY	NASDAQ

To obtain a copy of the Prospectus, please write or call the Trust at the address and telephone number above or go to https://lazardassetmanagement.com/us/en_us/investment-solutions/how-to-invest/etfs. Copies of the Annual Reports and Semi-Annual Reports to Shareholders for each Portfolio (when available) will be provided to shareholders free of charge.

It is currently contemplated that prior to its commencement of operations, Lazard International Dynamic Equity ETF will acquire the assets and liabilities of Lazard International Equity Advantage Portfolio, a series of The Lazard Funds, Inc. (the "Predecessor Portfolio") in a tax-free reorganization (the "Reorganization"). The audited financial statements, accompanying notes and report of the independent registered public accounting firm appearing in the filing on Form N-CSR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 with respect to the Predecessor Portfolio, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on Form N-CSR on March 6, 2025 (Accession Number: 0000930413-25-000884), are incorporated by reference into this SAI. No other portions of the Predecessor Portfolio's filing on Form N-CSR are incorporated by reference herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Investments, Investment Techniques and Risks	1
Investment Restrictions	31
Exchange Listing and Trading.	32
Management	32
Determination of Net Asset Value	46
Portfolio Transactions	48
Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings	50
Book Entry Only System	51
Creations and Redemptions of Shares	52
Dividends and Distributions	56
Certain Material US Federal Income Tax Considerations	57
Additional Information About the Trust and Portfolios	67
Counsel and Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	69
Financial Statements	69
Appendix A	A-1
Annandiy P	D 1

The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust organized on October 30, 2024. Each Portfolio is a separate series of the Trust, an open-end management investment company. The Lazard International Dynamic Equity ETF is classified as a "diversified" investment company, which means that, with respect to 75% of the Portfolio's total assets, the Portfolio will not invest more than 5% of its total assets in the securities of any single issuer nor hold more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any single issuer. All other Portfolios are classified as "non-diversified" investment companies, which may invest a relatively high percentage of its assets in a smaller number of issuers or may invest a larger proportion of its assets in a single issuer.

INVESTMENTS, INVESTMENT TECHNIQUES AND RISKS

The following information supplements and should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus.

This SAI provides additional information about the investment strategies and operations of the Trust and the Portfolios. Lazard Asset Management LLC serves as the investment manager (the "Investment Manager") to each of the Portfolios. Foreside Funds Distributors LLC (the "Distributor") is the distributor of each Portfolio's shares. "Portfolio" as used herein and under "Investments, Investment Techniques and Risk" refers to each Portfolio listed on the cover page of this SAI (unless otherwise noted).

The Portfolios will offer and issue shares at their net asset value ("NAV") only in aggregations of a specified number of shares (each, a "Creation Unit"), generally in exchange for a basket of securities and/or instruments together with a deposit of a specified cash payment, if any. Similarly, shares will be redeemable by the Portfolios only in Creation Units, generally for a designated portfolio of securities (including any portion of such securities for which cash may be substituted) held by the Portfolios and/or a specified amount of cash. Subject to notice of issuance, the shares of Lazard Emerging Markets Opportunities ETF and Lazard International Dynamic ETF are expected to be approved for listing on NYSE Arca, Inc.("NYSE Arca") and the shares of Lazard Equity Megatrends ETF, Lazard Japanese Equity ETF and Lazard Next Gen Technologies ETF are expected to be approved for listing on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC ("NASDAQ"). NYSE Arca and NASDAQ are each referred to herein as the "Exchange," unless otherwise specified] Shares of the Portfolios trade in the secondary market at market prices that may differ from the shares' NAV. The Trust reserves the right to permit or require a "cash" option for creations and redemptions of shares (subject to applicable legal requirements).

Purchases and redemptions of Creation Units primarily with cash, rather than through in-kind delivery of Portfolio securities, may cause the Portfolios to incur certain costs, including brokerage costs and/or taxable gains or losses that it might not have incurred if the purchase or redemption had been made through in-kind delivery of Portfolio securities. These costs could be imposed on the Portfolios, and to the extent they are not offset by transaction fees payable by investors who are authorized to deal in Creation Units ("Authorized Participants"), could decrease a Portfolio's NAV.

Market Risk; Market Developments

The market values of securities or other assets will fluctuate, sometimes sharply and unpredictably, due to changes in general market conditions, overall economic trends or events, governmental actions or intervention, political developments, actions taken by the Federal Reserve System, the central bank of the United States (the "Federal Reserve"), or other central banks, market disruptions caused by trade disputes or other events or circumstances, natural disasters, a pandemic or other public health crisis, investor sentiment and other factors that may or may not be related to the issuer of the security or other asset. Economies and financial markets throughout the world are increasingly interconnected. Economic, financial or political events; trading and tariff arrangements; armed conflicts or terrorist activities; wars; economic sanctions and countermeasures in response to sanctions; major cybersecurity events; environmental disasters; natural disasters; public health crises; and other events or circumstances in one country or region could have profound impacts on global economies or markets. As a result, whether or not a Portfolio invests in securities of issuers located in or with significant exposure to the countries directly affected by such events or circumstances, the value and liquidity of the Portfolio's investments may be negatively affected. Raising the ceiling on US government debt has become increasingly politicized. Any failure to increase the total amount that the US government is authorized to borrow could lead to a default on US government obligations, with unpredictable consequences for economies and markets in the US and elsewhere. Market

volatility, inflation (or expectations for inflation), deflation (or expectations for deflation), dramatic interest rate moves and/or unfavorable economic conditions may lower a Portfolio's performance or impair a Portfolio's ability to achieve its investment objective. The Investment Manager intends to monitor developments and seek to manage the Portfolios in a manner consistent with achieving each Portfolio's investment objective, but there can be no assurance that it will be successful in doing so.

The rapid and global spread of COVID-19 resulted in volatility in financial markets worldwide; reduced liquidity of many instruments; border closings and other restrictions on international and, in some cases, local travel; significant disruptions to business operations, including disruptions to supply chains, consumer demand and employee availability, and, in some cases, business closures; strained health care systems; quarantines, health screenings and testing and other measures intended to contain the spread of COVID-19 affecting individuals, businesses of all types, certain government operations, public and private educational systems, and public and private cultural, charitable and other institutions; and widespread uncertainty regarding the duration and long-term effects of the pandemic. Some sectors of the economy, certain industries and individual issuers have experienced particularly adverse effects and there may be adverse impacts on the broader financial and credit markets. Certain risks discussed in the Prospectus and elsewhere in this SAI may be exacerbated by these circumstances, such as credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and the risks of investing in certain sectors, industries or issuers. Developing or emerging market countries may be more affected by public health or other emergencies. In addition, international trade tensions may give rise to concerns about economic and geopolitical stability and have had and likely will continue to have an adverse impact on global economic conditions. Trade disputes between the United States and other countries may be an ongoing source of instability, potentially resulting in significant currency fluctuations, or have other adverse effects on international markets, international trade agreements, or other existing cross-border cooperation arrangements. Tariffs, trade restrictions, economic sanctions, export controls, or retaliatory measures, or the threat or potential of one or more such events and developments, may result in material adverse effects on the global economy and a Portfolio.

The US government and the Federal Reserve, as well as certain other governments and central banks, have taken extraordinary actions to support local and global economies and the financial markets in response to geopolitical and social events affecting markets. These actions have resulted, and any similar future actions may be expected to further result, in significant expansion of public debt, including in the US, the long-term consequences of which are not known. Recently, the US and other governments have also made investments and engaged in infrastructure modernization projects that have also increased public debt and spending. Actions taken to-date and any similar future actions, such as government intervention in the economy and financial markets intended to address market developments may not be successful, particularly if the efforts are perceived by investors as being unlikely to achieve the desired results. Further Federal Reserve actions in response to market conditions, including with respect to interest rates, may adversely affect the value, volatility and liquidity of dividend and interest paying securities in particular. Extraordinary government actions have contributed, and may continue to contribute, to market volatility, which may result in heightened volatility and/or losses in the value of the Portfolios' investments.

Some of these actions resulted in an adverse impact on interest rates and higher inflation. It is difficult to accurately predict changes in interest rates, or the timing, frequency or magnitude of any such changes. Additionally, various economic and political factors could cause the Federal Reserve or other foreign central banks to change their approach in the future and such actions may result in an economic slowdown both in the US and abroad. Unexpected changes in interest rates could lead to significant market volatility or reduce liquidity in certain sectors of the market. Changes in inflation rates may also adversely affect market and economic conditions as well as a Portfolio's investment and an investment in a Portfolio. Government efforts to support the economy and financial markets may increase the risk that asset prices have a higher degree of correlation than historically seen across markets and asset classes. Many markets reached historical highs during recent periods and could be approaching the end of an economic expansion cycle. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that actions taken by the Federal Reserve and other governmental bodies to reduce inflation will be effective.

Cybersecurity Risk

The Portfolios and their service providers are susceptible to operational and information security and related risks of cybersecurity incidents. In general, cybersecurity incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events.

Cybersecurity attacks include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to digital systems (e.g., through "hacking" or malicious software coding) for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data or causing operational disruption. Cybersecurity attacks also may be carried out in a manner that does not require gaining unauthorized access, such as causing denial of service attacks on websites (i.e., efforts to make services unavailable to intended users). Cybersecurity incidents affecting the Investment Manager, custodian, transfer agent or other Trust service providers, such as financial intermediaries, have the ability to cause disruptions and impact business operations, potentially resulting in financial losses, including by impediments to a Portfolio's investment trading; the inability of Authorized Participants to purchase and redeem Portfolio shares; interference with a Portfolio's ability to calculate its NAV; violations of applicable privacy, data security or other laws; regulatory fines and penalties; reputational damage; reimbursement or other compensation or remediation costs; legal fees; or additional compliance costs. Similar adverse consequences could result from cybersecurity incidents affecting issuers of securities in which a Portfolio invests; counterparties with which a Portfolio engages in transactions; governmental and other regulatory authorities; exchange and other financial market operators; and banks, brokers, dealers, insurance companies and other financial institutions and other parties. There are inherent limitations in any cybersecurity risk management system or business continuity plan, including the possibility that certain risks have not been identified.

Equity Securities

Common and preferred stocks and other equity securities, such as common limited partnership units, represent ownership interests in a company. Generally, preferred stock has a specified dividend and ranks after bonds and before common stocks in its claim on income for dividend payments and on assets should the company be liquidated. Equity securities, including common stock, preferred stock, convertible securities and warrants, fluctuate in value, often based on factors unrelated to the value of the issuer of the securities, and such fluctuations can be pronounced. Increases and decreases in earnings are usually reflected in the price of a company's common equity securities, so common equity securities generally have the greatest appreciation and depreciation potential of all corporate securities. While common stockholders usually have voting rights on a number of significant matters, other types of equity securities, such as preferred stock and common limited partnership units, may not ordinarily have voting rights.

<u>Common Stocks</u>. Stocks and similar securities, such as common limited partnership units and limited liability company interests, represent shares of ownership in a company. After other claims are satisfied, common stockholders and other common equity owners participate in company profits on a pro-rata basis after other claims are satisfied; profits may be paid out in dividends or reinvested in the company to help it grow. Increases and decreases in earnings are usually reflected in a company's common equity securities, so common equity securities generally have the greatest appreciation and depreciation potential of all corporate securities. Common stock may be received upon the conversion of convertible securities.

Preferred Stocks. There are two basic types of preferred securities, traditional and hybrid-preferred securities. Traditional preferred securities consist of preferred stock issued by an entity taxable as a corporation. Preferred stocks, which may offer fixed or floating rate dividends, are perpetual instruments and considered equity securities. Preferred securities are subordinated to senior debt instruments in a company's capital structure, in terms of priority to corporate income and claim to corporate assets, and therefore will be subject to greater credit risk than debt instruments. Alternatively, hybrid-preferred securities may be issued by corporations, generally in the form of interest-bearing notes with preferred securities characteristics, or by an affiliated trust or partnership of the corporation, generally in the form of preferred interests in subordinated debentures or similarly structured securities. The hybrid-preferred securities market consists of both fixed and adjustable coupon rate securities that are either perpetual in nature or have stated maturity dates. Hybrid-preferred securities are considered debt securities. Due to their similar attributes, the Investment Manager also considers senior debt perpetual issues, certain securities with convertible features as well as exchange-listed senior debt issues that trade with attributes of exchange-listed perpetual and hybrid-preferred securities to be part of the broader preferred securities market.

Traditional Preferred Securities. Traditional preferred securities pay fixed or floating dividends to investors and have "preference" over common stock in the payment of dividends and the liquidation of a company's assets. This means that a company must pay dividends on preferred stock before paying any dividends on its common stock. In

order to be payable, distributions on such preferred securities must be declared by the issuer's board of directors. Income payments on preferred securities may be cumulative, causing dividends and distributions to accumulate even if not declared by the board of directors or otherwise made payable. In such a case, all accumulated dividends must be paid before any dividend on the common stock can be paid. However, many traditional preferred stocks are non-cumulative, in which case dividends do not accumulate and need not ever be paid. A Portfolio may invest in non-cumulative preferred securities, whereby the issuer does not have an obligation to make up any missed payments to its stockholders. There is no assurance that dividends or distributions on the traditional preferred securities in which a Portfolio may invest will be declared or otherwise made payable. Preferred securities may also contain provisions under which payments must be stopped (*i.e.*, stoppage is compulsory, not discretionary). The conditions under which this occurs may relate to, for instance, capitalization levels. Hence, if a company incurs significant losses that deplete retained earnings automatic payment stoppage could occur. In some cases the terms of the preferred securities provide that the issuer would be obligated to attempt to issue common shares to raise funds for the purpose of making the preferred payments. However, there is no guarantee that the issuer would be successful in placing common shares.

Preferred stockholders usually have no right to vote for corporate directors or on other matters. Shares of traditional preferred securities have a liquidation preference that generally equals the original purchase price at the date of issuance. The market value of preferred securities may be affected by, among other factors, favorable and unfavorable changes impacting the issuer or industries in which they operate, movements in interest rates and inflation, and the broader economic and credit environments, and by actual and anticipated changes in tax laws, such as changes in corporate and individual income tax rates. Because the claim on an issuer's earnings represented by traditional preferred securities may become onerous when interest rates fall below the rate payable on such securities, the issuer may redeem the securities. Thus, in declining interest rate environments in particular, a Portfolio's holdings of higher rate-paying fixed rate preferred securities may be reduced, and the Portfolio may be unable to acquire securities of comparable credit quality paying comparable rates with the redemption proceeds.

Pursuant to the dividends received deduction, corporations may generally deduct 50% of the income they receive from dividends on traditional preferred securities issued by domestic corporations that are paid out of earnings and profits of the issuer, provided holding period and certain other requirements are met. However, not all traditional preferred securities pay dividends that are eligible for the dividends received deduction, including preferred securities issued by real estate investment trusts ("REITs"). In addition, individuals will generally be taxed at long-term capital gain rates on qualified dividend income, provided holding period and certain other requirements are met. However, not all traditional preferred securities will provide significant benefits under the rules relating to qualified dividend income, including preferred securities issued by REITs.

Hybrid-Preferred Securities. Hybrid-preferred securities are typically junior and fully subordinated liabilities of an issuer or the beneficiary of a guarantee that is junior and fully subordinated to the other liabilities of the guarantor. In addition, hybrid-preferred securities typically permit an issuer to defer the payment of income for eighteen months or more without triggering an event of default. Generally, the maximum deferral period is five years. Because of their subordinated position in the capital structure of an issuer, the ability to defer payments for extended periods of time without default consequences to the issuer, and certain other features (such as restrictions on common dividend payments by the issuer or ultimate guarantor when full cumulative payments on the hybrid preferred securities have not been made), these hybrid-preferred securities are often treated as close substitutes for traditional preferred securities, both by issuers and investors. Hybrid-preferred securities have many of the key characteristics of equity due to their subordinated position in an issuer's capital structure and because their quality and value are heavily dependent on the profitability of the issuer rather than on any legal claims to specific assets or cash flows. Hybrid-preferred securities include, but are not limited to, types of securities referred to as trust preferred securities, trust-originated preferred securities, monthly- or quarterly-income bond, debt or preferred securities, corporate trust securities and other similarly structured securities.

Hybrid-preferred securities are typically issued with a final maturity date. In certain instances, a final maturity date may be extended and/or the final payment of principal may be deferred at the issuer's option for a specified time without default. No redemption can typically take place unless all cumulative payment obligations have been met, although issuers may be able to engage in open-market repurchases without regard to whether all payments have been paid.

Many hybrid-preferred securities are issued by trusts or other special purpose entities established by operating companies and are not a direct obligation of an operating company. At the time the trust or special purpose entity sells such preferred securities to investors, it purchases debt of the operating company (with terms comparable to those of the trust or special purpose entity securities), which enables the operating company to deduct for tax purposes the interest paid on the debt held by the trust or special purpose entity. The trust or special purpose entity is generally required to be treated as transparent for US federal income tax purposes such that the holders of the trust preferred securities are treated as owning beneficial interests in the underlying debt of the operating company. Accordingly, payments on the hybrid-preferred securities are generally treated as interest rather than dividends for US federal income tax purposes and, as such, are not eligible for the dividends received deduction or the reduced rates of tax that apply to qualified dividend income. The trust or special purpose entity in turn would be a holder of the operating company's debt and would have priority with respect to the operating company's earnings and profits over the operating company's common stockholders, but would typically be subordinated to other classes of the operating company's debt. Typically a preferred security has a credit rating that is lower than that of its corresponding operating company's senior debt securities.

Within the category of hybrid-preferred securities are senior debt instruments that trade in the broader preferred securities market. These debt instruments, which are sources of long-term capital for the issuers, have structural features similar to other preferred securities such as maturities ranging from 30 years to perpetuity, call features, quarterly payments, exchange listings and the inclusion of accrued interest in the trading price.

In some cases traditional and hybrid securities may include loss absorption provisions that make the securities more equity like. Events in global financial markets in recent periods have caused regulators to review the function and structure of preferred securities more closely. In one version of a preferred security with loss absorption characteristics, the liquidation value of the security may be adjusted downward to below the original par value under certain circumstances. This may occur, for instance, in the event that business losses have eroded capital to a substantial extent. The write down of the par value would occur automatically and would not entitle the holders to seek bankruptcy of the company. Such securities may provide for circumstances under which the liquidation value may be adjusted back up to par, such as an improvement in capitalization and/or earnings.

Another preferred structure with loss absorption characteristics is the contingent convertible capital security (sometimes referred to as "CoCos"). These securities may have loss absorption characteristics that may include downward adjustment of the liquidation value of the security to below the original par value or a mandatory conversion that might relate, for instance, to maintenance of a capital minimum whereby falling below the minimum would trigger automatic conversion. Since the common stock of the issuer may not pay a dividend, investors in these instruments could experience a reduced income rate, potentially to zero, and conversion to common stock would deepen the subordination of the investor, hence worsening standing in a bankruptcy. CoCos typically sit above equity and below senior debt with respect to seniority and are described further below under "Convertible Securities." In addition, some such instruments have a set stock conversion rate that would cause an automatic write-down of capital if the price of the stock is below the conversion price on the conversion date.

Preferred securities may be subject to changes in regulations and there can be no assurance that the current regulatory treatment of preferred securities will continue.

<u>Convertible Securities</u>. Convertible securities may be converted at either a stated price or stated rate into underlying shares of common stock. Convertible securities have characteristics similar to both fixed-income and equity securities. Convertible securities generally are subordinated to other similar but non-convertible securities of the same issuer, although convertible bonds, as corporate debt obligations, enjoy seniority in right of payment to all equity securities, and convertible preferred stock is senior to common stock, of the same issuer. Because of the subordination feature, however, convertible securities typically have lower ratings than similar non-convertible securities.

A convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in a charter provision, indenture or other governing instrument pursuant to which the convertible security was issued. If a convertible security held by a Portfolio is called for redemption, the Portfolio will be required to redeem the security, convert it into the underlying common stock or sell it to a third party. Certain convertible debt securities

may provide a put option to the holder which entitles the holder to cause the security to be redeemed by the issuer at a premium over the stated principal amount of the debt security under certain circumstances.

Although to a lesser extent than with fixed-income securities, the market value of convertible securities tends to decline as interest rates increase and, conversely, tends to increase as interest rates decline. In addition, because of the conversion feature, the market value of convertible securities tends to vary with fluctuations in the market value of the underlying common stock. A unique feature of convertible securities is that as the market price of the underlying common stock declines, convertible securities tend to trade increasingly on a yield basis and so may not experience market value declines to the same extent as the underlying common stock. When the market price of the underlying common stock increases, the prices of the convertible securities tend to rise as a reflection of the value of the underlying common stock. While no securities investments are without risk, investments in convertible securities generally entail less risk than investments in common stock of the same issuer.

Convertible securities provide for a stable stream of income with generally higher yields than common stocks, but there can be no assurance of current income because the issuers of the convertible securities may default on their obligations. A convertible security, in addition to providing fixed income, offers the potential for capital appreciation through the conversion feature, which enables the holder to benefit from increases in the market price of the underlying common stock. There can be no assurance of capital appreciation, however, because securities prices fluctuate. Convertible securities generally offer lower interest or dividend yields than non-convertible securities of similar quality because of the potential for capital appreciation.

CoCos are slightly different than regular convertible bonds in that the likelihood of the bonds converting to equity is "contingent" on a specified event or trigger. CoCos are securities typically issued by a bank that are designed to absorb the bank's losses during a period of financial stress, thereby improving the bank's capital position. CoCos absorb losses by converting to equity or having their principal written down (either partially or in full) when a prespecified trigger event occurs. Absent a trigger event, the securities are hybrid instruments with debt-like characteristics. CoCos may be structured with various types of trigger events.

<u>Warrants</u>. A warrant is a form of derivative that gives the holder the right to subscribe to a specified amount of the issuing corporation's capital stock at a set price for a specified period of time. Each Portfolio may invest up to 5% of its total assets in warrants, except that this limitation does not apply to warrants purchased by the Portfolio that are sold in units with, or attached to, other securities.

<u>Initial Public Offerings</u>. An initial public offering ("IPO") is a company's first offering of equity securities to the public. Shares are given a market value reflecting expectations for the corporation's future growth. Special rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. ("FINRA") apply to the distribution of IPOs. Companies offering securities in IPOs generally have limited operating histories and may involve greater investment risk than companies with longer operating histories. Special risks associated with IPOs may include a limited number of shares available for trading, unseasoned trading, lack of investor knowledge of the company, and limited operating history, all of which may contribute to price volatility. The limited number of shares available for trading in some IPOs may make it more difficult for a Portfolio to buy or sell significant amounts of shares without an unfavorable impact on prevailing prices. In addition, some IPOs are involved in relatively new industries or lines of business, which may not be widely understood by investors. Some of the companies involved in new industries may be regarded as developmental stage companies, without revenues or operating income, or the near-term prospects of such. Foreign IPOs are subject to foreign political and currency risks. Many IPOs are issued by undercapitalized companies of small or microcap size. The prices of these companies' securities can be very volatile, rising and falling rapidly, sometimes based solely on investor perceptions rather than economic reasons. IPO securities will be sold when the Investment Manager believes the price has reached full value. IPO securities may be sold by a Portfolio on the same day the Portfolio receives an allocation.

Non-US Securities

Non-US securities include the securities of companies organized under the laws of countries other than the United States and those issued or guaranteed by governments other than the US government or by foreign supranational entities. They also include securities of companies whose principal trading market is in a country other than the United States or of companies (including those that are located in the United States or organized under US law) that

derive a significant portion of their revenue or profits from foreign businesses, investments or sales, or that have a majority of their assets outside the United States. They may be traded on foreign securities exchanges or in the foreign over-the-counter markets. Supranational entities include international organizations designated or supported by governmental entities to promote economic reconstruction or development and international banking institutions and related government agencies. Examples include the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the World Bank), the European Coal and Steel Community, the Asian Development Bank and the InterAmerican Development Bank.

Investing in the securities of foreign issuers, as well as instruments that provide investment exposure to foreign securities and markets, involves risks that are not typically associated with investing in US dollar-denominated securities of domestic issuers. Investments in foreign issuers may be affected by changes in currency rates (i.e., affecting the value of assets as measured in US dollars), changes in foreign or US laws or restrictions applicable to such investments and in exchange control regulations (e.g., currency blockage). A decline in the exchange rate of the currency (i.e., weakening of the currency against the US dollar) in which a portfolio security is quoted or denominated relative to the US dollar would reduce the value of the portfolio security. A change in the value of such foreign currency against the US dollar also will result in a change in the amount of income available for distribution. If a portion of a Portfolio's investment income may be received in foreign currencies, the Portfolio will be required to compute its income in US dollars for distribution to shareholders, and therefore the Portfolio will absorb the cost of currency fluctuations. After a Portfolio has distributed income, subsequent foreign currency losses may result in the Portfolio having distributed more income in a particular fiscal period than was available from investment income, which could result in a return of capital to shareholders. In addition, if the exchange rate for the currency in which a Portfolio receives interest payments declines against the US dollar before such income is distributed as dividends to shareholders, a Portfolio may have to sell portfolio securities to obtain sufficient cash to enable the Portfolio to pay such dividends. Commissions on transactions in foreign securities may be higher than those for similar transactions on domestic stock markets, and foreign custodial costs are higher than domestic custodial costs. In addition, clearance and settlement procedures may be different in foreign countries and, in certain markets, such procedures have on occasion been unable to keep pace with the volume of securities transactions, thus making it difficult to conduct such transactions.

Foreign securities markets generally are not as developed or efficient as those in the United States. Securities of some foreign issuers, including depositary receipts, foreign government obligations and securities of supranational entities, are less liquid and more volatile than securities of comparable US issuers. Similarly, volume and liquidity in most foreign securities markets are less than in the United States and, at times, volatility of price can be greater than in the United States. However, the capital markets in the US and internationally have experienced periods of significant volatility in recent years, causing significant declines in the value and liquidity of many securities. These market conditions may reoccur at any time.

Many countries throughout the world are dependent on a healthy US economy and are adversely affected when the US economy weakens or its markets decline. For example, in 2007 and 2008, the meltdown in the US subprime mortgage market quickly spread throughout global credit markets, triggering a liquidity crisis that affected fixed-income and equity markets around the world.

Foreign investments involve risks unique to the local political, economic, and regulatory structures in place, as well as the potential for social instability, military unrest, or diplomatic developments that could prove adverse to the interests of US investors. Individual foreign economies can differ favorably or unfavorably from the US economy in such respects as growth of gross national product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency and balance of payments position. In addition, significant external political and economic risks currently affect some foreign countries. For example, both Taiwan and China claim sovereignty over Taiwan and there is a demilitarized border and hostile relations between North and South Korea. War and terrorism affect many countries, especially those in Africa and the Middle East. Russia's war in Ukraine is likely to impact countries throughout the world. The future proliferation and effects of these and similar events and other socio-political or geographical issues are not known but could suddenly and/or profoundly affect global economies, markets, certain industries and/or specific securities.

From time to time, certain of the companies in which a Portfolio may invest may operate in, or have dealings with, countries subject to sanctions or embargos imposed by the US and other governments or identified by the US government as state sponsors of terrorism. Economic and trade sanctions may prohibit, among other things, transactions with and the provision of services to certain countries, territories, entities and individuals. Non-US securities may be subject to economic sanctions or other similar governmental actions or developments which could, among other things, effectively restrict or eliminate the Portfolio's ability to purchase or sell certain foreign securities. Furthermore, as a result of economic sanctions or other similar governmental actions, a Portfolio may be forced to sell or otherwise dispose of foreign investments at inopportune times or prices. To the extent the Portfolio holds securities subject to such actions, the securities may become difficult to value and/or less liquid (or illiquid). In some cases, the securities may become worthless. A company may suffer damage to its reputation if it is identified as a company which operates in, or has dealings with, countries subject to sanctions or embargoes imposed by the US government as state sponsors of terrorism. As an investor in such companies, a Portfolio will be indirectly subject to those risks. Iran, for example, is subject to several United Nations sanctions and is an embargoed country by the US Department of the Treasury's ("Treasury") Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC").

In addition, from time to time, certain of the companies in which a Portfolio may invest may engage in, or have dealings with countries or companies that engage in, activities that may not be considered socially and/or environmentally responsible. As a result, a company may suffer damage to its reputation if it is identified as a company which engages in, or has dealings with countries or companies that engage in, the above referenced activities. As an investor in such companies, a Portfolio would be indirectly subject to those risks.

Because evidences of ownership of such securities usually are held outside the United States, a Portfolio will be subject to additional risks which include possible adverse political and economic developments, seizure or nationalization of foreign deposits and adoption of governmental restrictions, which might adversely affect or restrict the payment of principal and interest on the foreign securities to investors located outside the country of the issuer, whether from currency blockage, exchange control regulation or otherwise. Moreover, foreign securities held by a Portfolio may trade on days when the Portfolio does not calculate its net asset value and thus affect the Portfolio's net asset value on days when investors have no access to the Portfolio. Because foreign securities often are purchased with and payable in currencies of foreign countries, the value of these assets as measured in US dollars may be affected favorably or unfavorably by changes in currency rates and exchange control regulations.

Investing in North America. A decrease in imports or exports, changes in trade regulations or an economic recession in any North American country can have a significant economic effect on the entire North American region. The US is Canada's and Mexico's largest trading and investment partner, and the Canadian and Mexican economies are significantly affected by developments in the US economy. Political developments, including policy and legislative changes, in one North American country may have a significant effect on North American markets generally, as well as on the value of Portfolio investments in or related to these markets. On July 1, 2020, the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, a trilateral free trade agreement among the US, Mexico and Canada (the "USMCA"), came into effect. The USMCA is based substantially on the previous trilateral agreement among the three countries that the USMCA was intended to supersede, the North American Free Trade Agreement, which had been in effect since 1994.

<u>Investing in Europe</u>. Ongoing concerns regarding the economies of certain European countries and/or their sovereign debt, as well as the possibility that one or more countries might leave the European Union (the "EU"), create risks for investing in the EU.

A number of countries in Europe have experienced severe economic and financial difficulties. Many non-governmental issuers, and even certain governments, have defaulted on, or been forced to restructure, their debts. Many other issuers have faced difficulties obtaining credit or refinancing existing obligations. Financial institutions have in many cases required government or central bank support, have needed to raise capital, and/or have been impaired in their ability to extend credit; and financial markets in Europe and elsewhere have experienced significant volatility and declines in asset values and liquidity. These difficulties may continue, worsen or spread within and outside of Europe. Responses to the financial problems by European governments, central banks and others, including austerity measures and reforms, may not be effective, may result in social unrest and may limit

future growth and economic recovery or have other unintended consequences. Further defaults or restructurings by governments and others of outstanding debt could have additional adverse effects on economies, financial markets and asset valuations around the world.

The United Kingdom (the "UK") left the EU (known as "Brexit") on January 31, 2020 under the terms of a negotiated departure deal. A transition period, which kept most pre-departure arrangements in place, ended on December 31, 2020, and the UK entered into a new trading relationship with the EU under the terms of the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, which reflected the long-term, post-transition landscape. However, critical aspects of the relationship, including those concerning financial services, remain unresolved and subject to further negotiation and agreement. The full scope and nature of the consequences of the UK's exit are not known at this time and are unlikely to be known for a significant period of time. The current uncertainty and related future developments could have a negative impact on both the UK economy and the economies of other countries in Europe, as well as greater volatility in the global financial and currency markets. It is possible that various countries within the UK, such as Scotland or Northern Ireland, could seek to separate and remain a part of the EU. It is also unknown whether the UK's exit from the EU will increase the likelihood of other countries also departing the EU. Any additional exits from the EU, or the possibility of such exits, may have a significant impact on European and global economies, which may result in increased volatility and illiquidity, new legal and regulatory uncertainties and potentially lower economic growth. It is not possible to ascertain the precise impact these events may have on a Portfolio or its investments from an economic, financial, tax or regulatory perspective but any such impact could have material consequences for the Portfolios and their investments.

Whether or not a Portfolio invests in securities of issuers located in Europe or has significant exposure to European issuers or countries, these events could negatively affect the value and liquidity of the Portfolio's investment.

Investing in Japan. Over the last few decades, Japan's economic growth rate had remained relatively low compared to that of its Asian neighbors and other major developed economies mainly due to deflation. The economy is characterized by an aging demographic, a declining population, a large government debt and a highly regulated labor market. Monetary and fiscal policies designed to stimulate economic growth in Japan have had limited success in the past prior to the current government. Overseas trade is important to Japan's economy, although exports as a percentage of Japan's gross domestic product is lower than other Asian countries and most developed countries. Japan has few natural resources and limited land area and is reliant on imports for its commodity needs. Fluctuations or shortages in relevant commodity markets could have a negative impact on Japan's economy. The Japanese economy also can be adversely affected by trade tariffs, other protectionist measures, competition from emerging economies, and the economic conditions of its trading partners. Furthermore, the Japanese economic growth rate could be impacted by Bank of Japan monetary policies, rising interest rates, tax increases, budget deficits, consumer confidence and volatility in the Japanese yen. Japan has previously had a growing economic relationship with China and other Southeast Asian countries, and economic, political or social instability in those countries, whether resulting from country, regional or global events, could have an adverse effect on Japan's economy. For instance, strained relations with neighboring countries (China, South Korea, North Korea and Russia) may negatively impact the Japanese economy, the geographic region and the global economy. The specific risks of investing in Japan, certain of which are summarized in this section, could, individually or in the aggregate, adversely impact investments in Japan.

Labor Market. Japan's labor market, affected by the aging and shrinking population, appears to be undergoing fundamental structural changes. The changing population has increased the cost of Japan's pension and public welfare system. Japan's labor market, which traditionally preferred lifetime employment, also has sought to adjust to meet the need for increased labor mobility. Issues in Japan's labor market may, among other consequences, adversely affect Japan's economic competitiveness.

Currency Fluctuations. The Japanese yen has fluctuated widely at times, and any material increase in its value may cause a decline in exports that could weaken the Japanese economy. The Japanese government has, in the past, intervened in the currency markets to attempt to maintain or reduce the value of the yen. Japan's intervention in the currency markets could cause the value of the yen to fluctuate dramatically and unpredictably. A decline in value of the yen relative to the US dollar will affect the value of these investments held by a Portfolio.

Natural Disasters. Japan has experienced natural disasters, such as earthquakes and tidal waves, of varying degrees of severity. The risks of such phenomena, and the resulting damage, continue to exist and could have a severe and negative impact on a Portfolio's holdings in Japanese securities. Japan also has one of the world's highest population densities, with a significant percentage of its total population concentrated in the metropolitan areas of Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya. As a result, a natural disaster centered in or very near one of these cities could have a particularly devastating effect on Japan's financial markets. For example, Japan suffered economic distress from the earthquake and resulting tsunami that struck northeastern Japan in March 2011 and caused major damage along the coast, including damage to nuclear power plants in the region.

Emerging Markets. Investments in, or economically tied to, emerging market countries may be subject to higher risks than investments in companies in developed countries. Risks of investing in emerging markets and emerging market securities include (in addition to those described above): less social, political and economic stability; less diverse and mature economic structures; higher volatility; the lack of publicly available information, including reports of payments of dividends or interest on outstanding securities; certain national policies that may restrict a Portfolio's investment opportunities, including restrictions on investment in issuers or industries deemed sensitive to national interests; local taxation; the absence of developed structures governing private or foreign investment or allowing for judicial redress for injury to private property; the absence until recently, in certain countries, of a capital structure or market-oriented economy; the possibility that recent favorable economic developments in certain countries may be slowed or reversed by unanticipated political or social events in these countries; restrictions that may make it difficult or impossible for a Portfolio to vote proxies, exercise shareholder rights, pursue legal remedies, and obtain judgments in foreign courts; the risk of uninsured loss due to lost, stolen, or counterfeit stock certificates; possible losses through the holding of securities in domestic and foreign custodial banks and depositories; heightened opportunities for governmental corruption; large amounts of foreign debt to finance basic governmental duties that could lead to restructuring or default; and heavy reliance on exports that may be severely affected by global economic downturns.

The purchase and sale of portfolio securities in certain emerging market countries may be constrained by limitations as to daily changes in the prices of listed securities, periodic trading or settlement volume and/or limitations on aggregate holdings of foreign investors. In certain cases, such limitations may be computed based upon the aggregate trading by or holdings of a Portfolio, its Investment Manager and its affiliates and their respective clients and other service providers. A Portfolio may not be able to sell securities in circumstances where price, trading or settlement volume limitations have been reached.

Economic conditions, such as volatile currency exchange rates and interest rates, political events and other conditions may, without prior warning, lead to government intervention and the imposition of "capital controls." Countries use these controls to restrict volatile movements of capital entering (inflows) and exiting (outflows) their country to respond to certain economic conditions. Such controls are mainly applied to short-term capital transactions to counter speculative flows that threaten to undermine the stability of the exchange rate and deplete foreign exchange reserves. Capital controls include the prohibition of, or restrictions on, the ability to transfer currency, securities or other assets in such a way that may adversely affect the ability of a Portfolio to repatriate their income and capital. These limitations may have a negative impact on the Portfolio's performance and may adversely affect the liquidity of the Portfolio's investment to the extent that it invests in certain emerging market countries. Some emerging market countries may have fixed or managed currencies which are not free-floating against the US dollar. Further, certain emerging market countries' currencies may not be internationally traded. Certain of these currencies have experienced a steady devaluation relative to the US dollar. If a Portfolio does not hedge the US dollar value of securities it owns denominated in currencies that are devalued, the Portfolio's NAV will be adversely affected. In addition, some countries in which a Portfolio may invest have experienced substantial, and in some periods, extremely high rates of inflation for many years. Inflation and rapid fluctuations in inflation rates have had, and may continue to have, adverse effects on the economies and securities markets of certain of these countries. Further, the economies of emerging market countries generally are heavily dependent upon international trade and, accordingly, have been and may continue to be adversely affected by trade barriers, exchange controls, managed adjustments in relative currency values and other protectionist measures imposed or negotiated by the countries with which they trade.

Frontier Markets. Certain companies are organized or have their principal place of business, or majority of assets or business, in pre-emerging markets, also known as frontier markets. The risks associated with investments in frontier market countries include all the risks described above for investments in foreign securities and emerging markets, although the risks are magnified for frontier market countries. Because frontier markets are among the smallest, least mature and least liquid of the emerging markets, investments in frontier markets generally are subject to a greater risk of loss than investments in developed markets or traditional emerging markets. Frontier market countries have smaller economies, less developed capital markets, more political and economic instability, weaker legal, financial accounting and regulatory infrastructure, and more governmental limitations on foreign investments than typically found in more developed countries, and frontier markets typically have greater market volatility, lower trading volume, lower capital flow, less investor participation, fewer large global companies and greater risk of a market shutdown than more developed markets. Frontier markets are more prone to economic shocks associated with political and economic risks than are emerging markets generally. Many frontier market countries may be dependent on commodities, foreign trade or foreign aid.

Other than for the purpose of a Portfolio's policy with respect to the investment of 80% of its assets, the Portfolios consider emerging market countries to include all countries represented by the Morgan Stanley Capital International ("MSCI®") Emerging Markets Index and other countries not considered developed countries by MSCI, and investments in emerging markets may include those companies included in the MSCI Emerging Markets Index and companies with their principal business activities located in, or that have 50% or more of their assets in or revenue or net income from, emerging market countries. As of January 31, 2025, the MSCI Emerging Markets Index includes the following countries: Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Czech Republic, Egypt, Greece, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Korea, Kuwait, Malaysia, Mexico, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey and United Arab Emirates.

For the purpose of a Portfolio's policy with respect to the investment of 80% of its assets, with respect to derivative instruments, the Investment Manager generally considers such instruments to be economically tied to emerging market countries if the underlying assets are currencies of emerging market countries (or baskets or indexes of such currencies), or instruments or securities that are issued or guaranteed by governments of emerging market countries or by entities organized under the laws of emerging market countries.

Investing in China. Investments in Chinese securities, including certain Hong Kong-listed securities, subject a Portfolio to risks specific to China. Specific risks associated with investments in China include, among others, (i) more frequent (and potentially widespread) trading suspensions and government interventions with respect to Chinese markets and issuers, including the risk that the US government or other governments may sanction Chinese issuers or otherwise prohibit US persons (such as the Portfolio) from investing in certain Chinese issuers, resulting in lack of liquidity and in price volatility, (ii) currency revaluations and other currency exchange rate fluctuations or blockage, (iii) the nature and extent of active intervention by the Chinese government in the Chinese securities markets (including both direct and indirect market stabilization efforts, which may affect valuations of Chinese issuers) and operations of Chinese issuers, whether such intervention will continue and the impact of such intervention or its discontinuation, (iv) the risk of nationalization or expropriation of assets, (v) the risk that the Chinese government may decide not to continue to support economic reform programs, (vi) limitations on the use of brokers (or action by the Chinese government that discourages brokers from serving international clients), (vii) higher rates of inflation, (viii) greater political, economic and social uncertainty, (ix) market volatility caused by any potential regional or territorial conflicts (such as military, diplomatic, or trade conflicts and government intervention in economic and securities markets) or natural disasters, (x) the risk of increased trade tariffs, embargoes, sanctions and other trade limitations or retaliatory measures, (xi) custody risks associated with investing via Stock Connect (as defined below), (xii) both interim and permanent market regulations which may affect the ability of certain stockholders to sell Chinese securities when it would otherwise be advisable, (xiii) foreign ownership limits of any listed Chinese company, (xiv) different regulatory and audit requirements related to the quality of financial statements of Chinese issuers, (xv) limitations on the ability to inspect the quality of audits performed in China, particularly the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's ("PCAOB's") lack of access to inspect PCAOB-registered accounting firms in China, (xvi) limitations on the ability of US authorities to enforce actions against non-US companies and non-US persons, and (xvii) limitations on the rights and remedies of investors as a matter of law.

The economy of China differs from the US economy in such respects as structure, general development, government involvement, wealth distribution, rate of inflation, growth rate, interest rates, allocation of resources and capital reinvestment, among others. Over the last few decades, the Chinese government has undertaken reform of economic and market practices and has expanded the sphere of private ownership of property in China. However, Chinese markets generally continue to experience inefficiency, volatility and pricing anomalies resulting from governmental influence, a lack of publicly available information and/or political and social instability. Internal social unrest or confrontations with other countries, including military conflicts in response to such events, may also disrupt economic development in China and result in a greater risk of currency fluctuations, currency non-convertibility, interest rate fluctuations and higher rates of inflation.

The Chinese central government has historically exercised substantial control over virtually every sector of the Chinese economy through administrative regulation and/or state ownership or other involvement and actions of the Chinese central and local government authorities continue to have a substantial effect on economic conditions in China. In addition, the Chinese government has from time to time taken actions that influence the prices at which certain goods may be sold, encourage companies to invest or concentrate in particular industries, induce mergers between companies in certain industries and induce private companies to publicly offer their securities to increase or continue the rate of economic growth, control the rate of inflation or otherwise regulate economic expansion. It may do so in the future as well, potentially having a significant adverse effect on economic conditions in China. Economic reform programs in China have contributed to growth, but there is no guarantee that such reforms will continue. Reduced spending on Chinese products and services, which may result in substantial price reductions of goods and services and possible failure of individual companies and/or large segments of China's export industry; institution of additional tariffs or other trade barriers, including as a result of heightened trade tensions between China and the US or other countries; or a downturn in any of the economies of China's key trading partners, may have an adverse impact on the Chinese economy. China has experienced security concerns, such as terrorism and strained international relations. Additionally, China is alleged to have participated in state-sponsored cyberattacks against foreign companies and foreign governments. Actual and threatened responses to such activity, including purchasing restrictions, sanctions, tariffs or cyberattacks on the Chinese government or Chinese companies, may impact China's economy and Chinese issuers of securities.

Events in any one country within Asia may impact other countries in the region as a whole. For example, the actual or potential escalation of hostility between China and Taiwan would likely have a significant adverse impact on the value or liquidity of investments in China. Investments in certain Hong Kong-listed securities may also subject a Portfolio to exposure to Chinese companies. In 1997, the United Kingdom handed over control of Hong Kong to the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). Since Hong Kong reverted to Chinese sovereignty in 1997, it has been governed by the Basic Law, which guarantees a high degree of autonomy for Hong Kong in certain matters until 2047, although defense and foreign affairs are the responsibility of the central government in Beijing. However, as of July 2020, the Chinese Standing Committee of the National People's Congress enacted the law of the PRC on Safeguarding National Security in Hong Kong. As a result, Hong Kong is no longer afforded preferential economic treatment by the United States under US law, and there is uncertainty as to how the economy of Hong Kong will be affected. Additionally, as demonstrated by protests and unrest in Hong Kong in recent years over political, economic, and legal freedoms, and the Chinese government's response to them, political uncertainty continues to exist in Hong Kong, which may have an adverse impact on Hong Kong's economy. Attempts by the government of China to exert greater control over Hong Kong's economic, political or legal structures or its existing social policy, could negatively affect investor confidence in Hong Kong, which in turn could negatively affect markets and business performance.

Investing in Chinese Companies through Variable Interest Entities. The Portfolios may obtain exposure to companies based or operated in China by investing through legal structures known as variable interest entities ("VIEs"). Because of Chinese governmental restrictions on non-Chinese ownership of companies in certain industries in China, certain Chinese companies have used VIEs to facilitate foreign investment without distributing direct ownership of companies based or operated in China. In such cases, the Chinese operating company establishes an offshore company, and the offshore company enters into contractual arrangements with the Chinese company. These contractual arrangements are intended to give the offshore company the ability to exercise power over and obtain economic rights from the Chinese company. Shares of the offshore company, in turn, are listed and traded on

exchanges outside of China and are available to non-Chinese investors, such as the Portfolios. This arrangement allows non-Chinese investors in the offshore company to obtain economic exposure to the Chinese company without direct equity ownership in the Chinese company.

Although VIEs are a longstanding industry practice and well known to officials and regulators in China, VIEs are not formally recognized under Chinese law. There is a risk that China may cease to tolerate VIEs at any time or impose new restrictions on the structure, in each case either generally or with respect to specific industries, sectors or companies. Actions by Chinese authorities could include revoking the business licenses of Chinese operating companies with VIE structures, imposing fines or penalties, confiscating income or assets, nationalizing the Chinese operating company, discontinuing or restricting operations in China, requiring changes to corporate structuring and contractual arrangements, prohibiting the use of proceeds from overseas financing or otherwise taking adverse regulatory or enforcement actions. Investments involving a VIE may also pose additional risks because such investments are made through a company whose interests in the underlying Chinese company are established through contract rather than through equity ownership. For example, in the event of a dispute, the offshore company's contractual claims with respect to the Chinese company may be deemed unenforceable in China, thus limiting (or eliminating) the remedies and rights available to the offshore company and its investors, and a US-listed company may expend substantial resources attempting to enforce the arrangements. There is also uncertainty related to the Chinese taxation of VIEs and the Chinese tax authorities could take positions that result in increased tax liabilities. Such legal uncertainty may also be exploited against the interests of the offshore company and its investors. Further, the interests of the equity owners of the Chinese company may conflict with the interests of the investors of the offshore company, and the fiduciary duties of the officers and directors of the Chinese company may differ from, or conflict with, the fiduciary duties of the officers and directors of the offshore company. The VIE structure generally restricts the Portfolios' ability to influence the Chinese company through proxy voting and other means and may restrict the ability of an issuer to pay dividends to shareholders from the Chinese company's earnings. Additionally, the Chinese government has taken positions that prevent the PCAOB from inspecting the audit work and practices of accounting firms in Mainland China and Hong Kong for compliance with US law and professional standards. Audits performed by PCAOB-registered accounting firms in Mainland China and Hong Kong may be less reliable than those performed by firms subject to PCAOB inspection. Accordingly, information about the Chinese securities in which a Portfolio invests may be less reliable or complete. VIE structures also could face delisting or other ramifications for failure to meet the requirements of the SEC, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board or other United States regulators. If these risks materialize, the value of investments in VIEs could be adversely affected and the Portfolios could incur significant losses with no recourse available.

In December 2021, the China Securities Regulatory Commission ("CSRC") published for consultation the Provisions of the State Council on the Administration of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments) and Administrative Measures for the Filing of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (Draft for Comments) (together, the "Draft Rules"), which, in effect, require Chinese companies pursuing listings outside of Mainland China, including those doing so through the VIE structure, to make a filing with the CSRC. The Draft Rules propose that companies already listed using an existing VIE structure will be grandfathered. Although the Draft Rules acknowledge the VIE structure, they are not an endorsement and there is no guarantee that the Draft Rules will ultimately be enacted in their current form, nor is there a guarantee that the final version of the Draft Rules will not set out more stringent requirements that interfere with the operation of VIE structures by listed Chinese companies.

Stock Connect. Certain Portfolios may invest in eligible renminbi-denominated class A shares of equity securities that are listed and traded on certain Chinese stock exchanges ("China A-Shares") through Hong Kong Stock Connect Program ("Stock Connect"). Trading in China A-Shares through Stock Connect is subject to certain risks, which may change over time. A Portfolio's investment in China A-Shares may only be traded through Stock Connect and is not otherwise transferable. The list of eligible China A-Shares may change from time to time. When a China A-Shares issue is recalled from the scope of securities eligible for trading through Stock Connect, a Portfolio may only sell, but not buy, the securities, which may adversely affect the Portfolio's investment strategy.

While Stock Connect is not subject to individual investment quotas, daily and aggregate investment quotas apply to all Stock Connect participants, which may restrict or preclude a Portfolio's ability to invest in China A-Shares. For example, these quota limitations require that buy orders for China A-Shares be rejected once the remaining balance

of the relevant quota drops to zero or the daily quota is exceeded (although a Portfolio would be permitted to sell China A-Shares regardless of the quota balance). These limitations may restrict a Portfolio from investing in China A-Shares on a timely basis, which could affect the Portfolio's ability to effectively pursue its investment strategy. Investment quotas are also subject to change.

Chinese regulations prohibit over-selling of China A-Shares. If a Portfolio intends to sell China A-Shares it holds, it must transfer those securities to the accounts of the Portfolio's participant broker before the market opens. As a result, the Portfolio may not be able to dispose of its holdings of China A-Shares in a timely manner.

Stock Connect also is generally available only on business days when both the exchange on which China A-Shares are offered and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong are open. Therefore, an investment in China A-Shares through Stock Connect may subject a Portfolio to a risk of price fluctuations on days where the Chinese stock markets are open, but Stock Connect is not operating.

Stock Connect regulations provide that investors, such as a Portfolio, enjoy the rights and benefits of equities purchased through Stock Connect. However, the nominee structure under Stock Connect requires that China A-Shares be held through the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company (the "HKSCC") as nominee on behalf of investors. While a Portfolio's ownership of China A-Shares will be reflected on the books of the custodian's records, a Portfolio will only have beneficial rights in such A-Shares. The precise nature and rights of the Portfolio as the beneficial owner of the SSE equities through the HKSCC as nominee is not well defined under the law of the PRC. Although the China Securities Regulatory Commission has issued guidance indicating that participants in Stock Connect will be able to exercise rights of beneficial owners in the PRC, the exact nature and methods of enforcement of the rights and interests of a Portfolio under PRC law is uncertain. In particular, the courts may consider that the nominee or custodian as registered holder of China A-Shares has full ownership over the securities rather than the Portfolio as the underlying beneficial owner. The HKSCC, as nominee holder, does not guarantee the title to China A-Shares held through it and is under no obligation to enforce title or other rights associated with ownership on behalf of beneficial owners. Consequently, title to these securities, or the rights associated with them, such as participation in corporate actions or shareholder meetings, cannot be assured.

While certain aspects of the Stock Connect trading process are subject to Hong Kong law, PRC rules applicable to share ownership will apply. For defaults by Hong Kong brokers occurring on or after January 1, 2020, the Hong Kong Investor Compensation Fund will cover losses incurred by investors with a cap at HK\$500,000 per investor with respect to securities traded on a stock market operated by the Shanghai Stock Exchange and/or Shenzhen Stock Exchange and in respect of which an order for sale or purchase is permitted to be routed through the northbound link of the Stock Connect. Defaults in respect of transactions using Stock Connect before this date are not subject to the Hong Kong investor compensation fund, which means that a Portfolio will be unable to make monetary claims on the investor compensation fund that it might otherwise be entitled to with respect to investments in Hong Kong securities. Other risks associated with investments in PRC securities apply fully to China A-Shares purchased through Stock Connect.

China A-Shares traded via Stock Connect are subject to various risks associated with the legal and technical framework of Stock Connect. In the event that the relevant systems fail to function properly, trading in China A-Shares through Stock Connect could be disrupted. In the event of high trade volume or unexpected market conditions, Stock Connect may be available only on a limited basis, if at all. Both the PRC and Hong Kong regulators are permitted, independently of each other, to suspend Stock Connect in response to certain market conditions. Since the inception of Stock Connect, foreign investors investing in China A-Shares through Stock Connect have been temporarily exempt from Chinese corporate income tax and value-added tax on the gains on disposal of such China A-Shares. Dividends are subject to Chinese corporate income tax on a withholding basis at 10% unless reduced under a double tax treaty with China upon application to and obtaining approval from the competent tax authority. Additionally, uncertainties in permanent Chinese tax rules governing taxation of income and gains from investments in Stock Connect China A-Shares could result in unexpected tax liabilities for the Portfolio.

Investments in CCMC Securities. On November 12, 2020, the President of the United States issued an Executive Order (the "Order") to prohibit, beginning January 11, 2021, US persons (which includes the Portfolios) from transacting in certain securities and derivatives of publicly traded securities of any of 31 companies designated as a

"Communist Chinese military company" (a "CCMC" and such securities collectively with securities of certain subsidiaries of such companies and related depositary receipts that may be covered by the Order, "CCMC Securities") by the US Department of Defense (the "DOD") or OFAC. In the weeks following the issuance of the Order, the DOD designated an additional 13 companies as CCMCs, bringing the current total to 44 companies designated to date. Also subsequent to issuance of the Order, OFAC extended the effective date of the trading ban several times for publicly-traded securities of companies with a name that "closely matches the name" of a designated CCMC but that have not been designated as CCMC Securities. In addition, US persons also are prohibited from transacting in newly-designated CCMC Securities 60 days after such designation. As clarified by an amendment to the Order dated January 13, 2021, and subsequent guidance from OFAC, US persons may divest their holdings in the 31 initially-designated CCMCs at any time through November 11, 2021 (and have 365 days from date of designation to divest their holdings in other CCMCs).

OFAC subsequently published, on several occasions, guidance regarding compliance with the Order, including several "Frequently Asked Questions" (FAQs)-style publications addressing the scope of, and interpretive matters regarding, compliance with the Order, as well as the Order's application to US funds that hold CCMC Securities (*i.e.*, including mutual funds that hold CCMC Securities regardless of the size of the position relative to a fund's total assets). Certain interpretive issues related to compliance with the Order remain open, including to what extent a US person could be held liable for failing to identify an unlisted entity whose name "close matches the name" of an entity designated as a CCMC.

A Portfolio's holdings in CCMC Securities may adversely impact the Portfolio's performance. The extent of any impact will depend on future developments, including the Portfolio's ability to sell the CCMC Securities, valuation of the CCMC Securities, modifications to the Order, the issuance of additional or different interpretive guidance regarding compliance with the Order, and the duration of the Order, all of which are highly uncertain.

Investing in Russia and other Eastern European Countries. Many formerly communist, eastern European countries have experienced significant political and economic reform over the past decade. However, the democratization process is still relatively new in a number of the smaller states and political turmoil and popular uprisings remain threats. Investments in these countries are particularly subject to political, economic, legal, market and currency risks. The risks include uncertain political and economic policies and the risk of nationalization or expropriation of assets, short-term market volatility, poor accounting standards, corruption and crime, an inadequate regulatory system, unpredictable taxation and the imposition of capital controls and/or foreign investment limitations by a country and the imposition of sanctions on an Eastern European country by other countries, such as the US. Adverse currency exchange rates are a risk and there is a lack of available currency hedging instruments.

These securities markets, as compared to US markets, have significant price volatility, less liquidity, a smaller market capitalization and a smaller number of exchange-traded securities. A limited volume of trading may result in difficulty in obtaining accurate prices and trading. There is little publicly available information about issuers. Settlement, clearing and registration of securities transactions are subject to risks because of insufficient registration systems that may not be subject to effective government supervision. This may result in significant delays or problems in registering the transfer of shares. It is possible that a Portfolio's ownership rights could be lost through fraud or negligence. While applicable regulations may impose liability on registrars for losses resulting from their errors, it may be difficult for a Portfolio to enforce any rights it may have against the registrar or issuer of the securities in the event of loss of share registration.

Political risk in Russia remains high, and steps that Russia may take to assert its geopolitical influence may increase the tensions in the region and affect economic growth. Russia's economy is heavily dependent on exportation of natural resources, which may be vulnerable to economic sanctions by other countries during times of political tension or crisis. In response to political and military actions undertaken by Russia, the United States and certain other countries, as well as the EU, have instituted economic sanctions against certain Russian individuals and companies. In particular, following Russia's invasion of Ukraine, on February 24, 2022, the US began to issue new economic sanctions against Russia and Belarus and many of the US's European allies followed with similar sanctions, expanding and adding to sanctions that had already been in place. The political and economic situation in Russia, and the current and any future sanctions or other government actions against Russia, may result in the decline in the value and liquidity of Russian securities, devaluation of Russian currency, a downgrade in Russia's

credit rating, the inability to freely trade sanctioned companies (either due to the sanctions imposed or related operational issues) and/or other adverse consequences to the Russian economy, any of which could negatively impact a Portfolio's investments in Russian securities. Sanctions could result in the immediate freeze of Russian securities, impairing the ability of a Portfolio to buy, sell, receive or deliver those securities. Sanctions and other measures have resulted in defaults on debt obligations by some corporate issuers and the Russian Federation, which could lead to cross-defaults of other obligations of these issuers or could impact credit default swaps relating to the Russian Federation. Sanctions may restrict a Portfolio's ability to participate in any resulting credit default swap auction or physical settlement process. Both the current and potential future sanctions or other government actions against Russia also could result in Russia taking counter measures or retaliatory actions, which may impair further the value or liquidity of Russian securities and negatively impact a Portfolio. Additionally, disruptions caused by Russian military action or other actions (including cyberattacks and espionage) or resulting actual and threatened responses to such activities, including purchasing and financing restrictions, boycotts or changes in consumer or purchaser preferences, sanctions, tariffs or cyberattacks on the Russian government, companies or individuals, including politicians, may impact Russia's economy and Russian issuers of securities in which a Portfolio invests. Any or all of these potential results could lead Russia's economy into a recession.

Investing in Central and South America. Securities markets in Central and South American countries may experience greater volatility than in other emerging countries. In addition, a number of Central and South American countries are among the largest emerging country debtors. There have been moratoria on, and reschedulings of, repayment with respect to these debts. Such events can restrict the flexibility of these debtor nations in the international markets and result in the imposition of onerous conditions on their economies.

Many of the currencies of Central and South American countries have experienced steady devaluation relative to the US dollar, and major devaluations have historically occurred in certain countries. Any devaluations in the currencies in which a Portfolio's portfolio securities are denominated may have a detrimental impact on the Portfolio. There is also a risk that certain Central and South American countries may restrict the free conversion of their currencies into other currencies. Some Central and South American countries may have managed currencies which are not free floating against the US dollar. This type of system can lead to sudden and large adjustments in the currency that, in turn, can have a disruptive and negative effect on foreign investors. Certain Central and South American currencies may not be internationally traded and it would be difficult for a Portfolio to engage in foreign currency transactions designed to protect the value of the Portfolio's interests in securities denominated in such currencies.

The emergence of the Central and South American economies and securities markets will require continued economic and fiscal discipline that has been lacking at times in the past, as well as stable political and social conditions. Governments of many Central and South American countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector. The political history of certain Central and South American countries has been characterized by political uncertainty, intervention by the military in civilian and economic spheres and political corruption. Such developments, if they were to recur, could reverse favorable trends toward market and economic reform, privatization and removal of trade barriers.

International economic conditions, particularly those in the US, as well as world prices for oil and other commodities may also influence the recovery of the Central and South American economies. Because commodities such as oil, gas, minerals and metals represent a significant percentage of the region's exports, the economies of Central and South American countries are particularly sensitive to fluctuations in commodity prices. As a result, the economies in many of these countries can experience significant volatility.

Certain Central and South American countries have entered into regional trade agreements that would, among other things, reduce barriers among countries, increase competition among companies and reduce government subsidies in certain industries. No assurance can be given that these changes will result in the economic stability intended. There is a possibility that these trade arrangements will not be implemented, will be implemented but not completed or will be completed but then partially or completely unwound. It is also possible that a significant participant could choose to abandon a trade agreement, which could diminish its credibility and influence. Any of these occurrences could have adverse effects on the markets of both participating and non-participating countries, including share appreciation or depreciation of participant's national currencies and a significant increase in exchange rate volatility, a resurgence in economic protectionism, an undermining of confidence in the Central and South American markets,

an undermining of Central and South American economic stability, the collapse or slowdown of the drive toward Central and South American economic unity, and/or reversion of the attempts to lower government debt and inflation rates that were introduced in anticipation of such trade agreements. Such developments could have an adverse impact on a Portfolio's investments in Central and South America generally or in specific countries participating in such trade agreements.

Investing in the Middle East. The aftermath of the war in Iraq, instability and armed conflict in Afghanistan, Egypt, Israel, Libya, Pakistan, Syria and other countries in the Middle East may result in market volatility in those countries, may have long-term effects on worldwide financial markets and may cause further economic uncertainties worldwide. The wars and occupation, terrorism and related geopolitical risks have led to increased market volatility and may have adverse long-term effects on economies and markets located in the region and on world economies and markets generally. These events also could have a material adverse effect on individual issuers or related groups of issuers located in or doing substantial business with countries in the Middle East and also could adversely affect securities markets, interest rates, liquidity, credit risk, inflation, deflation and other factors affecting a Portfolio's investments in the Middle East.

<u>Depositary Receipts</u>. Securities of foreign issuers in the form of American Depositary Receipts and American Depositary Shares (collectively, "ADRs"), European Depositary Receipts and European Depositary Shares (collectively, "GDRs") and other forms of depositary receipts may not necessarily be denominated in the same currency as the securities into which they may be converted. ADRs are receipts typically issued by a United States bank or trust company which evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a foreign corporation. EDRs are receipts issued in Europe, and GDRs are receipts issued outside the United States, typically by non-United States banks and trust companies, that evidence ownership of either foreign or domestic securities. Generally, ADRs in registered form are designed for use in the US securities markets, EDRs in bearer form are designed for use outside the United States.

Depositary receipts may be purchased through "sponsored" or "unsponsored" facilities. A sponsored facility is established jointly by the issuer of the underlying security and a depositary. A depositary may establish an unsponsored facility without participation by the issuer of the deposited security. Holders of unsponsored depositary receipts generally bear all the costs of such facilities, and the depositary of an unsponsored facility frequently is under no obligation to distribute shareholder communications received from the issuer of the deposited security or to pass through voting rights to the holders of such receipts in respect of the deposited securities.

Securities of foreign issuers that are represented by ADRs or that are listed on a US securities exchange or traded in the US over-the-counter markets are not subject to many of the considerations and risks discussed in the Prospectus and this SAI that apply to foreign securities traded and held abroad. A US dollar investment in ADRs or shares of foreign issuers traded on US exchanges may be impacted differently by currency fluctuations than would an investment made in a foreign currency on a foreign exchange in shares of the same issuer.

Sukuk. Foreign securities and emerging market securities include sukuk. Sukuk are certificates, similar to bonds, issued by the issuer to obtain an upfront payment in exchange for an income stream. Sukuks are also known as Islamic financial certificates that are designed to comply with Islamic religious law commonly known as Sharia. Such income stream may or may not be linked to a tangible asset. For sukuk that are not linked to a tangible asset, the sukuk represents a contractual payment obligation of the issuer or issuing vehicle to pay income or periodic payments to the investor, and such contractual payment obligation is linked to the issuer or issuing vehicle and not from interest on the investor's money for the sukuk. For sukuk linked to a tangible asset, a Portfolio will not have a direct interest in the underlying asset or pool of assets. The issuer also makes a contractual promise to buy back the certificate at a future date at par value. Even when the certificate is linked to the returns generated by certain assets of the issuer, the underlying assets are not pledged as security for the certificates, and a Portfolio (as the investor) is relying on the creditworthiness of the issuer for all payments required by the sukuk. The issuer may be a special purpose vehicle with no other assets. Investors do not have direct legal ownership of any underlying assets. In the event of default, the process may take longer to resolve than conventional bonds. Changing interpretations of Islamic law by courts or prominent scholars may affect the free transferability of sukuk in ways that cannot now be

foreseen. In such an event, a Portfolio may be required to hold its sukuk for longer than intended, even if their condition is deteriorating.

Issuers of sukuk may include international financial institutions, foreign governments and agencies of foreign governments. Underlying assets may include, without limitation, real estate (developed and undeveloped), lease contracts and machinery and equipment. Although the sukuk market has grown significantly in recent years, there may be times when the market is illiquid and where it is difficult for a Portfolio to make an investment in or dispose of sukuk at the Portfolio's desired time. Furthermore, the global sukuk market is significantly smaller than conventional bond markets, and restrictions imposed by the Shariah board of the issuing entity may limit the number of investors who are interested in investing in particular sukuk. The unique characteristics of sukuk may lead to uncertainties regarding their tax treatment within a Portfolio.

A Portfolio's ability to pursue and enforce actions with respect to these payment obligations or to otherwise enforce the terms of the sukuk, restructure the sukuk, obtain a judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction, and/or attach assets of the obligor may be limited. Sukuk are also subject to the risks associated with developing and emerging market economies, which include, among others, the risk of sanctions and inconsistent accounting and legal principles.

<u>Investments in Specific Market Sectors</u>

Real Estate, Including REITs. Risks of investing in real estate include: declines in the value of real estate; adverse general, regional or local economic conditions; overbuilding and increased competition; increases in property taxes and operating expenses; changes in zoning laws; casualty or condemnation losses; variations in rental income, neighborhood values or the appeal of properties to tenants; and changes in interest rates. Real estate-related companies also may be subject to liabilities under environmental and hazardous waste laws, which could negatively affect their value. Property values may fall due to increasing vacancies or declining rents resulting from economic, legal, cultural or technological developments. The price of real estate investments also may drop because of the failure of borrowers to pay their loans and poor management. Real estate-related companies may be affected by a high level of continuing capital expenditures, competition or increases in operating costs, which may not be offset by increases in revenues. The value and successful operation of certain types of commercial properties may be affected by a number of factors, such as the location of the property, the knowledge and experience of the management team, the level of mortgage rates, presence of competing properties and adverse economic conditions in the locale. Many real estate-related companies use leverage, which increases investment risk and could adversely affect a company's operations and market value in periods of rising interest rates as well as risks normally associated with debt financing, including financial covenants associated with the financing that may affect the ability the company ability to operate effectively. Real estate-related companies may be adversely affected by a lack of available financing or tightening of credit.

Certain companies may carry comprehensive liability, fire, flood, earthquake, extended coverage and rental loss insurance with various policy specifications, limits and deductibles, but uninsured losses would affect profits, cash flows and performance.

REITs. A REIT is a corporation, or a business trust that would otherwise be taxed as a corporation, which meets the definitional requirements of the Code. The Code permits a qualifying REIT to deduct dividends paid, thereby effectively eliminating corporate level federal income tax and making the REIT a pass-through vehicle for federal income tax purposes. To meet the definitional requirements of the Code, a REIT must, among other things, invest substantially all of its assets in interests in real estate (including mortgages and other REITs) or cash and government securities, derive most of its income from rents from real property or interest on loans secured by mortgages on real property, and distribute to shareholders annually a substantial portion of its otherwise taxable income.

REITs are characterized as equity REITs, mortgage REITs and hybrid REITs. Equity REITs, which may include operating or finance companies, own real estate directly and the value of, and income earned by, the REITs depends upon the income of the underlying properties and the rental income they earn. Equity REITs also can realize capital gains (or losses) by selling properties that have appreciated (or depreciated) in value. Mortgage REITs can hold residual interests in real estate mortgage investment conduits ("REMIC") interests and can hold or make

construction, development or long-term mortgage loans and are sensitive to the credit quality of the borrower. Mortgage REITs derive their income from interest payments on such loans or REMIC interests. Hybrid REITs combine the characteristics of both equity and mortgage REITs, generally by holding both ownership interests and mortgage interests in real estate. The values of securities issued by REITs are affected by tax and regulatory requirements and by perceptions of management skill. They also are subject to heavy cash flow dependency, defaults by borrowers or tenants, self-liquidation and the possibility of failing to qualify for tax-free status under the Code or to maintain exemption from the 1940 Act. A Portfolio will indirectly bear its proportionate share of expenses, including management fees, paid by each REIT in which it invests in addition to the expenses of a Portfolio.

A Portfolio's investments in REITs may be adversely affected by deteriorations of the real estate rental market, in the case of REITs that primarily own real estate, or by deteriorations in the creditworthiness of property owners and changes in interest rates in the case of REITs that primarily hold mortgages. Equity and mortgage REITs also are dependent upon specialized management skills, may not be diversified in their holdings and are subject to the risks of financing projects. REITs also may be subject to heavy cash flow dependency, defaults by borrowers and self-liquidation.

REITs are subject to a highly technical and complex set of provisions in the Code. A Portfolio might invest in a real estate company that purports to be a REIT and then the company unexpectedly could fail to qualify as a REIT. In the event of any such failure to qualify as a REIT which is not cured in accordance with applicable savings provisions in the Code, the company would be subject to corporate-level taxation, significantly reducing the return to a Portfolio on the Portfolio's investment in such company. REITs could possibly fail to qualify for tax-free pass-through of income under the Code, or to maintain their exemptions from registration under the 1940 Act. The above enumerated risks may also adversely affect a borrower's or a lessee's ability to meet its obligations to the REIT. If a REIT's borrowers or lessees default, the REIT may experience delays in enforcing its rights as a mortgagee or lessor and may incur substantial costs associated with protecting its investments.

Information Technology. Information technology companies generally operate in intensely competitive markets on a worldwide basis. This level of competition can put pressure on the prices of their products and services which could adversely affect their profitability. Also, because technological development in many areas increases at a rapid rate, these companies often produce products with very short life cycles and face the risk of product obsolescence. Other risks include worldwide competition, changes in consumer preferences, problems with product compatibility, the effects of economic slowdowns, and changes in government regulation. The securities of companies in the technology sector may experience more price volatility than securities of companies in other sectors.

<u>Financials</u>. Financial institutions may be particularly sensitive to certain economic factors such as interest rate changes, adverse developments in the real estate market, fiscal and monetary policy and general economic cycles. Adverse developments in banking and other financial industries may cause a Portfolio to underperform relative to other funds that invest more broadly across different industries or have a smaller exposure to financial institutions. In March 2023, the shut-down of certain financial institutions raised economic concerns over disruption in the US banking system. Other adverse developments that affect financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, may reduce liquidity in the market generally or have other adverse effects on the economy. In addition, a Portfolio may not be able to identify all potential solvency or stress concerns with respect to a financial institution or to transfer assets from one bank or financial institution to another in a timely manner in the event such bank or financial institution comes under stress or fails. Changes in governmental regulation and oversight of financial institutions may have an adverse effect on the financial condition or the earnings or operations of a financial institution and on the types and amounts of businesses in which a financial institution may engage. A Portfolio may be delayed or prevented from exercising certain remedies against a financial institution. The amount of a Portfolio's assets that may be invested in any financial institution, or financial institutions generally, may be limited by applicable law.

<u>Consumer Discretionary</u>. The value of companies in the consumer discretionary sector, which manufacture products and provide discretionary services directly to consumers, is tied closely to the performance of the overall US and international economies, interest rates, currency exchange rates and consumer confidence. Success depends heavily on disposable household income and consumer spending. As a result, the consumer discretionary sector

encompasses those companies that tend to be the most sensitive to economic cycles. Also, companies in the consumer discretionary sector may be subject to severe competition, which may have an adverse impact on profitability. Changes in demographics, social trends and consumer preferences also can affect the demand for, and success of, consumer discretionary products in the marketplace.

<u>Health Care</u>. Companies in the health care sector can be significantly affected by the adverse impact of legislative actions and government regulations. These actions and regulations can affect the approval process for patents, medical devices and drugs, the funding of research and medical care programs, and the operation and licensing of facilities and personnel.

<u>Industrials</u>. Companies in the industrials sector are subject to certain risks, including changes in supply and demand for their specific product or service and for industrial sector products in general, including decline in demand for such products due to rapid technological developments and frequent new product introduction. Performance of such companies may be affected by factors including government regulation, trade disputes, world events and economic conditions. The industrials sector may also be adversely affected by changes or trends in commodity prices, which may be influenced by unpredictable factors or liability for environmental damage and product liability claims. For example, commodity price declines and unit volume reductions resulting from an over-supply of materials used in the industrials sector can adversely affect the sector. Furthermore, companies in the industrials sector may be subject to liability for environmental damage, product liability claims, depletion of resources, and mandated expenditures for safety and pollution control.

Investment Companies, Including Exchange-Traded Funds

Under the 1940 Act, a Portfolio's investment in securities issued by other investment companies, including exchange-traded funds ("ETFs") subject to certain exceptions, currently is limited to (1) 3% of the total voting stock of any one investment company, (2) 5% of the Portfolio's total assets with respect to any one investment company and (3) 10% of the Portfolio's total assets in the aggregate (such limits do not apply to investments in money market funds). Exemptions in the 1940 Act or the rules thereunder may allow a Portfolio to invest in another investment company in excess of these limits. In particular, Rule 12d1-4 under the 1940 Act allows the Portfolio to acquire the securities of another investment company, including ETFs, in excess of the limitations imposed by Section 12 of the 1940 Act, subject to certain limitations and conditions on the Portfolios and the Investment Manager, including limits on control and voting of acquired funds' shares, evaluations and findings by the Investment Manager and limits on most three-tier fund structures.

In addition to the management fees the Portfolios bear directly in connection with their own operation, a Portfolio will also bear its pro rata portion of the advisory and operational expenses incurred indirectly through its investments in other investment companies.

Exchange-Traded Funds. Investments in investment companies may include shares of ETFs, generally those that are designed to provide investment results generally corresponding to a securities index. ETFs usually are units of beneficial interest in an investment trust or represent undivided ownership interests in a portfolio of securities, in each case with respect to a portfolio of all or substantially all of the component securities of, and in substantially the same weighting as, the relevant benchmark index. ETF shares are listed on an exchange and trade in the secondary market on a per-share basis. At times, the market price may be at a premium or discount to the ETF's per share NAV. In addition, ETFs are subject to the risk that an active trading market for an ETF's shares may not develop or be maintained. Because shares of ETFs trade on an exchange, they may be subject to trading halts on the exchange. Trading of an ETF's shares may be halted if the listing exchange's officials deem such action appropriate, the shares are de-listed from the exchange, or market-wide "circuit breakers" (which are tied to large decreases in stock prices) halt stock trading generally.

The values of ETFs' shares are subject to change as the values of their respective component securities fluctuate according to market volatility (although, as noted above, the market price of an ETF's shares may be at a premium or discount to the ETF's per share NAV). Investments in ETFs that are designed to correspond to an equity index, for example, involve certain inherent risks generally associated with investments in a broadly based portfolio of common stocks, including the risk that the general level of stock prices may decline, thereby adversely affecting the value of ETFs invested in by a Portfolio. Moreover, a Portfolio's investments in ETFs may not exactly match the

performance of a direct investment in the respective indices to which they are intended to correspond due to the temporary unavailability of certain index securities in the secondary market or other extraordinary circumstances, such as discrepancies with respect to the weighting of securities.

Illiquid Securities

Each Portfolio may invest up to 15% of the value of its net assets in illiquid securities, provided such investments are consistent with the Portfolio's investment objective. These securities, which are securities that a Portfolio reasonably expects to be unable to sell or dispose of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the securities, may include securities that are not readily marketable, such as securities that are subject to legal or contractual restrictions on resale (such as private placements and certain restricted securities), repurchase agreements providing for settlement in more than seven days after notice, certain mortgage-related securities, and certain privately negotiated and non-exchange traded derivatives. Illiquid securities may be difficult to value accurately, and a Portfolio is subject to the risk that should the Portfolio desire to sell them when a ready buyer is not available at a price that is deemed to be representative of their value, the value of the Portfolio's net assets could be adversely affected.

Money Market Instruments; Temporary Defensive Positions

When the Investment Manager determines that adverse market conditions exist, a Portfolio may adopt a temporary defensive position and invest some or all of its assets in money market instruments, including shares of money market mutual funds, US government securities, repurchase agreements, bank obligations and commercial paper and other short-term obligations ("Money Market Instruments"). Each Portfolio also may purchase Money Market Instruments when it has cash reserves or in anticipation of taking a market position, and certain Portfolios may invest in Money Market Instruments as part of their investment strategies as described in the Prospectus.

Repurchase Agreements. Repurchase agreements are transactions by which a Portfolio purchases a security and simultaneously commits to resell that security to the seller at a mutually agreed upon time and price. The repurchase price may be higher than the purchase price, the difference being income to a Portfolio, or the purchase and repurchase prices may be the same, with interest at a stated rate due to a Portfolio together with the repurchase price on repurchase. In either case, the income to a Portfolio is unrelated to the interest rate on the security itself. The Portfolios will generally enter into repurchase agreements of short durations, from overnight to one week, although the underlying securities generally have longer maturities. Repurchase agreements carry the risk that the market value of the securities declines below the repurchase price. A Portfolio could also lose money if it is unable to recover the securities and the value of any collateral held is less than the value of the securities. In the event the borrower commences bankruptcy proceedings, a court may characterize the transaction as a loan. If a Portfolio has not perfected a security interest in the underlying collateral, the Portfolio may be required to return the underlying collateral to the borrower's estate and be treated as an unsecured creditor. As an unsecured creditor, the Portfolio could lose some or all of the principal and interest involved in the transaction. The use of reverse repurchase agreements may increase the possibility of fluctuation in a Portfolio's net asset value.

Bank Obligations. Bank obligations in which the Portfolios may invest consist of certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and time deposits issued by national banks and state banks, trust companies and mutual savings banks, or by banks or institutions, the accounts of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Savings Association Insurance Fund. Certificates of deposit are negotiable certificates evidencing the indebtedness of a commercial bank to repay funds deposited with it for a definite period of time (usually from 14 days to one year) at a stated or variable interest rate. Banker's acceptances are credit instruments evidencing the obligation of a bank to pay a draft which has been drawn on it by a customer, which instruments reflect the obligation both of the bank and of the drawer to pay the face amount of the instrument upon maturity. Time deposits are non-negotiable deposits maintained in a banking institution for a specified period of time at a stated interest rate.

Foreign Banking Obligations. Obligations of foreign branches and foreign subsidiaries of domestic banks, and domestic and foreign branches of foreign banks may be general obligations of the parent banks in addition to the issuing branch, or may be limited by the terms of a specific obligation and governmental regulation. Such obligations are subject to different risks than are those of domestic banks. These risks include foreign economic and political developments, foreign governmental restrictions that may adversely affect payment of principal and interest

on the obligations, foreign exchange controls, seizure of assets, declaration of a moratorium and foreign withholding and other taxes on interest income. Foreign branches and subsidiaries are not necessarily subject to the same or similar regulatory requirements that apply to domestic banks, such as mandatory reserve requirements, loan limitations, and accounting, auditing and financial recordkeeping requirements. In addition, less information may be publicly available about a foreign branch of a domestic bank or about a foreign bank than about a domestic bank.

Obligations of US branches of foreign banks may be general obligations of the parent bank in addition to the issuing branch, or may be limited by the terms of a specific obligation or by federal or state regulation as well as governmental action in the country in which the foreign bank has its head office. A domestic branch of a foreign bank with assets in excess of \$1 billion may or may not be subject to reserve requirements imposed by the Federal Reserve System or by the state in which the branch is located if the branch is licensed in that state. In addition, federal branches licensed by the Comptroller of the Currency and branches licensed by certain states may be required to: (1) pledge to the regulator, by depositing assets with a designated bank within the state, a certain percentage of their assets as fixed from time to time by the appropriate regulatory authority; and (2) maintain assets within the state in an amount equal to a specified percentage of the aggregate amount of liabilities of the foreign bank payable at or through all of its agencies or branches within the state.

Commercial Paper. Commercial paper consists of short-term (usually from one to 270 days) unsecured promissory notes issued by corporations in order to finance their current operations. Certain notes may have floating or variable rates. Variable and floating rate notes with a demand notice period exceeding seven days will be subject to a Portfolio's policy with respect to illiquid investments unless, in the judgment of the Trust, such note is considered to be liquid.

Borrowing Money

Each Portfolio may borrow to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act (except as provided below), which permits an investment company to borrow in an amount up to 33½% of the value of its total assets (including the amount borrowed) valued at the lesser of cost or market, less liabilities (including the amount borrowed) at the time the borrowing is made. Such borrowings are generally limited to borrowing from banks for temporary purposes, including the meeting of redemption requests which might require the untimely disposition of securities. While such borrowings exceed 5% of a Portfolio's total assets, the Portfolio will not make any additional investments. If borrowings exceed 33½% of the value of a Portfolio's total assets as a result of a change in values or assets, the Portfolio must take steps to reduce such borrowings at least to the extent of such excess within three days (not including Sundays and holidays).

In addition, each Portfolio may borrow for investment purposes to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act. Money borrowed will be subject to interest costs. See "Borrowing Money for Leverage" below.

Borrowing Money for Leverage. Buying securities using borrowed money exaggerates the effect on net asset value of any increase or decrease in the market value of the Portfolio's investment. Money borrowed for leveraging is limited to 331/4% of the value of the Portfolio's total assets. Interest costs may or may not be recovered by appreciation of the securities purchased; in certain cases, interest costs may exceed the return received on the securities purchased. For borrowings for investment purposes, the 1940 Act requires the Portfolio to maintain continuous asset coverage (total assets including borrowings, less liabilities exclusive of borrowings) of 300% of the amount borrowed. If the required coverage should decline as a result of market fluctuations or other reasons, the Portfolio may be required to sell some of its portfolio holdings within three days to reduce the amount of its borrowings and restore the 300% asset coverage, even though it may be disadvantageous from an investment standpoint to sell securities at that time. The Portfolio also may be required to maintain minimum average balances in connection with such borrowing or pay a commitment or other fee to maintain a line of credit; either of these requirements would increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements. Reverse repurchase agreements may be entered into with banks, broker/dealers or other financial institutions. This form of borrowing involves the transfer by a Portfolio of an underlying debt instrument in return for cash proceeds based on a percentage of the value of the security. The Portfolio retains the right to receive interest and principal payments on the security. As a result of these transactions, the Portfolio is exposed to greater potential fluctuation in the value of its assets and its net asset value per share. At an agreed upon

future date, the Portfolio repurchases the security at principal plus accrued interest. Except for these transactions, a Portfolio's borrowings generally will be unsecured. If the income earned from the investment of proceeds of the transaction does not exceed the interest expense of the transaction, the use of this technique will diminish the investment performance of the Portfolio. Reverse repurchase agreements also involve the risk that the market value of the securities retained in lieu of sale by a Portfolio may decline below the price of the securities or other assets the Trust has sold but is obligated to repurchase. Reverse repurchase agreements involve the risk that the buyer of the securities sold by a Portfolio might be unable to deliver them when that fund seeks to repurchase. If the buyer of securities under a reverse repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, the buyer or trustee or receiver may receive an extension of time to determine whether to enforce a Portfolio's obligation to repurchase the securities, and the Portfolio's use of the proceeds of the reverse repurchase agreement may effectively be restricted pending such decision. A counterparty insolvency may result in a delay in the recovery of the securities sold by the Portfolio, which may result in a loss to the extent that the value of the purchased securities decreases during the delay.

Under the SEC's rule related to the use of derivatives, reverse repurchase agreements and certain other transactions by registered investment companies, when a fund trades reverse repurchase agreements or similar financing transactions, it needs to aggregate the amount of indebtedness associated with such transactions with the aggregate amount of other senior securities representing indebtedness when calculating the fund's asset coverage ratio or treat all such transactions as derivatives transactions. (See "Derivatives" below.)

In December 2023, the SEC adopted rule amendments providing that any covered clearing agency ("CCA") for US Treasury securities require that every direct participant of the CCA (which generally would be a bank or broker-dealer) submit for clearance and settlement all eligible secondary market transactions in US Treasury securities to which it is a counterparty. The clearing mandate includes in its scope all repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements of such direct participants collateralized by US Treasury securities (collectively, "Treasury repo transactions") of a type accepted for clearing by a registered CCA, including both bilateral Treasury repo transactions and triparty Treasury repo transactions where a bank agent provides custody, collateral management and settlement services.

The Treasury repo transactions of registered funds with any direct participants of a CCA will be subject to the mandatory clearing requirement. Currently, the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation ("FICC") is the only CCA for US Treasury securities. FICC currently operates a "Sponsored Program" for clearing of Treasury repo transactions pursuant to which a registered fund may enter into a clearing arrangement with a "sponsoring member" bank or broker-dealer that is a direct participant of FICC as a "sponsored member" of FICC.

Compliance with the clearing mandate for Treasury repo transactions is scheduled to be required by June 30, 2026. The clearing mandate is expected to result in each Portfolio being required to clear all or substantially all of its Treasury repo transactions as of the compliance date, and may necessitate expenditures by each Portfolio that trades in Treasury repo transactions in connection with entering into new agreements with sponsoring members and taking other actions to comply with the new requirements. The Investment Manager will monitor developments in the Treasury repo transactions market as the implementation period progresses.

Lending Portfolio Securities

Portfolio securities may be lent to brokers, dealers and other financial institutions needing to borrow securities to complete certain transactions. In connection with such loans, the Portfolio remains the owner of the loaned securities and continues to be entitled to payments in amounts equal to the interest, dividends or other distributions payable on the loaned securities. The Portfolio also has the right to terminate a loan at any time. The Portfolio may call the loan to vote proxies if a material issue affecting the Portfolio's investment is to be voted upon. Loans of portfolio securities may not exceed 331/3% of the value of the Portfolio's total assets. The Portfolio will receive collateral consisting of cash, US government securities or irrevocable letters of credit which will be maintained at all times in an amount equal to at least 100% of the current market value of the loaned securities. If the collateral consists of a letter of credit or securities, the borrower will pay the Portfolio a loan premium fee. If the collateral consists of cash, the Portfolio will reinvest the cash and pay the borrower a pre-negotiated fee or "rebate" from any return earned on the investment. Should the borrower of the securities fail financially, the Portfolio may experience delays in recovering the loaned securities or exercising its rights in the collateral. Loans are made only to borrowers

that are deemed by the Investment Manager to be of good financial standing. In a loan transaction, the Portfolio will also bear the risk of any decline in value of securities acquired with cash collateral.

Derivatives

Derivatives, such as options, futures contracts, options on futures contracts and swap agreements, may be entered into for a variety of reasons, including to hedge certain market risks, to provide a substitute for purchasing or selling particular securities or to increase potential income gain. Derivatives may provide a less expensive, quicker or more specifically focused way for the Portfolio to invest than "traditional" securities would.

Derivatives can be volatile and involve various types and degrees of risk, depending upon the characteristics of the particular derivative and the portfolio as a whole. Derivatives permit a Portfolio to increase or decrease the level of risk, or change the character of the risk, to which its portfolio is exposed in much the same way as the Portfolio can increase or decrease the level of risk, or change the character of the risk, of its portfolio by making investments in specific securities. However, derivatives may entail investment exposures that are greater than their cost would suggest, meaning that a small investment in derivatives could have a large potential impact on a Portfolio's performance. As a result, derivatives may increase volatility, reduce returns, limit gains or magnify losses, perhaps substantially.

If a Portfolio invests in derivatives at inopportune times or judges market conditions incorrectly, such investments may lower the Portfolio's return or result in a loss. A Portfolio also could experience losses if its derivatives were poorly correlated with its other investments, or if the Portfolio were unable to liquidate its position because of an illiquid secondary market. The market for many derivatives is, or suddenly can become, illiquid. Changes in liquidity may result in significant, rapid and unpredictable changes in the prices for derivatives. When a Portfolio enters into derivatives transactions, it may be required to post margin and make settlement payments while the positions are open, and the Portfolio may have to sell a security at a disadvantageous time or price to meet such obligations.

Each Portfolio is operated by the Investment Manager in reliance on an exclusion, granted to operators of registered investment companies such as the Portfolios, from registration as a "commodity pool operator" ("CPO"), with respect to the Portfolio, under the Commodity Exchange Act (the "CEA") and, therefore, is not subject to registration or regulation as a CPO under the CEA. The Portfolios may be limited in their ability to use commodity futures or options thereon, engage in certain swap transactions or make certain other investments (collectively, "commodity interests") if the Investment Manager continues to claim the exclusion from the definition of CPO with respect to such Portfolios. In order for the Investment Manager to be eligible to continue to claim this exclusion, if a Portfolio uses commodity interests other than for bona fide hedging purposes (as defined by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC")), the aggregate initial margin and premiums required to establish those positions (after taking into account unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such positions and excluding the amount by which options are "in-the-money" at the time of purchase) may not exceed 5% of the Portfolio's NAV, or, alternatively, the aggregate net notional value of those positions, as determined at the time the most recent position was established, may not exceed 100% of the Portfolio's NAV (after taking into account unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such positions). In addition to meeting one of the foregoing trading limitations, a Portfolio may not market itself as a commodity pool or otherwise as a vehicle for trading in the commodity futures, commodity options or swaps markets. Even if a Portfolio's direct use of commodity interests complies with the trading limitations described above, the Portfolio may have indirect exposure to commodity interests in excess of such limitations. Such exposure may result from the Portfolio's investment in other investment vehicles, including investment companies that are not managed by the Investment Manager or one of its affiliates, certain securitized vehicles that may invest in commodity interests and/or non-equity REITs that may invest in commodity interests (collectively, "underlying funds"). Because the Investment Manager may have limited or no information as to the commodity interests in which an underlying fund invests at any given time, the CFTC has issued temporary noaction relief permitting registered investment companies, such as the Portfolios, to continue to rely on the exclusion from the definition of CPO. The Investment Manager, on behalf of the relevant Portfolios, has filed the required notice to claim this no-action relief. In order to rely on the temporary no-action relief, the Investment Manager must meet certain conditions and the Portfolios must otherwise comply with the trading and market limitations described above with respect to their direct investments in commodity interests.

If a Portfolio were to invest in commodity interests in excess of the trading limitations discussed above and/or market itself as a vehicle for trading in the commodity futures, commodity options or swaps markets, the Investment Manager would withdraw its exclusion from the definition of CPO with respect to the Portfolio and the Investment Manager would become subject to regulation as a CPO, and would need to comply with the Harmonization Rules, with respect to that Portfolio, in addition to all applicable SEC regulations.

Derivatives may be purchased on established exchanges or through privately negotiated transactions referred to as over-the-counter derivatives. Exchange-traded derivatives generally are guaranteed by the clearing agency which is the issuer or counterparty to such derivatives. This guarantee usually is supported by a daily variation margin system operated by the clearing agency in order to reduce overall credit risk. As a result, unless the clearing agency defaults, there is relatively little counterparty credit risk associated with derivatives purchased on an exchange. In contrast, no clearing agency guarantees over-the-counter derivatives. Therefore, each party to an over-the-counter derivative bears the risks of the creditworthiness of and default by the counterparty and consequently may lose all or a portion of their value due solely to the creditworthiness of or default by the counterparty. Accordingly, the Investment Manager will consider the creditworthiness of counterparties to over-the-counter derivatives in the same manner as it would review the credit quality of a security to be purchased by the Portfolio. Over-the-counter derivatives are less liquid than exchange-traded derivatives and may difficult to value since the other party to the transaction may be the only investor with sufficient understanding of the derivative to be interested in bidding for it.

Successful use of derivatives by a Portfolio also is subject to the Investment Manager's ability to predict correctly movements in the direction of the relevant market and to the extent the transaction is entered into for hedging purposes, to ascertain the appropriate correlation between the transaction being hedged and the price movements of the derivatives transaction. For example, if a Portfolio uses futures to hedge against the possibility of a decline in the market value of securities held in its portfolio and the prices of such securities instead increase, the Portfolio will lose part or all of the benefit of the increased value of securities which it has hedged because it will have offsetting losses in its futures positions. Use of derivatives transactions, even if entered into for hedging purposes, may cause the Portfolio to experience losses greater than if the Portfolio had not engaged in such transactions.

Derivatives transactions also are subject to operational risk, including from documentation issues, settlement issues, systems failures, inadequate controls, and human error, and legal risk, including risk of insufficient documentation, insufficient capacity or authority of counterparty, or legality or enforceability of a contract.

Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act regulates and, in some cases limits, the use of derivatives, reverse repurchase agreements, and certain other transactions by funds registered under the 1940 Act. Unless a Portfolio qualifies as a "limited derivatives user" as defined in Rule 18f-4, the rule requires the Portfolio to establish a comprehensive derivatives risk management program, to comply with certain value-at-risk based leverage limits and reporting requirements, to appoint a derivatives risk manager and to provide additional disclosure both publicly and to the SEC regarding its derivatives positions. If a Portfolio qualifies as a limited derivatives user, Rule 18f-4 would require the Portfolio to have policies and procedures to manage its aggregate derivatives risk and limit its derivatives exposure. Under the rule, when a Portfolio trades reverse repurchase agreements or similar financing transactions, including certain tender option bonds, it needs to aggregate the amount of indebtedness associated with the reverse repurchase agreements or similar financing transactions with the aggregate amount of any other senior securities representing indebtedness when calculating the Portfolio's asset coverage ratio or treat all such transactions as derivatives transactions. The SEC also provided guidance in connection with the rule regarding the use of securities lending collateral that may limit a Portfolio's securities lending activities. In addition, under the rule, a Portfolio is permitted to invest in a security on a when-issued or forward-settling basis, or with a non-standard settlement cycle, and the transaction will be deemed not to involve a senior security under the 1940 Act, provided that (i) the Trust intends to physically settle the transaction and (ii) the transaction will settle within 35 days of its trade date (the "Delayed-Settlement Securities Provision"). A Portfolio may otherwise engage in such transactions that do not meet the conditions of the Delayed-Settlement Securities Provision so long as the Portfolio treats any such transaction as a "derivatives transaction" for purposes of compliance with the rule. Furthermore, under the rule, a Portfolio is permitted to enter into an unfunded commitment agreement, and such unfunded commitment agreement will not be subject to the asset coverage requirements under the 1940 Act, if the Portfolio reasonably believes, at the time it enters into such agreement, that it will have sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its obligations with respect to all such agreements as they come due. These requirements could have an impact on a Portfolio, including a

potential increase in cost to enter into derivatives transactions and may require a Portfolio to alter, perhaps materially, its use of derivatives.

<u>Futures Contracts—In General</u>. Futures contracts may be entered into in US domestic markets or on exchanges located outside the United States. Foreign markets may offer advantages such as trading opportunities or arbitrage possibilities not available in the United States. Foreign markets, however, may have greater risk potential than domestic markets. For example, some foreign exchanges are principal markets so that no common clearing facility exists and an investor may look only to the broker for performance of the contract. In addition, any profits a Portfolio might realize in trading could be eliminated by adverse changes in the currency exchange rate, or the Portfolio could incur losses as a result of those changes. Transactions on foreign exchanges may include both commodities which are traded on domestic exchanges and those which are not. Unlike trading on domestic commodity exchanges, trading on foreign commodity exchanges is not regulated by the CFTC.

Engaging in these transactions involves risk of loss to the Portfolio which could adversely affect the value of the Portfolio's net assets. Although a Portfolio would intend to purchase or sell futures contracts only if there is an active market for such contracts, no assurance can be given that a liquid market will exist for any particular contract at any particular time. Many futures exchanges and boards of trade limit the amount of fluctuation permitted in futures contract prices during a single trading day. Once the daily limit has been reached in a particular contract, no trades may be made that day at a price beyond that limit or trading may be suspended for specified periods during the trading day. Futures contract prices could move to the limit for several consecutive trading days with little or no trading, thereby preventing prompt liquidation of futures positions and potentially subjecting the Portfolio to substantial losses.

Specific Futures Contracts. A stock index future obligates the Portfolio to pay (or receive) an amount of cash equal to a fixed dollar amount specified in the futures contract multiplied by the difference between the settlement price of the contract on the contract's last trading day and the value of the index based on the stock prices of the securities that comprise it at the opening of trading in such securities on the next business day.

An interest rate future obligates the Portfolio to purchase (or sell) an amount of a specific debt security at a future date at a specific price.

A currency future obligates the Portfolio to purchase (or sell) an amount of a specific currency at a future date at a specific price.

A commodity futures contract is an agreement in which one party agrees to buy a commodity, such as an energy, agricultural or metal commodity at a later date at a price and quantity agreed-upon when the contract is made. The commodities which underlie commodity futures contracts may be subject to additional economic and non-economic variables, such as drought, weather, embargoes, tariffs, and international economic, political and regulatory developments. These factors may have a larger impact on commodity prices and commodity-linked instruments, including futures contracts, than on traditional securities. Certain commodities are also subject to limited pricing flexibility because of supply and demand factors. Others are subject to broad price fluctuations as a result of the volatility of the prices for certain raw materials and the instability of supplies of other materials. These factors, when applicable, can be expected to impact related commodity futures contracts.

Options—In General. An (American) call option gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy, and obligates the seller (writer) to sell, the underlying security or securities at the exercise price at any time during the option period, or at a specific date. Conversely, an (American) put option gives the purchaser of the option the right to sell, and obligates the writer to buy, the underlying security or securities at the exercise price at any time during the option period, or at a specific date.

A covered call option written by a Portfolio is a call option with respect to which the Portfolio owns the underlying security. A put option written by a Portfolio is covered when, among other things, the Portfolio enters into an offsetting transaction or segregates permissible liquid assets having a value equal to or greater than the exercise price of the option to fulfill the obligation undertaken. The principal reason for writing covered call and put options is to realize, through the receipt of premiums, a greater return than would be realized on the underlying securities alone. A Portfolio receives a premium from writing an option, which it retains whether or not the option is exercised.

There is no assurance that sufficient trading interest to create a liquid secondary market on a securities exchange will exist for any particular option or at any particular time, and for some options no such secondary market may exist. A liquid secondary market in an option may cease to exist for a variety of reasons. In the past, for example, higher than anticipated trading activity or order flow, or other unforeseen events, at times have rendered certain of the clearing facilities inadequate and resulted in the institution of special procedures, such as trading rotations, restrictions on certain types of orders or trading halts or suspensions in one or more options. There can be no assurance that similar events, or events that may otherwise interfere with the timely execution of customers' orders, will not recur. In such event, it might not be possible to effect closing transactions in particular options. If, as a covered call option writer, a Portfolio is unable to effect a closing purchase transaction in a secondary market, it will not be able to sell the underlying security until the option expires or it delivers the underlying security upon exercise or it otherwise covers its position.

Specific Options Transactions. Call and put options in respect of specific securities (or groups or "baskets" of specific securities) or indices may be bought and sold on national securities exchanges or in the over-the-counter market. An option on an index is similar to an option in respect of specific securities, except that settlement does not occur by delivery of the securities comprising the index. Instead, the option holder receives an amount of cash if the closing level of the index upon which the option is based is greater than, in the case of a call, or less than, in the case of a put, the exercise price of the option. Thus, the effectiveness of purchasing or writing index options will depend upon price movements in the level of the index rather than the price of a particular security.

As the writer (seller) of a call option, a Portfolio would receive cash (the premium) from the purchaser of the option, and the purchaser has the right to receive from the Portfolio the cash value of the underlying index or any appreciation in the underlying security over the exercise price on the expiration date or otherwise upon exercise. In effect, the Portfolio forgoes, during the life of the option, the opportunity to profit from increases in the market value of the underlying security or securities held by the Portfolio with respect to which the option was written above the sum of the premium and the exercise price. For index options, this will depend, in part, on the extent of correlation of the performance of the Portfolio's portfolio securities with the performance of the relevant index. Covered call option writing will generally limit the Portfolio's ability to benefit from the full appreciation potential of its stock investments underlying the options, and the Portfolio retains the risk of loss (less premiums received) if the value of these stock investments declines. The Portfolio's written call options on individual stocks will be "covered" because the Portfolio will hold the underlying stock in its portfolio throughout the term of the option. The Portfolio also may "cover" its written index call option positions by entering into offsetting positions.

A Portfolio may write call options that are "at-the-money" (the exercise price of the option is equal to the value of the underlying index or stock when the option is written), "close-to-the-money" (with an exercise price close to the current cash value of the underlying index or the market value of the underlying security when the option is written), "out-of-the-money" (with an exercise price above the current cash value of the underlying index or the market value of the underlying security when the option is written) or "in-the-money" (with an exercise price below the current cash value of the underlying index or market value of the underlying security when the option is written), based on market conditions and other factors.

The purchase or sale of call and put options on foreign currencies convey the right to buy or sell the underlying currency at a price which is expected to be lower or higher than the spot price of the currency at the time the option is exercised or expires.

Interest rate swaps involve the exchange by a Portfolio with another party of their respective commitments to pay or receive interest (for example, an exchange of floating-rate payments for fixed-rate payments) denominated in US dollars or foreign currency. Equity index swaps involve the exchange by the Portfolio with another party of cash flows based upon the performance of an index or a portion of an index of securities which usually includes dividends. A cash-settled option on a swap gives the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, in return for the premium paid, to receive an amount of cash equal to the value of the underlying swap as of the exercise date. These options typically are purchased in privately negotiated transactions from financial institutions, including securities brokerage firms.

Successful use by a Portfolio of options will be subject to the Investment Manager's ability to predict correctly movements in the prices of individual stocks, the stock market generally, foreign currencies or interest rates. To the extent the Investment Manager's predictions are incorrect, the Portfolio may incur losses.

Swap Agreements. Swap agreements are contracts entered into primarily by institutional investors for periods ranging from a few weeks to more than a year. In a standard swap transaction, two parties agree to exchange the returns (or differentials in rates of return) earned or realized on particular predetermined investments or instruments, which may be adjusted for an interest factor. The gross returns to be exchanged or "swapped" between the parties are generally calculated with respect to a "notional amount," *i.e.*, the return on or increase in value of a particular dollar amount invested in a particular security or basket of securities (an equity or total return swap), at a particular interest rate, in a particular foreign currency, or in a particular index. Forms of interest rate swap agreements include interest rate caps, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent interest rates exceed a specified rate or "cap"; interest rate floors, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent interest rates fall below a specified level or "floor"; and interest rate collars, under which a party sells a cap and purchases a floor or vice versa in an attempt to protect itself against interest rate movements exceeding given minimum or maximum levels.

Swaps that are centrally cleared are subject to the creditworthiness of the clearing organizations involved in the transaction. For example, a Portfolio could lose margin payments it has deposited with a clearing organization as well as the net amount of gains not yet paid by the clearing organization if the clearing organization breaches its agreement with the Portfolio or becomes insolvent or goes into bankruptcy. In the event of bankruptcy of the clearing organization, the Portfolio may be entitled to the net amount of gains the Portfolio is entitled to receive plus the return of margin owed to it only in proportion to the amount received by the clearing organization's other customers, potentially resulting in losses to the Portfolio.

Most swap agreements entered into by a Portfolio would calculate the obligations of the parties to the agreement on a "net" basis. Consequently, the Portfolio's current obligations (or rights) under a swap agreement generally will be equal only to the net amount to be paid or received under the agreement based on the relative values of the positions held by each party to the agreement (the "net amount"). The risk of loss with respect to swaps is limited to the net amount of payments that the Portfolio is contractually obligated to make. If the other party to a swap defaults, the Portfolio's risk of loss consists of the net amount of payments that the Portfolio contractually is entitled to receive.

Structured Securities. Structured securities are securities whose cash flow characteristics depend upon one or more indices or that have embedded forwards or options or securities where a Portfolio's investment return and the issuer's payment obligations are contingent on, or highly sensitive to, changes in the value of underlying assets, indices, interest rates, cash flows or market (the "embedded index"). When a Portfolio purchases a structured security, it will make a payment of principal to the counterparty. Some structured securities have a guaranteed repayment of principal while others place a portion (or all) of the principal at risk. Guarantees are subject to the risk of default by the counterparty or its credit provider. The terms of such structured securities normally provide that their principal and/or interest payments are to be adjusted upwards or downwards (but not ordinarily below zero) to reflect changes in the embedded index while the structured securities are outstanding. As a result, the interest and/or principal payments that may be made on a structured security may vary widely, depending upon a variety of factors, including the volatility of the embedded index and the effect of changes in the embedded index on principal and/or interest payments. The rate of return on structured securities may be determined by applying a multiplier to the performance or differential performance of the embedded index. Application of a multiplier involves leverage that will serve to magnify the potential for gain and the risk of loss. Structured securities may be issued in subordinated and unsubordinated classes, with subordinated classes typically having higher yields and greater risks than an unsubordinated class. Structured securities may not have an active trading market, which may have an adverse impact on a Portfolio's ability to dispose of such securities when necessary to meet the Portfolio's liquidity needs or in response to a specific economic event such as a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuer. The lack of an active trading market also may make it more difficult for a Portfolio to obtain accurate market quotations for purposes of valuing the Portfolio's portfolio and calculating its NAV.

<u>Future Developments</u>. A Portfolio may take advantage of opportunities in options and futures contracts and options on futures contracts and any other derivatives which are not presently contemplated for use by the Portfolio or which

are not currently available but which may be developed, to the extent such opportunities are both consistent with the Portfolio's investment objective and legally permissible for the Portfolio. Before entering into such transactions or making any such investment, the Portfolio will provide appropriate disclosure in its Prospectus.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Investments in foreign currencies, including investing directly in foreign currencies, holding financial instruments that provide exposure to foreign currencies, or investing in securities that trade in, or receive revenues in, foreign currencies, are subject to the risk that those currencies will decline in value relative to the US dollar.

Currency hedging may substantially change a Portfolio's exposure to changes in currency exchange rates and could result in losses if currencies do not perform as the Investment Manager anticipates. There is no assurance that a Portfolio's currency hedging activities will be advantageous to the Portfolio or that the Investment Manager will hedge at an appropriate time.

The cost of engaging in foreign currency exchange contracts for the purchase or sale of a specified currency at a specified future date ("forward contracts") varies with factors such as the currency involved, the length of the contract period and the market conditions then prevailing. Because forward contracts are usually entered into on a principal basis, no fees or commissions are involved. Generally, secondary markets do not exist for forward contracts, with the result that closing transactions can be made for forward contracts only by negotiating directly with the counterparty to the contract. As with other over-the-counter derivatives transactions, forward contracts are subject to the credit risk of the counterparty.

Currency exchange rates may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time. They generally are determined by the forces of supply and demand in the foreign exchange markets and the relative merits of investments in different countries, actual or perceived changes in interest rates and other complex factors, as seen from an international perspective. Currency exchange rates also can be affected unpredictably by intervention of US or foreign governments or central banks, or the failure to intervene, or by currency controls or political developments in the United States or abroad.

Foreign currency transactions may be entered into for a variety of purposes, including: to fix in US dollars, between trade and settlement date, the value of a security the Portfolio has agreed to buy or sell; to hedge the US dollar value of securities the Portfolio already owns, particularly if it expects a decrease in the value of the currency in which the foreign security is denominated; or to gain exposure to the foreign currency in an attempt to realize gains. Foreign currency transactions may involve, for example, the Portfolio's purchase of foreign currencies for US dollars or the maintenance of short positions in foreign currencies. A short position would involve the Portfolio agreeing to exchange an amount of a currency it did not currently own for another currency at a future date in anticipation of a decline in the value of the currency sold relative to the currency the Portfolio contracted to receive. The Portfolio's success in these transactions will depend principally on the Investment Manager's ability to predict accurately the future exchange rates between foreign currencies and the US dollar.

Commodities and Commodity-Related Instruments, Including Commodity ETPs

Commodities are assets that have tangible properties, such as oil, metals, livestock or agricultural products. Historically, commodity investments have had a relatively high correlation with changes in inflation and a relatively low correlation to stock and bond returns. Commodity-related instruments provide exposure, which may include long and/or short exposure, to the investment returns of physical commodities that trade in commodities markets, without investing directly in physical commodities. A Portfolio may invest in commodity-related securities and other instruments that derive value from the price movement of commodities, or some other readily measurable economic variable dependent upon changes in the value of commodities or the commodities markets. For example, a Portfolio may invest in exchange-traded commodity pools or exchange-traded metals trusts ("Commodity ETPs"). However, the ability of a Portfolio to invest directly in commodities and certain commodity-related securities and other instruments is subject to significant limitations in order to enable the Portfolio to maintain its status as a regulated investment company ("RIC") under Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").

The value of commodity-related instruments and Commodity ETPs involve the same risks associated with a direct investment in commodities and may be affected by changes in overall market movements, volatility of the

underlying benchmark, changes in interest rates or factors affecting a particular industry or commodity, such as drought, floods, weather, livestock disease, acts of terrorism, embargoes, tariffs and international economic, political and regulatory developments. The value of commodity-related instruments will rise or fall in response to changes in the underlying commodity or related index. Investments in commodity-related instruments may be subject to greater volatility than non-commodity based investments. A liquid secondary market may not exist for certain commodity-related instruments, and there can be no assurance that one will develop. Certain commodity-related instruments also are subject to credit and interest rate risks that in general affect the values of debt securities.

The CFTC and various exchanges have rules limiting the maximum net long or short positions which any person or group may own, hold or control in any given futures contract or option on such futures contract. The Investment Manager will need to consider whether the exposure created under these contracts might exceed the applicable limits in managing each relevant Portfolio, and the limits may constrain the ability to use such contracts. In addition, the CFTC has adopted amendments to its position limits rules that establish certain new and amended position limits for 25 specified physical commodity futures and related options contracts traded on exchanges, other futures contracts and related options directly or indirectly linked to such 25 specified contracts, and any OTC transactions that are economically equivalent to the 25 specified contracts. The amendments also modify the bona fide hedging exemption for which certain swap dealers have historically been eligible, which could limit the amount of speculative OTC transaction capacity each such swap dealer would have available for a Portfolio.

Commodity ETPs. Investments in Commodity ETPs involve the same types of risks of investing in an ETF except that the investments made by a Commodity ETP typically are commodities futures or physical commodities included in the index the Commodity ETP is designed to replicate or invest in and Commodity ETPs are not registered investment companies and are not regulated under the 1940 Act. Interests in Commodity ETPs may trade at prices that vary from their NAVs, sometimes significantly. In addition, the performance of a Commodity ETP may diverge from the performance of the relevant index. The Portfolio's investments in Commodity ETPs are subject to the risks of the investments made by the Commodity ETPs, as well as to the general risks of investing in Commodity ETPs. The Portfolio will bear not only the Portfolio's management fees, but also the Portfolio's proportional share of the fees and operating expenses of the Commodity ETPs in which the Portfolio invests.

Short-Selling

A short sale involves the sale of a security that a Portfolio does not own in the expectation of purchasing the same security (or a security exchangeable therefor) at a later date and at a lower price. To complete a short sale transaction and make delivery to the buyer, the Portfolio must borrow the security. The Portfolio is obligated to replace the borrowed security to the lender, which is accomplished by a later purchase of the security by the Portfolio. Until the security is replaced, the Portfolio is required to pay the lender any dividends or interest accruing during the period of the loan. To borrow the security, the Portfolio also may have to pay a fee to the lender, which would increase the cost to the Portfolio of the security it sold short. The Portfolio will incur a loss as a result of a short sale if the price of the security increases between the date of the short sale and the date on which the Portfolio replaces the borrowed security. The Portfolio will realize a gain if the security declines in price between those two dates. In certain cases, purchasing a security to cover a short position can itself cause the price of the security to rise, thereby exacerbating any loss, especially in an environment where others are taking the same actions. Short positions in stocks involve more risk than long positions in stocks because the maximum sustainable loss on a stock purchased is limited to the amount paid for the stock plus the transaction costs, whereas there is no maximum attainable price on the shorted stock. In theory, stocks sold short have unlimited risk. The amount of any gain will be decreased and the amount of any loss will be increased by any interest, premium and transaction charges or other costs a Portfolio may be required to pay in connection with the short sale. A Portfolio may not always be able to borrow a security the Portfolio seeks to sell short at a particular time or at an acceptable price.

A Portfolio also may make short sales "against the box," in which the Portfolio enters into a short sale of a security it owns or has the immediate and unconditional right to acquire at no additional cost at the time of the sale.

When a Portfolio makes a short sale, it must leave the proceeds thereof with the broker and deposit with, or pledge to, the broker an amount of cash or liquid securities sufficient under current margin regulations to collateralize its obligation to replace the borrowed securities that have been sold. Short-selling is considered "leverage" and may involve substantial risk.

A Portfolio may only enter into such transactions in compliance with the SEC's rule related to the use of derivatives, reverse repurchase agreements and similar transactions. (See "Derivatives" above.)

Forward Commitments

Purchasing or selling debt securities on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed delivery basis means that delivery and payment take place a number of days after the date of the commitment to purchase or sell. The payment obligation and the interest rate receivable on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed-delivery security are fixed when the Portfolio enters into the commitment, but the Portfolio does not make a payment until it receives delivery from the counterparty. A Portfolio may engage in forward commitments to increase the Portfolio's financial exposure to the types of securities in which it invests, which would increase the Portfolio's exposure to changes in interest rates and will increase the volatility of its returns. If the Portfolio is fully or almost fully invested when forward commitment purchases are outstanding, such purchases may result in a form of leverage. At no time will a Portfolio have more than 331/3% of its total assets committed to purchase securities on a forward commitment basis.

Securities purchased on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed-delivery basis are subject to changes in value (generally changing in the same way, *i.e.*, appreciating when interest rates decline and depreciating when interest rates rise) based upon the public's perception of the creditworthiness of the issuer and changes, real or anticipated, in the level of interest rates. Securities purchased on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed-delivery basis may expose a Portfolio to risks because they may experience such fluctuations prior to their actual delivery. Purchasing securities on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed-delivery basis can involve the additional risk that the yield available in the market when the delivery takes place actually may be higher than that obtained in the transaction itself. Purchasing securities on a forward commitment, when-issued or delayed-delivery basis when the Portfolio is fully or almost fully invested may result in greater potential fluctuation in the value of the Portfolio's net assets and its net asset value per share.

A fund may only enter into such transactions in compliance with the SEC's rule related to the use of derivatives, reverse repurchase agreements and similar transactions. (See "Derivative" above.)

Smaller Company Securities

The prices of securities of smaller capitalization companies may be subject to more abrupt or erratic market movements than securities of larger, more established companies, because securities of smaller companies typically are traded in lower volume and the issuers typically are subject to greater changes in earnings and prospects. Smaller capitalization companies often have limited product lines, markets or financial resources. They may be dependent on management for one or a few key persons, and can be more susceptible to losses and the risk of bankruptcy. In addition, securities of the small capitalization sector may be thinly traded (and therefore may have to be sold at a discount from current market prices or sold in small lots over an extended period of time), may be followed by fewer investment research analysts and may pose a greater chance of loss than investments in securities of larger capitalization companies.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Portfolios (except as noted) has adopted the investment restrictions below as fundamental policies, which cannot be changed without approval by the holders of a majority of the Portfolio's outstanding voting securities (as defined in the 1940 Act).

- 1. The Portfolios may not issue senior securities, purchase securities on margin, borrow money, pledge or mortgage its assets or invest in commodities or commodities contracts, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act.
- 2. The Portfolios may not make loans, except loans of portfolio securities not having a value in excess of 331/3% of a Portfolio's total assets and except that each Portfolio may purchase debt obligations in accordance with its investment objectives and policies.

- 3. The Portfolios may not purchase the securities of issuers conducting their principal business activity in the same industry if, immediately after the purchase and as a result thereof, the value of the Portfolio's investments in that industry would exceed 25% of the current value of such Portfolio's total assets, provided that there is no limitation with respect to investments in obligations of the US Government, its agencies or instrumentalities, except that the Lazard Next Gen Technologies ETF will concentrate in securities of issuers having their principal business activities in the group of industries that comprise the industrials and information technology sectors.
- 4. The Portfolios may not purchase or sell real estate or real estate limited partnerships, except that each Portfolio may purchase and sell securities of companies which deal in real estate or interests therein and also may purchase and sell securities that are secured by real estate.
- 5. The Portfolios may not underwrite securities of other issuers, except to the extent that the purchase of municipal obligations or other permitted investments directly from the issuer thereof or from an underwriter for an issuer and the later disposition of such securities in accordance with the Portfolio's investment program may be deemed to be an underwriting.

If a percentage restriction is adhered to at the time of investment, a later change in percentage resulting from a change in values or assets will not constitute a violation of such restriction. For purposes of Investment Restriction No. 1, references to "commodities" and "commodity contracts" are to physical commodities or commodity contracts in respect of physical commodities, typically natural resources or agricultural products, and are not intended to refer to instruments that are strictly financial in nature and are not related to the purchase or delivery of physical commodities. For purposes of Investment Restriction No. 3, Municipal Securities issued by states, municipalities and other political subdivisions, agencies, authorities and instrumentalities of states and multistate agencies and authorities are not subject to industry concentration restrictions.

EXCHANGE LISTING AND TRADING

A discussion of exchange listing and trading matters associated with an investment in the Portfolios is contained in the "Shareholder Information" section of the Portfolios' Prospectus. The discussion below supplements, and should be read in conjunction with, that section of the Prospectus.

Shares of each Portfolio are expected to be approved for listing, subject to notice of issuance, on the Exchange. Shares of each Portfolio may also be listed on certain non-US exchanges. There can be no assurance that the requirements of the Exchange necessary to maintain the listing of shares of the Portfolio will continue to be met. The Exchange may, but is not required to, remove the shares of the Portfolio from listing if, among other things: (i) following the initial 12-month period beginning upon the commencement of trading of Portfolio shares, there are fewer than 50 record and/or beneficial owners of shares of the Portfolio; (ii) the Portfolio is no longer eligible to operate in reliance on Rule 6c-11 under the 1940 Act; (iii) any of the other listing requirements are not continuously maintained; or (iv) any event shall occur or condition shall exist that, in the opinion of the Exchange, makes further dealings on the Exchange inadvisable. The Exchange will also remove shares of the Portfolio from listing and trading upon termination of the Portfolio. As in the case of other publicly-traded securities, when you buy or sell shares of the Portfolios through a broker, you may incur a brokerage commission determined by that broker, as well as other charges. The Trust reserves the right to adjust the share price of the Portfolio in the future to maintain convenient trading ranges for investors. Any adjustments would be accomplished through stock splits or reverse stock splits, which would have no effect on the net assets of the Portfolio or an investor's equity interest in the Portfolio.

MANAGEMENT

Board's Oversight Role; Board Composition and Structure

The role of the Trust's Board of Trustees (the "Board" or "Trustees") in the management of the Trust is oversight. As is the case with virtually all investment companies (as distinguished from operating companies), service providers to the Trust, primarily the Investment Manager and its affiliates, have responsibility for the day-to-day

management of the Portfolios, which includes responsibility for risk management (including management of investment performance and investment risk, valuation risk, issuer and counterparty credit risk, compliance risk and operational risk). As part of its oversight, the Board, or its committees or delegates, interacts with and receives reports from senior personnel of service providers, including senior investment personnel of the Investment Manager, the Trust's and the Investment Manager's Chief Compliance Officer and portfolio management personnel with responsibility for management of the Portfolios. The Board's Audit Committee (which consists of all of the Trustees who are not "interested persons" of the Trust, as defined in the 1940 Act (the "Independent Trustees")) meets during its scheduled meetings with, and between meetings has access to, the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm and the Trust's Treasurer. The Board also receives periodic presentations from senior personnel of the Investment Manager or its affiliates regarding risk management generally, as well as periodic presentations regarding specific operational, compliance or investment areas such as trading and brokerage allocation and execution, portfolio management and internal audit. The Board also receives reports from counsel regarding regulatory compliance and governance matters. The Board has adopted policies and procedures designed to address certain risks to the Portfolios. In addition, the Investment Manager and other service providers to the Trust have adopted a variety of policies, procedures and controls designed to address particular risks to the Portfolios. However, it is not possible to eliminate all of the risks applicable to the Portfolios. The Board's oversight role does not make the Board a guarantor of the Portfolios' investments or activities.

The 1940 Act requires that at least 40% of the Trustees be Independent Trustees and as such are not affiliated with the Investment Manager. To rely on certain exemptive rules under the 1940 Act, a majority of the Trustees must be Independent Trustees, and for certain important matters, such as the approval of investment advisory agreements or transactions with affiliates, the 1940 Act or the rules thereunder require the approval of a majority of the Independent Trustees. Currently, 75% of the Trustees are Independent Trustees. The Board does not have a Chairman, but the Independent Trustees have designated a lead Independent Trustee who chairs meetings or executive sessions of the Independent Trustees, reviews and comments on Board meeting agendas and facilitates communication among the Independent Trustees, their counsel and management. The Board has determined that its leadership structure, in which the Independent Trustees have designated a lead Independent Trustee to function as described above is appropriate in light of the specific characteristics and circumstances of the Trust, including, but not limited to: (i) services that the Investment Manager and its affiliates provide to the Trust and potential conflicts of interest that could arise from these relationships; (ii) the extent to which the day-to-day operations of the Trust are conducted by Trust officers and employees of the Investment Manager and its affiliates; and (iii) the Board's oversight role in management of the Trust.

Trustees and Officers

Set forth in the chart below are the names and certain biographical and other information for each Trustee. Following the chart is additional information about the Trustees' experience, qualifications, attributes or skills.

		Principal Occupation(s) and Other Public
Name (Year of Birth) Address ⁽¹⁾	Position(s) with the Trust (Since) and Term ⁽²⁾	Company Directorships Held During the Past Five Years ⁽²⁾
Non-Interested Trustees:		
Franci J. Blassberg (1953)	Trustee (November 2024)	Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, a law firm, Of Counsel (2013 – present) Cornell Law School, Adjunct Professor (2013 – present) The Buchmann Faculty of Law, Tel Aviv University, Visiting Professor (2019) New York University School of Law, Adjunct Professor (2022 – present)
Kenneth S. Davidson (1945)	Trustee (November 2024)	Davidson Capital Management Corporation, an investment manager, <i>President</i> (1978 –

Name (Year of Birth) Address ⁽¹⁾	Position(s) with the Trust (Since) and Term ⁽²⁾	Principal Occupation(s) and Other Public Company Directorships Held During the Past Five Years ⁽²⁾
		present)
Nancy A. Eckl (1962)	Trustee (November 2024)	College Retirement Equities Fund (eight accounts), Trustee (2007 – present) TIAA Separate Account VA-1, Member of the Management Committee (2007 – present) TIAA-CREF Funds and TIAA-CREF Life Funds, Trustee (2007 – 2023)
Trevor W. Morrison (1971)	Trustee (November 2024)	New York University School of Law, <i>Eric M.</i> and Laurie B. Roth Professor of Law (2013 – present, previously Dean from 2013 – 2022)
Richard Reiss, Jr. (1944)	Trustee (November 2024)	Georgica Advisors LLC, an investment manager, <i>Chairman</i> (1997 – present) Osprey Technology Acquisition Corp., a special purpose acquisition company, Director (2019 – present) Resource America, Inc., a real estate asset management company, <i>Director</i> (2016 – 2018)
Robert M. Solmson (1947)	Trustee (November 2024)	Fairwood Capital, LLC, a private investment corporation engaged primarily in real estate and hotel investments, <i>Co-Managing Partner and Managing Director</i> (2008 – present)
Interested Trustees ⁽³⁾ :		
Nathan A. Paul (1973)	Trustee (November 2024) Chief Executive Officer and President (November 2024)	Investment Manager, Vice Chair and Chief Operating Officer (January 2023 – present), Managing Director (2003 – present), and Chief Business Officer (April 2017 – December 2022)
Evan L. Russo (1974)	Trustee (November 2024)	Investment Manager, Chief Executive Officer (June 2022 – present) Lazard, Inc., Chief Financial Officer (October 2017 – October 2022) and Managing Director (2009 – present)

⁽¹⁾ The address of each Trustee is Lazard Asset Management LLC, 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, New York 10112-6300.

⁽²⁾ Each Trustee also serves as a Director of The Lazard Funds, Inc. and Lazard Retirement Series, Inc., each an open-end registered management investment company, and Lazard Global Total Return and Income Fund, Inc., a closed-end registered management investment company (collectively with the Trust, the "Lazard Fund

- Complex," currently comprised of 29 active investment portfolios). Each Trustee serves an indefinite term, until his or her successor is elected and qualifies or until his or her earlier resignation.
- (3) Messrs. Paul and Russo are "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Trust because of their positions with the Investment Manager.

Additional information about each Trustee follows (supplementing the information provided in the chart above), which describes some of the specific experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that each Trustee possesses which the Board believes has prepared them to be effective Trustees. The Board believes that the significance of each Trustee's experience, qualifications, attributes or skills is an individual matter (meaning that experience that is important for one Trustee may not have the same value for another) and that these factors are best evaluated at the Board level, with no single Trustee, or particular factor, being indicative of Board effectiveness. However, the Board believes that Trustees need to have the ability to critically review, evaluate, question and discuss information provided to them, and to interact effectively with Trust management, service providers and counsel, in order to exercise effective business judgment in the performance of their duties; the Board believes that its members satisfy this standard. Experience relevant to having this ability may be achieved through a Trustee's educational background; business, professional training or practice (e.g., accounting or law), public service or academic positions; experience from service as a board member (including the Board of the Trust) or as an executive of investment funds, public companies or significant private or not-for-profit entities or other organizations; and/or other life experiences. The charter for the Board's Nominating Committee contains certain other factors considered by the Committee in identifying potential Trustee nominees. To assist them in evaluating matters under federal and state law, the Independent Trustees are counseled by their independent legal counsel, who participates in Board meetings and interacts with the Investment Manager; Trust and independent legal counsel to the Independent Trustees have significant experience advising funds and fund board members. The Board and its committees have the ability to engage other experts as appropriate. The Board evaluates its performance on an annual basis.

- Franci J. Blassberg is a Retired Partner and Of Counsel to the law firm of Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, where she focused her legal practice on mergers and acquisitions, private equity and corporate governance. Ms. Blassberg currently teaches at Cornell Law School and New York University School of Law and taught at the Buchmann Faculty of Law, Tel Aviv University in 2019. Prior to 2013, Ms. Blassberg was a Partner and Co-Chair of the Private Equity Group at Debevoise. Ms. Blassberg also serves on the boards of several prominent non-profit organizations. Ms. Blassberg serves as Secretary and a Director at NYC Ballet and serves as Vice Chair and a Director at The New School. She received a BA with distinction from Cornell University and a JD from Cornell Law School.
- Kenneth S. Davidson is President of Davidson Capital Management Corporation. Previously, he was associated with Aquiline Holdings LLC (from 2006 to 2012), a New York-based global investment firm, where he was a founding member, and was a Senior Advisor at Landseer Advisors LLC from 2012 to 2014. From 1977 through 1995, Mr. Davidson was the founder and Managing Partner of Davidson Weil Associates, and was previously a Vice President and Senior Portfolio Manager at Oppenheimer Capital Corporation. He also serves on (or has served on) the boards of several prominent non-profit organizations. Mr. Davidson is a graduate of Colgate University.
- Nancy A. Eckl has over 30 years of experience in the mutual fund/investment management field in a wide range of capacities, including investment manager selection/oversight, accounting, compliance, operations and board membership. From 1990 to 2006, Ms. Eckl was Vice President of American Beacon Advisors, Inc., an investment management firm, and of the American Beacon Funds (open-end mutual funds). Ms. Eckl also served as Vice President of certain other funds advised by American Beacon Advisors. Ms. Eckl graduated from the University of Notre Dame and is a Certified Public Accountant in the State of Texas.
- Trevor W. Morrison is currently the Eric M. and Laurie B. Roth Professor of Law at New York University School of Law, where he previously served as Dean from 2013 to 2022. Before coming to NYU, he was the Liviu Librescu Professor of Law at Columbia Law School. Earlier in his career, Mr. Morrison served as associate counsel to President Obama and as a law clerk to Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg. He was appointed by President Obama to the Public Interest Declassification Board and by President Biden to the Presidential Commission on the Supreme Court of the United States. Mr. Morrison has been a trustee of the Brennan Center for Justice since 2013, of the Abraham Joshua Heschel School

since 2014 and of Leadership Enterprise for a Diverse America (LEDA) since 2024. He is a fellow of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences and a member of the American Law Institute and the Council on Foreign Relations. He is also Of Counsel at the law firm of Kaplan Hecker & Fink LLP. Mr. Morrison received a BA (hons.) in history from the University of British Columbia in 1994 and a JD from Columbia Law School in 1998.

- Nathan A. Paul is currently the Vice Chair, Chief Operating Officer and a Managing Director of the Investment Manager. Mr. Paul joined the Investment Manager in 2000 and served as General Counsel from 2002 to April 2017 and served as Chief Business Officer from 2017 to December 2022, after which he became Vice Chair and Chief Operating Officer. Previously, he was an associate at the law firm of Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP. Mr. Paul also serves on the boards of several non-profit organizations. Mr. Paul received a BA from Yeshiva University and a JD from Benjamin N. Cardozo School of Law.
- Richard Reiss, Jr. is the founder and Chairman of Georgica Advisors LLC and its affiliated entities, Reiss Capital Management and Value Insight Partners. Previously, Mr. Reiss was Managing Partner of Cumberland Associates and its three investment funds and a Senior Vice President and Director of Research at Shearson Hayden Stone. Mr. Reiss has served on the boards of a number of companies and non-profit organizations. He received an AB, cum laude, from Dartmouth College and a JD from New York University School of Law.
- Evan L. Russo is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the Investment Manager. Mr. Russo has served as a Managing Director of Lazard (defined below) since 2009 and prior to becoming Chief Executive Officer of the Investment Manager in June 2022, he was the Chief Financial Officer of Lazard, Inc. and Lazard Group. Mr. Russo joined Lazard as a Director in 2007. Previously, he worked for Goldman, Sachs & Co. in the Investing Banking Division, and prior to that, for Barclays Capital. Mr. Russo began his career as an attorney at Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy. Mr. Russo received an undergraduate degree from Queens College, a law degree from Columbia University School of Law and an M.B.A. from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.
- Robert M. Solmson is the Co-Managing Partner and Managing Director of Fairwood Capital, LLC, a private investment corporation engaged primarily in real estate and hotel investments. Previously, Mr. Solmson was the former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of RFS Hotel Investors, a real estate investment trust which he formed in 1993. He also served as its President. Mr. Solmson has served on the boards of a number of corporations and non-profit organizations. He presently serves as a director and chairman of the audit committee of Orgill, Inc., a large privately held national distributor of hardware products and lumber. He graduated from Washington and Lee University.

Set forth below are the names and certain biographical and other information for the Trust's officers (in addition to Mr. Paul).

Name (Year of Birth) Address ⁽¹⁾	Position(s) with the Trust (Since) and Term ⁽²⁾	Principal Occupation(s) During the Past Five Years
Mark R. Anderson (1970)	Vice President and Secretary (November 2024)	Managing Director (since February 2017), and General Counsel (since April 2017) of the Investment Manager (previously Chief Compliance Officer)
Nargis Hilal (1984)	Chief Compliance Officer (November 2024)	Managing Director (since January 2024; previously Director (since February 2021); Senior Vice President (since August 2017)) and Chief Compliance Officer and Counsel of the Investment Manager (since April 2022; previously Deputy Chief Compliance Officer (since August 2017)) Chief Compliance Officer of the Distributor (since February 2019)

Name (Year of Birth) Address ⁽¹⁾	Position(s) with the Trust (Since) and Term ⁽²⁾	Principal Occupation(s) During the Past Five Years
Christina Kennedy (1990)	Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (November 2024)	Senior Vice President of the Investment Manager (since January 2023); previously Vice President (July 2019 – January 2023) Senior Fund Accountant, Gates Capital Management Inc. (July 2016 – July 2019)
Robert Spiro (1988)	Assistant Secretary (November 2024)	Senior Vice President of the Investment Manager (since September 2024) Associate, Dechert LLP (May 2022 – September 2024) Associate, Proskauer Rose LLP (November 2017 – May 2022)
Cesar A. Trelles (1975)	Assistant Treasurer (November 2024)	Senior Vice President of the Investment Manager (since January 2024); previously Vice President (since February 2011)

- The address of each officer of the Trust is Lazard Asset Management LLC, 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, New York 10112-6300.
- (2) Each officer serves for an indefinite term, until his or her successor is elected and qualifies or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. Each officer serves in the same capacity for the other funds in the Lazard Fund Complex.

Board Committees, Share Ownership and Compensation

The Trust has standing audit and nominating committees, each comprised of its Independent Trustees.

The function of the audit committee is to (1) oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Trust and the audits of the Trust's financial statements and (2) assist Board oversight of (i) the integrity of the Trust's financial statements, (ii) the Trust's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements that relate to the Trust's accounting and financial reporting, internal control over financial reporting and independent audits, and (iii) the qualifications, independence and performance of the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm. The audit committee was established on November 7, 2024 and therefore did not meet during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

While the nominating committee is solely responsible for the selection and nomination of the Trustees, the nominating committee may consider nominations for the office of Trustee made by the Trust's current Trustees, officers, shareholders or other source the nominating committee deems appropriate. Shareholders who wish to recommend a nominee should send nominations to the Secretary of the Trust, 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, New York 10112-3600. Nominations may be submitted only by a shareholder or group of shareholders that, individually or as a group, has beneficially owned the lesser of (a) 1% of the Trust's outstanding shares or (b) \$500,000 of the Trust's shares for at least one year prior to the date such shareholder or group submits a candidate for nomination. Not more than one nominee for Trustee may be submitted by such a shareholder or group each calendar year. In evaluating potential nominees, including any nominees recommended by shareholders, the nominating committee takes into consideration the factors listed in the nominating committee charter, including character and integrity, business and professional experience, and whether or not the person is qualified under applicable laws and regulations to serve as a Trustee. A nomination submission must include all information relating to the recommended nominee that is required to be disclosed in solicitations or proxy statements for the election of Trustees, as well as information sufficient to evaluate the factors listed above. Nomination submissions must be accompanied by a written consent of the individual to stand for election if nominated by the Board and to serve if elected by the shareholders, and such additional information must be provided regarding the recommended nominee as reasonably requested by the nominating committee. The nominating committee was established on November 7, 2024 and therefore did not meet during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

The table below indicates the dollar range of each Independent Trustee's ownership of Portfolio shares and aggregate holdings of all of the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex, in each case as of December 31, 2024 (prior to the Portfolios' commencement of operations).

Portfolio	Franci J. Blassberg	Kenneth S. Davidson	Nancy A. Eckl	Trevor W. Morrison	Richard Reiss, Jr.	Robert M. Solmson
Emerging Markets Opportunities ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Equity Megatrends ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
International Dynamic Equity ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Japanese Equity ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Next Gen Technologies ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aggregate Holdings of all of the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex	Over 100,000	Over 100,000	Over 100,000	Over 100,000	Over 100,000	Over 100,000

The table below indicates the dollar range of each Interested Trustee's ownership of Portfolio shares, other investment products (*e.g.*, employees' securities companies, non-US mutual funds or UCITS) that pursue substantially identical investment strategies as the Portfolios ("Other Accounts") and aggregate holdings of all of the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex, in each case as of December 31, 2024 (prior to the Portfolios' commencement of operations).

	Nathan A. Paul			Evan L. Russo		
Portfolio	Market Value of Portfolio Shares*	Market Value of Other Accounts Shares*	Aggregate Market Value in Strategy	Market Value of Portfolio Shares*	Market Value of Other Accounts Shares*	Aggregate Market Value in Strategy
Emerging Markets Opportunities ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Equity Megatrends ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
International Dynamic Equity ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Japanese Equity ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Next Gen Technologies ETF	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aggregate Holdings of all of the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000

^{*} A portion of Portfolio shares shown as owned by the Interested Trustee may consist of shares the Interested Trustee has purchased under the deferred compensation arrangement described below under "—Portfolio Managers—Compensation for Portfolio Managers." In addition, the Interested Trustee may own shares of employees' securities companies, non-US mutual funds or other pooled investment vehicles or have separate accounts advised by the Investment Manager that pursue substantially similar strategies to those of the Portfolios.

As of the date of this SAI, the Trust's officers and Trustees, as a group, owned less than 1% of the shares of each Portfolio. Also as of the date of this SAI, no Trustee owned shares in the Predecessor Portfolio.

As of December 31, 2024, none of the Independent Trustees or his or her immediate family members owned securities of the Investment Manager or the Distributor or any person (other than a registered investment company) directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Investment Manager or the Distributor.

Each Trustee who is not an affiliated person of the Investment Manager or any of its affiliates is paid by all of the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex: (1) an annual retainer of \$258,000, (2) an additional annual fee of \$35,000 to the lead Independent Trustee, Richard Reiss, Jr. and (3) an additional annual fee of \$25,000 to the Audit Committee Chair, Nancy A. Eckl. The Independent Trustees may be paid additional compensation for participation on ad hoc committees or other work performed on behalf of the Board. The Independent Trustees also are reimbursed for travel and other out-of-pocket expenses for attending Board and committee meetings. Compensation is, generally, divided among the Lazard Fund Complex based on relative net assets. The Trustees do not receive benefits from the Trust pursuant to any pension, retirement or similar arrangement. The aggregate amount of compensation paid to each Trustee for the year ended December 31, 2024 by the Trust and by the funds in the Lazard Fund Complex (comprised of 29 active investment portfolios as of December 31, 2024), was as follows:

Trustee	Aggregate Compensation from the Trust	Total Compensation from the Lazard Fund Complex
Franci J. Blassberg	None	\$252,500
Kenneth S. Davidson	None	\$252,500
Nancy A. Eckl*	None	\$277,500
Trevor W. Morrison	None	\$252,500
Nathan A. Paul**	None	None
Richard Reiss, Jr.***	None	\$287,500
Evan L. Russo**	None	None
Robert M. Solmson	None	\$252,500

- * Audit Committee Chair.
- ** Interested Trustee.
- *** Lead Independent Trustee.

The Trust does not compensate officers or Trustees who are employees or affiliated persons of the Investment Manager.

Portfolio Managers

<u>Team Management</u>. Portfolio managers at the Investment Manager manage multiple accounts for a diverse client base, including private clients, institutions and investment funds. The Investment Manager manages all portfolios on a team basis. The team is involved at all levels of the investment process. This team approach allows for every portfolio manager to benefit from his/her peers, and for clients to receive the firm's best thinking, not that of a single portfolio manager. The Investment Manager manages all like investment mandates against a model portfolio. Specific client objectives, guidelines or limitations then are applied against the model, and any necessary adjustments are made.

Material Conflicts Related to Management of the Portfolios and Similar Accounts; Other Conflicts. Although the potential for conflicts of interest exist when an investment adviser and portfolio managers manage other accounts that invest in securities in which a Portfolio may invest or that may pursue a strategy similar to one of the Portfolio's component strategies (collectively, "Similar Accounts"), the Investment Manager has procedures in place that are designed to ensure that all accounts are treated fairly and that the Portfolio is not disadvantaged, including procedures regarding trade allocations and "conflicting trades" (e.g., long and short positions in the same or similar securities). In addition, each Portfolio, as a series of a registered investment company, is subject to different regulations than certain of the Similar Accounts, and, consequently, may not be permitted to engage in all the investment techniques or transactions, or to engage in such techniques or transactions to the same degree, as the Similar Accounts.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise because of the Investment Manager's management of a Portfolio and Similar Accounts, including the following:

- Similar Accounts may have investment objectives, strategies and risks that differ from those of the corresponding Portfolios. In addition, the Portfolios, as series of a registered investment company, are subject to different regulations than certain of the Similar Accounts and, consequently, may not be permitted to invest in the same securities, exercise rights to exchange or convert securities or engage in all the investment techniques or transactions, or to invest, exercise or engage to the same degree, as the Similar Accounts. For these or other reasons, the portfolio managers may purchase different securities for a Portfolio and the corresponding Similar Accounts, and the performance of securities purchased for the Portfolio may vary from the performance of securities purchased for Similar Accounts, perhaps materially.
- 2. Conflicts of interest may arise with both the aggregation and allocation of securities transactions and allocation of limited investment opportunities, as the Investment Manager may be perceived as causing accounts it manages to participate in an offering to increase the Investment Manager's overall allocation of securities in that offering, or to increase the Investment Manager's ability to participate in future offerings by the same underwriter or issuer. Allocations of bunched trades, particularly trade orders that were only partially filled due to limited availability, and allocation of investment opportunities generally, could raise a potential conflict of interest, as the Investment Manager may have an incentive to allocate securities that are expected to increase in value to preferred accounts. Initial public offerings, in particular, are frequently of very limited availability. A potential conflict of interest may be perceived to arise if transactions in one account closely follow related transactions in a different account, such as when a purchase increases the value of securities previously purchased by the other account, or when a sale in one account lowers the sale price received in a sale by a second account.
- 3. Portfolio managers may be perceived to have a conflict of interest because of the large number of Similar Accounts, in addition to the Portfolios, that they are managing on behalf of the Investment Manager. Although the Investment Manager does not track each individual portfolio manager's time dedicated to each account, the Investment Manager periodically reviews each portfolio manager's overall responsibilities to ensure that he or she is able to allocate the necessary time and resources to effectively manage a Portfolio. As illustrated in the table below, most of the portfolio managers of the Portfolios manage a significant number of Similar Accounts in addition to the Portfolio(s) managed by them.
- 4. Generally, the Investment Manager and/or some or all of a Portfolio's portfolio managers have investments in Similar Accounts. This could be viewed as creating a potential conflict of interest, since certain of the portfolio managers do not invest in the Portfolios.
- 5. Certain portfolio managers manage Similar Accounts with respect to which the advisory fee is based on the performance of the account, which could give the portfolio managers and the Investment Manager an incentive to favor such Similar Accounts over the corresponding Portfolios.
- 6. A Portfolio's portfolio managers may place transactions on behalf of Similar Accounts that are directly or indirectly contrary to investment decisions made for the Portfolio, which could have the potential to adversely impact the Portfolio, depending on market conditions. In addition, if a Portfolio's investment in an issuer is at a different level of the issuer's capital structure than an investment in the issuer by Similar Accounts, in the event of credit deterioration of the issuer, there may be a conflict of interest between the Portfolio's and such Similar Accounts' investments in the issuer. If the Investment Manager sells securities short it may be seen as harmful to the performance of any Portfolios investing "long" in the same or similar securities whose market values fall as a result of short-selling activities.
- 7. Investment decisions for each Portfolio are made independently from those of the other Portfolios and Similar Accounts. If, however, such other Portfolios or Similar Accounts desire to invest in, or dispose of, the same securities as a Portfolio, available investments or opportunities for sales will be allocated equitably to each. In some cases, this procedure may adversely affect the size of the position obtained for or disposed of by a Portfolio or the price paid or received by a Portfolio.

8. Under the Investment Manager's trade allocation procedures applicable to domestic and foreign initial and secondary public offerings and Rule 144A transactions (collectively herein a "Limited Offering"), the Investment Manager will generally allocate Limited Offering shares among client accounts, including the Portfolios, pro rata based upon the aggregate asset size (excluding leverage) of the account. The Investment Manager may also allocate Limited Offering shares on a random basis, as selected electronically, or other basis. It is often difficult for the Investment Manager to obtain a sufficient number of Limited Offering shares to provide a full allocation to each account. The Investment Manager's allocation procedures are designed to allocate Limited Offering securities in a fair and equitable manner.

In some cases, the Investment Manager may seek to limit the number of overlapping investments by similar Portfolios (securities of an issuer held in more than one Portfolio) or may choose different securities for one or more Portfolios that employ similar investment strategies (for example, a concentrated versus a diversified Portfolio) so that shareholders invested in such Portfolios may achieve a more diverse investment experience. In such cases, a Portfolio may be disadvantaged by the Investment Manager's decision to purchase or maintain an investment in one Portfolio to the exclusion of one or more other Portfolios (including a decision to sell the investment in one Portfolio so that it may be purchased by another Portfolio).

The Investment Manager and its affiliates and others involved in the management, investment activities, business operations or distribution of the Portfolios or their shares, as applicable, are engaged in businesses and have interests other than that of managing the Portfolios. These activities and interests include potential multiple advisory, transactional, financial and other interests in securities, instruments and companies that may be directly or indirectly purchased or sold by the Portfolios or the Portfolios' service providers, which may cause conflicts that could disadvantage the Portfolios.

Accounts Managed by the Portfolio Managers. The charts below include information regarding the members of the portfolio management teams responsible for managing the Portfolios. Specifically, they show the number of portfolios and assets managed by management teams of which each Portfolio's portfolio manager is a member and accounts managed by each portfolio manager that are subject to performance-based advisory fees. Information is presented as of December 31, 2024 unless otherwise indicated. Regardless of the number of accounts, the portfolio management team still manages each account based on a model portfolio as described above.

Portfolio Manager	Registered Investment Companies (\$)	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles (\$)	Other Accounts (\$)*
Scott R. Anderson	N/A	8 (2 billion)	11 (1.9 billion)
Matthew R. Bills	N/A	8 (2 billion)	11 (1.9 billion)
Nicholas Bratt	N/A	4 (651.2 million)	13 (1.5 billion)
Rohit Chopra	8 (4.3 billion)	12 (5.1 billion)	45 (7.1 billion)
James M. Donald	12 (8.7 billion)	12 (5.1 billion)	70 (10.3 billion)
Taras Ivanenko	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Peter Kashanek	13 (2.5 billion)	28 (3.1 billion)	84 (11.9 billion)
Tjeert Keijzer	N/A	2 (7.0 billion)	3 (4.6 million)
June-Yon Kim	N/A	8 (2 billion)	11 (1.9 billion)
John King	N/A	4 (651.2 million)	13 (1.5 billion)
Ario Kishida	N/A	10 (9.0 billion)	12 (1.9 billion)
Alex Lai	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Kurt Livermore	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Ciprian Marin	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Paul Moghtader	13 (2.5 billion)	28 (3.1 billion)	84 (11.9 billion)
Sarbjit Nahal	N/A	4 (651.2 million)	13 (1.5 billion)
Craig Scholl	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Susanne Willumsen	13 (2.5 billion)	26 (3.1 billion)	83 (11.9 billion)
Celine Woo	N/A	2 (7.0 billion)	4 (38.2 million)
Steve Wreford	N/A	4 (651.2 million)	13 (1.5 billion)

	rumber of ficebunts subject to	
Portfolio Manager	Type of Account	Performance Fees (\$)
Scott R. Anderson	Other Account	1 (227.9 million)
Matthew R. Bills	Other Account	1 (227.9 million)
Nicholas Bratt	N/A	N/A
Rohit Chopra	Other Account	1 (491.6 million)
James M. Donald	Other Pooled Vehicle	1 (4.2 billion)
	Other Account	3 (614.9 million)
Taras Ivanenko	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Peter Kashanek	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Tjeert Keijzer	N/A	N/A
June-Yon Kim	Other Account	1 (227.9 million)
John King	N/A	N/A
Ario Kishida	Other Account	1 (227.9 million)
Alex Lai	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Kurt Livermore	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Ciprian Marin	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Paul Moghtader	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Sarbjit Nahal	N/A	N/A
Craig Scholl	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Susanne Willumsen	Other Account	7 (492.5 million)
Celine Woo	N/A	N/A
Steve Wreford	N/A	N/A

Number of Accounts Subject to

Compensation for Portfolio Managers. The Investment Manager's portfolio managers are generally responsible for managing multiple types of accounts that may, or may not, invest in securities in which the Trust may invest or pursue a strategy similar to a Portfolio's strategies. Portfolio managers responsible for managing the Portfolios may also manage sub-advised registered investment companies, collective investment trusts, unregistered funds and/or other pooled investment vehicles, separate accounts, separately managed account programs (often referred to as "wrap accounts") and model portfolios.

The Investment Manager compensates portfolio managers by a competitive salary and bonus structure, which is determined both quantitatively and qualitatively. Salary and bonus are paid in cash, stock and restricted interests in funds managed by the Investment Manager or its affiliates. Portfolio managers are compensated on the performance of the aggregate group of portfolios managed by the teams of which they are a member rather than for a specific fund or account. Various factors are considered in the determination of a portfolio manager's compensation. All of the portfolios managed by a portfolio manager are comprehensively evaluated to determine his or her positive and consistent performance contribution over time. Further factors include the amount of assets in the portfolios as well as qualitative aspects that reinforce the Investment Manager's investment philosophy.

Total compensation is generally not fixed, but rather is based on the following factors: (i) leadership, teamwork and commitment, (ii) maintenance of current knowledge and opinions on companies owned in the portfolio; (iii) generation and development of new investment ideas, including the quality of security analysis and identification of appreciation catalysts; (iv) ability and willingness to develop and share ideas on a team basis; and (v) the performance results of the portfolios managed by the investment teams of which the portfolio manager is a member.

Variable bonus is based on the portfolio manager's quantitative performance as measured by his or her ability to make investment decisions that contribute to the pre-tax absolute and relative returns of the accounts managed by the teams of which the portfolio manager is a member, by comparison of each account to a predetermined benchmark, generally as set forth in the Prospectus or other governing document, over the current fiscal year and the longer-term performance of such account, as well as performance of the account relative to peers. The portfolio manager's bonus also can be influenced by subjective measurement of the manager's ability to help others make

^{*} Includes an aggregation of any Similar Accounts within managed account programs where the third party program sponsor is responsible for applying specific client objectives, guidelines and limitations against the model portfolio managed by the portfolio management team.

investment decisions. A portion of a portfolio manager's variable bonus is awarded under a deferred compensation arrangement pursuant to which the portfolio manager may allocate certain amounts awarded among certain Portfolios or Other Accounts, in shares that vest in two to three years. Certain portfolio managers' bonus compensation may be tied to a fixed percentage of revenue or assets generated by the accounts managed by such portfolio management teams.

<u>Portfolio Manager Ownership of Portfolio and Other Accounts Shares</u>. As of December 31, 2024, the portfolio managers owned beneficially interests in the Portfolios and Other Accounts as noted below.

Portfolio/Portfolio Manager	Market Value of Portfolio Shares*	Market Value of Other Accounts Shares*	Aggregate Market Value in Strategy
Emerging Markets Opportunities			
ETF			
Rohit Chopra	None	None	None
James M. Donald	None	None	None
James W. Donald	None	None	None
Equity Megatrends ETF			
Nicholas Bratt	None	Over \$1,000,000	Over \$1,000,000
John King	None	\$100,001-\$500,000	\$100,001-\$500,000
Sarbjit Nahal	None	\$50,001-\$100,000	\$50,001-\$100,000
Steve Wreford	None	Over \$1,000,000	Over \$1,000,000
International Dynamic Equity ETF			
Taras Ivanenko	None	\$10,001-\$50,000	\$10,001-\$50,000
Peter Kashanek	None	None	None
Alex Lai	None	\$50,001-\$100,000	\$50,001-\$100,000
Kurt Livermore	None	None	None
Ciprian Marin	None	None	None
Paul Moghtader	None	None	None
Craig Scholl	None	\$100,001-\$500,000	\$100,001-\$500,000
Susanne Willumsen	None	None	None
Japanese Equity ETF			
Scott R. Anderson	None	None	None
Matthew R. Bills	None	None	None
June-Yon Kim	None	None	None
vene i on min	TOHE	TOHE	TOHE
Next Gen Technologies ETF			
Tjeert Keijzer	None	None	None
Ario Kishida	None	None	None
Celine Woo	None	None	None

^{*} A portion of the market value of Portfolio or Other Accounts shares shown as owned by a portfolio manager may include the value of amounts awarded under the deferred compensation arrangement described above under "—Compensation for Portfolio Managers" and allocated to the relevant Portfolios or Other Accounts.

As of December 31, 2024, the Predecessor Portfolio's portfolio managers owned beneficially interests in the Predecessor Portfolios and Other Accounts as noted below.

Portfolio/Portfolio Manager	Market Value of Portfolio Shares*	Market Value of Other Accounts Shares*	Aggregate Market Value in Strategy
International Equity Advantage			
ETF Taras Ivanenko	\$10,001-\$50,000	None	\$10,001-\$50,000

Portfolio/Portfolio Manager	Market Value of Portfolio Shares*	Market Value of Other Accounts Shares*	Aggregate Market Value in Strategy
Peter Kashanek	None	None	None
Alex Lai	\$50,001-\$100,000	None	\$50,001-\$100,000
Kurt Livermore	None	None	None
Ciprian Marin	None	None	None
Paul Moghtader	None	None	None
Craig Scholl	\$100,001-\$500,000	None	\$100,001-\$500,000
Susanne Willumsen	None	None	None

^{*} A portion of the market value of Portfolio or Other Accounts shares shown as owned by a portfolio manager may include the value of amounts awarded under the deferred compensation arrangement described above under "—Compensation for Portfolio Managers" and allocated to the relevant Portfolio or Other Accounts.

Investment Manager and Management Agreement

The Investment Manager, located at 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, NY 10112-6300, has entered into a management agreement (the "Management Agreement") with the Trust on behalf of the Portfolios. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Investment Manager regularly provides each Portfolio with investment research, advice and supervision; furnishes continuously an investment program for each Portfolio consistent with its investment objective and policies, including the purchase, retention and disposition of securities; and renders certain administrative, operational and compliance assistances services.

The Investment Manager, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lazard, Inc. (collectively with the Investment Manager and its other affiliates, "Lazard"), is registered as an investment adviser with the SEC. The Investment Manager provides day-to-day management of the Portfolios' investments and assists in the overall management of the Trust's affairs. Its clients are both individuals and institutions, some of whose accounts have investment policies similar to those of several of the Portfolios.

The Trust and the Investment Manager each have adopted a Code of Ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act that permits its personnel, subject to such Code of Ethics, to invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by a Portfolio. The Codes of Ethics restrict the personal securities transactions of employees and require portfolio managers and other investment personnel to comply with the preclearance and disclosure procedures. The primary purpose of the Codes of Ethics is to ensure that personal trading by employees does not disadvantage any Portfolio.

Under the terms of the Management Agreement, the Investment Manager will pay the compensation of all personnel of the Trust under the unitary management fee structure (as described below). The Investment Manager will make available to the Portfolios such of the Investment Manager's members, officers and employees as are reasonably necessary for the operations of each Portfolio, or as may be duly elected officers or Trustees of the Trust. Under the Management Agreement, the Investment Manager also pays each Portfolio's office rent and provides investment advisory research and statistical facilities and all clerical services relating to research, statistical and investment work. The Investment Manager, including its employees who serve the Portfolios, may render investment advice, management and other services to other clients.

As compensation for its services, the Trust has agreed to pay the Investment Manager an investment management fee, accrued daily and payable monthly, at the annual rates set forth in the Prospectus.

The Portfolios paid no management fees as of the date of this SAI because, as of the end of the prior fiscal year, the Portfolios had not yet commenced operations.

The contractual management fees for each Portfolio as a percentage of the relevant Portfolio's average daily net assets are set forth below. The investment management fees are accrued daily and paid monthly.

	Investment Management
Portfolio	Fee Rate
Emerging Markets Opportunities ETF	.75%
Equity Megatrends ETF	.60%

International Dynamic Equity ETF	.40%
Japanese Equity ETF	.60%
Next Gen Technologies ETF	.60%

The Board of the Trust has approved a unitary management fee structure for each Portfolio. Under the unitary management fee structure, the Investment Manager will pay substantially all expenses of each Portfolio (including expenses of the Trust relating to each Portfolio), except for the fee payment under the investment management agreement, acquired fund fees and expenses, interest expense, offering costs, trading expenses, taxes and extraordinary expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Investment Manager has agreed to pay a portion of each Portfolio's offering costs during each Portfolio's first year of operations so that offering costs borne by the Portfolio do not amount to .01% of its average net assets. The offering costs to be borne by the Investment Manager are not subject to recoupment. The imposition of the Investment Manager's fees, as well as any other operating expenses not borne by the Investment Manager as described above, will have the effect of reducing the total return to investors. From time to time, the Investment Manager may waive receipt of its fees, which would have the effect of lowering each Portfolio's overall expense ratio and increasing total return to investors at the time such amounts are waived or assumed, as the case may be.

The Predecessor Portfolio pays an investment management fee at the annual rate of .65% of the value of the Predecessor Portfolio's average daily net assets, accrued daily and paid monthly. The Predecessor Portfolio's effective management fee for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 was .00%.

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024, the management fees payable by the Predecessor Portfolio, the amounts waived (and reimbursed), by the Investment Manager and the net fees paid to the Investment Manager were as follows:

Portfolio	Fee Payable For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022	Fee Payable For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023	Fee Payable For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2024		
International Equity Advantage Portfolio	\$16,734	\$22,096	\$143,469		
	Reduction in Fee For Fiscal Reduction in Fee For Fiscal Reduction in Fee For Fiscal				
	Year Ended December 31, 2022	Year Ended December 31, 2023	Year Ended December 31, 2024		
International Equity Advantage Portfolio	\$163,839	\$163,984	\$145,146		
	Net Fee Paid For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2022	Net Fee Paid For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023	Net Fee Paid For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2024		
International Equity Advantage Portfolio	\$(147,105)	\$(141,888)	\$(1,677)		

As to each Portfolio, the Management Agreement is subject to annual approval by (i) the Trust's Board or (ii) vote of a majority (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the outstanding voting securities of the relevant Portfolio, provided that in either event the continuance also is approved by a majority of the Independent Trustees of the Trust or the Investment Manager, by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval (subject to exceptions to "in person" meeting requirements under certain circumstances and subject to compliance with certain conditions). As to each Portfolio, the Management Agreement is terminable without penalty, on 60 days' notice, by the Trust's Board or by vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of such Portfolio, or, upon not less than 90 days' notice, by the Investment Manager. The Management Agreement will terminate automatically, as to the relevant Portfolio, in the event of its assignment (as defined in the 1940 Act). The Management Agreement

provides that in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence on the part of the Investment Manager, or of reckless disregard of its obligations thereunder, the Investment Manager shall not be liable for any action or failure to act in accordance with its duties thereunder.

Proxy Voting

The Board has delegated to the Investment Manager the authority to vote proxies of companies held in the Trust's portfolio.

The Investment Manager has adopted a Global Proxy Voting Policy, attached as Appendix B, which sets forth proxy voting guidelines applicable to specific types of common proxy proposals. Depending on the proposal, the applicable guideline may provide that the Investment Manager should vote for or against the proposal, or that the proposal should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

The Trust's proxy voting record for the most recent 12-month period ended June 30 is available (1) without charge, upon request, by calling (800) 823-6300 or (2) on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. Information as of June 30 each year will generally be available by the following August 31.

Administrator, Custodian and Transfer Agent

State Street Bank and Trust Company ("State Street"), located at One Iron Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210, provides certain administrative services to the Portfolios pursuant to an agreement with the Trust. Fees paid by the Investment Manager are based on a percentage of net assets plus additional charges for specific services and out-of-pocket expenses.

State Street also serves as the Trust's custodian (in such capacity, the "Custodian") and, among other things, maintains a custody account or accounts in the name of each Portfolio; receives and delivers all assets for each Portfolio upon purchase and upon sale or maturity; collects and receives all income and other payments and distributions on account of the assets of each Portfolio and disburses the Portfolio's assets in payment of its expenses. The custodian does not determine the investment policies of any Portfolio or decide which securities any Portfolio will buy or sell.

State Street (in such capacity, the "Transfer Agent") is the Trust's transfer and dividend disbursing agent. Under a transfer agency agreement with the Trust, the Transfer Agent acts as a transfer agent for each Portfolio's authorized and issued shares and as the dividend disbursing agent of the Trust. The Transfer Agent has undertaken with the Trust to provide the following services with respect to each Portfolio: (i) perform and facilitate the performance of purchases and redemptions of Creation Units, (ii) prepare and transmit by means of Depository Trust Company's ("DTC") book-entry system payments for dividends and distributions on or with respect to the Shares declared by the Trust on behalf of the Fund, (iii) prepare and deliver reports, information and documents as specified in the transfer agency agreement, (iv) perform the customary services of a transfer agent and dividend disbursing agent, and (v) render certain other miscellaneous services as specified in the transfer agency agreement or as otherwise agreed upon. As compensation for these services, the Transfer Agent receives certain out-of-pocket costs, transaction fees and asset-based fees which are accrued daily and paid monthly by the Investment Manager from its management fee.

Distributor

Foreside Fund Services, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Foreside Financial Group, LLC (dba ACA Group), Three Canal Plaza, Suite 100, Portland, Maine 04101, is the Distributor of Creation Units of each Portfolio. The Distributor or its agent continuously distributes Creation Units for each Portfolio on an agency basis. The Distributor does not maintain a secondary market in shares of the Portfolio. The Distributor has no role in determining the investment policies of the Portfolio or the securities that are purchased or sold by the Portfolio.

DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The NAV per share for each Portfolio is determined each day the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") is open for trading as of the close of regular trading on the NYSE (generally 4:00 p.m. Eastern time). The Fund will not treat an intraday unscheduled disruption in NYSE trading as a closure of the NYSE, and will price its shares as of

4:00 p.m., if the particular disruption directly affects only the NYSE. The NYSE is ordinarily closed on the following national holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Washington's Birthday, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth National Independence Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. The NAV per share is determined by dividing the value of the total assets of the Portfolio, less all liabilities, by the total number of Portfolio shares outstanding.

Equity securities traded on a securities exchange or market, including exchange-traded option contracts, rights and warrants, are valued at the last reported sales price (for US-listed equity securities) or the closing price (for non-US-listed equity securities) on the exchange or market on which the security is principally traded or, for securities trading on the Nasdaq, the Nasdaq Official Closing Price. If there is no available closing price for a non-US-listed equity security, the last reported sales price is used. If there are no reported sales of a security on the valuation date, the security is valued at the most recent quoted bid price on such date reported by such principal exchange or market. Futures contracts are valued at the settlement price on the exchange on which the contract is principally traded. Over-the-counter swap agreements are valued by an independent pricing service, and centrally-cleared swaps are valued at the last reported sale on the clearing exchange. Forward currency contracts generally are valued using quotations from an independent pricing service. Investments in money market funds are valued at the fund's net asset value per share.

Bonds and other fixed-income securities that are not exchange-traded are valued on the basis of prices provided by independent pricing services which are based on, among other things, trading in securities with similar characteristics, brokers' quotations and/or a matrix system which considers such factors as other security prices, yields and maturities.

Calculation of a Portfolio's net asset value may not take place contemporaneously with the determination of the prices of portfolio assets used in such calculation. Trading on certain non-US securities exchanges or markets, such as those in Europe and Asia, ordinarily may be completed before the close of business on each business day in New York (*i.e.*, a day on which the NYSE is open). In addition, securities trading in a particular non-US country or countries may not take place on all business days in New York and on which the net asset value of a Portfolio is calculated.

If a significant event materially affecting the value of securities occurs between the close of the exchange or market on which the security is principally traded and the time when a Portfolio's net asset value is calculated, when current market quotations otherwise are determined not to be readily available or reliable (including restricted or other illiquid securities such as certain derivative instruments), such securities are valued at their fair value as determined by, or in accordance with procedures approved by, the Board. The fair value of non-US securities may be determined with the assistance of an independent pricing service using correlations between the movement of prices of such securities and indices of US securities and other appropriate indicators, such as closing market prices of relevant ADRs or futures contracts. Certain non-US securities may trade on days when a Portfolio is not open for business, thus affecting the value of the Portfolio's assets on days when Portfolio shareholders may not be able to buy or sell Portfolio shares.

The Board has designated the Investment Manager to perform fair value determinations pursuant to Rule 2a-5 under the 1940 Act. The Investment Manager, which is subject to the oversight of the Board, may evaluate a variety of factors to determine the fair value of securities for which market quotations are determined not to be readily available or reliable. These factors include, but are not limited to, the type of security, the value of comparable securities, observations from financial institutions and relevant news events. Input from the Investment Manager's portfolio management team also will be considered.

The effect of using fair value pricing is that the net asset value of a Portfolio will reflect the affected securities' values as determined in the judgment of the Board or its designee instead of being determined by the market. Using a fair value pricing methodology to price securities may result in a value that is different from the most recent closing price of a security and from the prices used by other investment companies to calculate their portfolios' net asset values. The Investment Manager, consistent with its procedures and applicable regulatory guidance, may (but need not) determine to make an adjustment to the previous closing prices of either domestic or foreign securities in light of significant events, to reflect what it believes to be the fair value of the securities at the time of determining a Portfolio's NAV.

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS

General

Subject to the supervision of the Board, the Investment Manager is primarily responsible for the investment decisions and the placing of portfolio transactions for each Portfolio. In arranging for the Portfolios' securities transactions, the Investment Manager is primarily concerned with seeking best execution, which is considered to be the most favorable combination of price and quantity that can be traded at a point in time given, among other factors, the liquidity, market conditions, and required urgency of execution. In choosing broker-dealers, the Investment Manager considers all relevant factors, including but not limited to: the ability of a broker-dealer to provide a prompt and efficient agency execution; the ability and willingness of a broker-dealer to facilitate the transactions by acting as principal and going at risk for its own accounts; the ability of a broker-dealer to provide accurate and timely settlement of the transaction; the Investment Manager's knowledge of the negotiated commission rates currently available and other current transactions costs; the clearance and settlement capabilities of the broker; the Investment Manager's knowledge of the financial condition of the broker or dealer selected; and any other matter relevant to the selection of a broker-dealer.

In the over-the-counter market, securities are generally traded on a "net" basis with dealers acting as principal for their own accounts without a stated commission, although the price of the security usually includes a profit to the dealer. In underwritten offerings, securities are purchased at a fixed price that includes an amount of compensation to the underwriter, generally referred to as the underwriter's concession or discount.

To the extent consistent with applicable provisions of the 1940 Act and the rules adopted by the SEC thereunder, the Trust's Board has determined that securities transactions for a Portfolio may be executed through a broker-dealer that may be deemed to be an affiliate of the Investment Manager if, in the judgment of the Investment Manager, the use of the broker-dealer is likely to result in price and execution at least as favorable as those of other qualified brokers or dealers, and if, in the transaction, the broker-dealer charges the Portfolio a rate consistent with that charged to comparable unaffiliated customers in similar transactions.

Purchase and sale orders for securities held by a Portfolio may be combined with those for other Portfolios in the interest of the most favorable net results for all. In some cases, this policy may adversely affect the price paid or received by an account, or the size of the position obtained or liquidated. When the Investment Manager determines that a particular security should be bought for or sold by more than one Portfolio, the Investment Manager undertakes to allocate those transactions between the participants equitably.

To the extent creation or redemption transactions are conducted on a cash or "cash in lieu" basis, a Portfolio may contemporaneously transact with broker-dealers for the purchase or sale of portfolio securities in connection with such transactions. Such orders may be placed with an Authorized Participant in its capacity as broker-dealer, a broker-dealer that is affiliated with the Authorized Participant, or a third-party broker-dealer. Specifically, following a Portfolio's receipt of a creation or redemption order, to the extent such purchases or redemptions consist of a cash portion, the Portfolio may enter an order with the Authorized Participant, its affiliated broker-dealer or a third-party broker-dealer to purchase or sell the portfolio securities, as applicable. The executing broker-dealer will be required to guarantee that the Portfolio will achieve execution of its order at a price at least as favorable to the Portfolio as the Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities used for purposes of calculating the NAV applied to the creation or redemption transaction giving rise to the order in order to reduce transaction costs incurred as a consequence of settling creations or redemptions in cash rather than in-kind. Whether the execution of the order is at a price at least as favorable to the Portfolio will depend on the results achieved by the executing firm and will vary depending on market activity, timing and a variety of other factors.

An Authorized Participant is required to deposit an amount with a Portfolio in order to ensure that the execution of the order on the terms noted above will be honored on orders arising from creation transactions executed by an Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker-dealer. If the broker-dealer executing the order achieves executions in market transactions at a price equal to or more favorable than a Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities, the Portfolio receives the benefit of the favorable executions and the deposit is returned to the Authorized Participant. If, however, the broker-dealer executing the order is unable to achieve a price at least equal to a Portfolio's valuation of the securities, the Portfolio retains the portion of the deposit equal to the full amount of the

execution shortfall (including any taxes, brokerage commissions or other costs) and may require the Authorized Participant to deposit any additional amount required to cover the full amount of the actual execution transaction.

An Authorized Participant agrees to pay the shortfall amount in order to ensure that a guarantee on execution will be honored for brokerage orders arising from redemption transactions executed by an Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker-dealer. If the broker-dealer executing the order achieves executions in market transactions at a price equal to or more favorable than a Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities, the Portfolio receives the benefit of the favorable executions. If, however, the broker-dealer is unable to achieve executions in market transactions at a price at least equal to the Portfolio's valuation of the securities, the Portfolio will be entitled to the portion of the offset equal to the full amount of the execution shortfall (including any taxes, brokerage commissions or other costs).

Portfolio Turnover

The Portfolios generally do not invest for short-term trading purposes; however, when circumstances warrant, a Portfolio may sell investment securities without regard to the length of time they have been held. Market conditions in a given year could result in a higher or lower portfolio turnover rate than expected and the Portfolios will not consider portfolio turnover rate a limiting factor in making investment decisions consistent with their investment objectives and policies. Higher portfolio turnover (e.g., over 100%) necessarily will cause the Portfolios to pay correspondingly increased brokerage and trading costs. In addition to transaction costs, higher portfolio turnover may result in the realization of capital gains. As discussed under "Certain Material US Federal Income Tax Considerations," to the extent net short-term capital gains are realized, any distributions resulting from such gains are considered ordinary income for federal income tax purposes.

Regular Broker-Dealers

The Portfolio is required to identify any securities of its "regular brokers and dealers" (as such term is defined in the 1940 Act) that the Portfolio may hold at the close of its most recent fiscal year. "Regular brokers and dealers" of the Trust are the ten brokers or dealers that, during the most recent fiscal year: (i) received the greatest dollar amounts of brokerage commissions from the Trust's portfolio transactions; (ii) engaged as principal in the largest dollar amounts of portfolio transactions of the Trust; or (iii) sold the largest dollar amounts of the Trust's shares.

The Trust has not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI and therefore did not hold any securities of "regular broker dealers".

The Predecessor Portfolio held securities of their regular brokers or dealers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024:

Portfolio	Broker/Dealer	Value on December 31, 2024 (in \$000s)
International Equity Advantage Portfolio	Banco Santander SA	198.8
	Barclays PLC	222.9
	BNP Paribas SA	395.6
	Daiwa Securities Group, Inc.	122.3
	Deutsche Bank AG	230.7
	HSBC Holdings PLC	77.7
	Investec PLC	330.0
	KB Financial Group, Inc.	37.9
	NatWest Group PLC	409.5
	Royal Bank of Canada	68.4
	Societe Generale	88.4
	UBS	82.1

Research and Statistical Information

Consistent with the requirements of best execution, brokerage commissions on a Portfolio's transactions may be paid to brokers in recognition of investment research and information furnished as well as for brokerage and

execution services provided by such brokers. The Investment Manager may in its discretion cause accounts to pay such broker-dealers a commission for effecting a portfolio transaction in excess of the amount of commission another broker or dealer adequately qualified to effect such transaction would have charged for effecting that transaction. This may be done where the Investment Manager has determined in good faith that such commission is reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and/or research to that particular transaction or to the Investment Manager's overall responsibilities with respect to the accounts as to which it exercises investment discretion.

The Investment Manager receives a wide range of research (including proprietary research) and brokerage services from brokers. These services include information on the economy, industries, groups of securities, and individual companies; statistical information; technical market action, pricing and appraisal services; portfolio management computer services (including trading and settlement systems); risk management analysis; and performance analysis. Broker-dealers may also supply market quotations to the Trust's custodian for valuation purposes.

Any research received in respect of a Portfolio's brokerage commission may be useful to the Portfolio, but also may be useful in the management of the account of another client of the Investment Manager. Similarly, the research received for the commissions of such other client may be useful for the Portfolio.

Brokerage Commissions

As of the date of this SAI, there were no brokerage commissions because the Portfolios had not yet commenced operations.

In connection with its portfolio securities transactions for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Predecessor Portfolio paid brokerage commissions, none of which were paid to Lazard, of \$1,838, \$17,376 and \$28,622, respectively.

The aggregate amount of transactions for the Predecessor Portfolio during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 in securities effected on an agency basis through a broker for, among other things, research services, and the commissions related to such transactions was \$10,235.

The variance in commissions paid in fiscal year 2023 as compared to fiscal year 2022 was primarily due to an increase in trading activity. The variance in commissions paid in fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023 was primarily due to an increase in trading activity.

DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

Each Portfolio's holdings are publicly disseminated each day the Portfolio is open for business through financial reporting and news services, including publicly accessible Internet web sites. In addition, a basket composition file, which includes the security names and share quantities to deliver in exchange for Creation Units, together with estimates and actual cash components is publicly disseminated daily prior to the opening of the Exchange via the National Securities Clearing Corporation (the "NSCC"), a clearing agency that is registered with the SEC. The basket represents one Creation Unit of the Portfolio. The Trust, Investment Manager, Custodian and Distributor will not disseminate non-public information concerning the Trust.

The Trust provides a complete schedule of portfolio holdings for the second and fourth fiscal quarters in its Form N-CSR, and for the first and third fiscal quarters in its filings with the SEC as an exhibit to FormN-PORT. The Portfolios' holdings are available on the Portfolios' public website, https://lazardassetmanagement.com/us/en_us/investment-solutions/how-to-invest/etfs.

Portfolio Characteristics

Concurrent with or subsequent to the daily public disclosure of portfolio holdings, from time to time the Trust may make available certain unpublished portfolio characteristics (aggregated, statistical-type information that is not security-specific) including but without limitation allocations, performance- and risk-related statistics, portfolio-level statistics and non-security specific attribution analyses, to parties who request it. Such information is provided when the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer reasonably believes that the disclosure of such information would not present material risks of inappropriate arbitrage, market timing, insider trading or other prohibited trading with respect to a Portfolio. Such information, if provided, will be made available to any person upon request.

BOOK ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The following information supplements and should be read in conjunction with the section in each Portfolio's Prospectus entitled "Shareholder Information—Book Entry."

DTC acts as securities depositary for the shares. Shares of the Portfolios are represented by securities registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC. Certificates will not be issued for shares.

DTC, a limited-purpose trust company, was created to hold securities of its participants (the "DTC Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among the DTC Participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of the DTC Participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations, some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC. More specifically, DTC is owned by a number of its DTC Participants and by the NYSE and FINRA. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly (the "Indirect Participants").

Beneficial ownership of shares is limited to DTC Participants, Indirect Participants and persons holding interests through DTC Participants and Indirect Participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in shares (owners of such beneficial interests are referred to herein as "Beneficial Owners") is shown on, and the transfer of ownership is effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to DTC Participants) and on the records of DTC Participants (with respect to Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners that are not DTC Participants). Beneficial Owners will receive from or through the DTC Participant a written confirmation relating to their purchase of shares.

Conveyance of all notices, statements and other communications to Beneficial Owners is effected as follows. Pursuant to the depositary agreement between the Trust and DTC, DTC is required to make available to the Trust upon request and for a fee to be charged to the Trust a listing of the shares holdings of each DTC Participant. The Trust shall inquire of each such DTC Participant as to the number of Beneficial Owners holding shares, directly or indirectly, through such DTC Participant. The Trust shall provide each such DTC Participant with copies of such notice, statement or other communication, in such form, number and at such place as such DTC Participant may reasonably request, in order that such notice, statement or communication may be transmitted by such DTC Participant, directly or indirectly, to such Beneficial Owners. In addition, the Trust shall pay to each such DTC Participant a fair and reasonable amount as reimbursement for the expenses attendant to such transmittal, all subject to applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

Share distributions shall be made to DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as the registered holder of all shares. DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any such distributions, shall credit immediately DTC Participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in shares as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. Payments by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners of shares held through such DTC Participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in a "street name," and will be the responsibility of such DTC Participants.

The Trust has no responsibility or liability for any aspects of the records relating to or notices to Beneficial Owners, or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in such shares, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests or for any other aspect of the relationship between DTC and the DTC Participants or the relationship between such DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners owning through such DTC Participants.

DTC may determine to discontinue providing its service with respect to the shares at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Trust and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto under applicable law. Under such circumstances, the Trust shall take action either to find a replacement for DTC to perform its functions at a comparable cost or, if such a replacement is unavailable, to issue and deliver printed certificates representing ownership of shares, unless the Trust makes other arrangements with respect thereto satisfactory to the Exchange.

CREATIONS AND REDEMPTIONS OF SHARES

The Trust issues and sells shares of each Portfolio only in Creation Units, generally in exchange for cash and/or a basket of securities and/or instruments (the "Deposit Securities") together with a deposit of a specified cash payment (the "Cash Component"), if any, on a continuous basis through the Distributor, without a sales load, at the NAV next determined after receipt of an order in proper form as described in the Participant Agreement (as defined below), on any Business Day (as defined below).

A transaction fee may be imposed for the transfer and other transaction costs associated with the purchase or redemption of Creation Units, as applicable. Authorized Participants may be required to pay a fixed creation transaction fee and/or a fixed redemption transaction fee, as applicable, on a given day regardless of the number of Creation Units created or redeemed on that day. The Portfolios may adjust the transaction fee from time to time, and a Portfolio may waive all or a portion of its applicable transaction fee. An additional charge or a variable charge will be applied to certain creation and redemption transactions, including non-standard orders and whole or partial cash purchases or redemptions. Specifically, a Portfolio may charge an additional variable fee for creations and redemptions in cash to offset brokerage and other impact expenses associated with the cash transaction. With respect to creation orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of transferring the securities constituting the Deposit Instruments to the account of the Trust and with respect to redemption orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of transferring the securities received on redemption from the Trust to their account or on their order. Investors who use the services of a broker or other such intermediary may also be charged a fee for such services.

In its discretion, the Investment Manager reserves the right to increase or decrease the number of a Portfolio's shares that constitute a Creation Unit. The Board reserves the right to declare a split or a consolidation in the number of shares outstanding of a Portfolio, and to make a corresponding change in the number of shares constituting a Creation Unit, in the event that the per share price in the secondary market rises (or declines) to an amount that falls outside the range deemed desirable by the Board.

A "Business Day" with respect to the Portfolios is each day the New York Stock Exchange, the Exchange and the Trust are open, including any day that a Portfolio is required to be open under Section 22(e) of the 1940 Act, which excludes weekends and the following holidays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth National Independence Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. Orders from large institutional investors who have entered into agreements with the Portfolios' Distributor to create or redeem Creation Units will only be accepted on a Business Day.

The time at which transactions and shares are priced and the time by which orders must be received may be changed in case of an emergency or if regular trading on the NYSE is stopped at a time other than its regularly scheduled closing time. The Trust reserves the right to reprocess creation and redemption transactions that were initially processed at a NAV other than a Portfolio's official closing NAV (as each may be subsequently adjusted), and to recover amounts from (or distribute amounts to) Authorized Participants based on the official closing NAV. The Trust reserves the right to advance the time by which creation and redemption orders must be received for same business day credit as otherwise permitted by the SEC.

Portfolio Deposit

The consideration for purchase of Creation Units may consist of Deposit Securities and/or the Cash Component. Together, the Deposit Securities and Cash Component constitute the "Portfolio Deposit," which represents the minimum initial and subsequent investment amount for a Creation Unit of the Portfolio. The portfolio of securities required may be different than the portfolio of securities such Portfolio will deliver upon redemption of Portfolio shares.

The function of the Cash Component is to compensate for any differences between the NAV per Creation Unit and the Deposit Amount (as defined below). The Cash Component would be an amount equal to the difference between the NAV of the shares (per Creation Unit) and the "Deposit Amount," which is an amount equal to the market value of the Deposit Securities. If the Cash Component is a positive number (the NAV per Creation Unit exceeds the Deposit Amount), the Authorized Participant will deliver the Cash Component. If the Cash Component is a negative number (the NAV per Creation Unit is less than the Deposit Amount), the Authorized Participant will receive the Cash Component. Computation of the Cash Component excludes any stamp duty or other similar fees and expenses

payable upon transfer of beneficial ownership of the Deposit Securities, which shall be the sole responsibility of the Authorized Participant. The Cash Component may also include a "Dividend Equivalent Payment," which enables each Portfolio to make a complete distribution of dividends on the next dividend payment date, and is an amount equal, on a per Creation Unit basis, to the dividends on all the securities held by the Portfolio with exdividend dates within the accumulation period for such distribution (the "Accumulation Period"), net of expenses and liabilities for such period, as if all of the securities had been held by the Trust for the entire Accumulation Period. The Accumulation Period begins on the ex-dividend date for each Portfolio and ends on the next ex-dividend date.

The Custodian, through the NSCC, makes available on each Business Day, prior to the opening of business on the Exchange (currently 9:30 a.m., Eastern time), the identity and the required number or amount of each Deposit Security and the amount of the Cash Component (or cash deposit) to be included in the current Portfolio Deposit (based on information at the end of the previous Business Day). Such Portfolio Deposit is applicable, subject to any adjustments, as described below, in order to effect purchases of Creation Units of that Portfolio until such time as the next-announced composition of the Portfolio Deposit is made available.

Procedures of Creating Creation Units

To be eligible to place orders with the Distributor and to create a Creation Unit of a Portfolio, an entity must be a member or participant of a clearing agency registered with the SEC, which has a written agreement with the Trust or one of its service providers that allows the Authorized Participant to place orders for the purchase and redemption of Creation Units (a "Participant Agreement"). All shares of the Portfolios, however created, will be entered on the records of DTC in the name of its nominee for the account of a DTC Participant.

Except as described below, and in all cases subject to the terms of the applicable Participant Agreement, all orders to create Creation Units of a Portfolio must be received by the Transfer Agent no later than the closing time of the regular trading session of the Exchange ("Order Cutoff Time") (ordinarily 4:00 p.m., Eastern time) in each case on the date such order is placed for creation of Creation Units to be effected based on the NAV of shares of such Portfolio as next determined after receipt of an order in proper form. A "Custom Order" may be placed by an Authorized Participant in the event that a Portfolio accepts (or delivers, in the case of a redemption) a basket of securities and/or cash that differs from a basket of Deposit Securities and/or cash published or transacted on a Business Day (discussed below). Custom Orders must be received by the Transfer Agent at such earlier time as provided in the Participant Agreement and/or applicable order form. On days when the Exchange closes earlier than normal (such as the day before a holiday), the Portfolio requires standard orders to create Creation Units to be placed by the earlier closing time and Custom Orders to create Creation Units must be received no later than one hour prior to the earlier closing time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust may, but is not required to, permit Custom Orders until 4:00 p.m., Eastern time, or until the market close (in the event the Exchange closes early). The date on which an order to create Creation Units (or an order to redeem Creation Units, as discussed below) is placed is referred to as the "Transmittal Date." Orders must be transmitted by an Authorized Participant through the Transfer Agent's electronic order system or by telephone or other transmission method acceptable to the Transfer Agent and approved by the Distributor pursuant to procedures set forth in the Participant Agreement. Economic or market disruptions or changes, or telephone or other communication failure may impede the ability to reach the Transfer Agent, Distributor or an Authorized Participant.

All investor orders to create Creation Units shall be placed with an Authorized Participant in the form required by such Authorized Participant. In addition, an Authorized Participant may request that an investor make certain representations or enter into agreements with respect to an order (to provide for payments of cash). Investors should be aware that their particular broker may not have executed a Participant Agreement and, therefore, orders to create Creation Units of a Portfolio will have to be placed by the investor's broker through an Authorized Participant. In such cases, there may be additional charges to such investor. A limited number of broker-dealers are expected to execute a Participant Agreement and only certain of such Authorized Participants are expected to have international capabilities.

Creation Units may be created in advance of the receipt by the Trust of all or a portion of the Portfolio Deposit. In such cases, the Authorized Participant will remain liable for the full deposit of the missing portion(s) of the Portfolio Deposit and will be required to post collateral with the Trust consisting of cash at least equal to a percentage of the marked to market value of such missing portion(s) that is specified in the Participant Agreement. The Trust may use such collateral to buy the missing portion(s) of the Portfolio Deposit at any time and will subject such Authorized

Participant to liability for any shortfall between the cost to the Trust of purchasing such securities and the value of such collateral. The Trust will have no liability for any such shortfall. The Trust will return any unused portion of the collateral to the Authorized Participant once the entire Portfolio Deposit has been properly received by the Transfer Agent and deposited into the Trust.

Orders for Creation Units that are affected outside the clearing process through the Continuous Net Settlement System of the NSCC (the "Clearing Process") are likely to require transmittal by the DTC Participant earlier on the Transmittal Date than orders effected using the Clearing Process. Those persons placing orders outside the Clearing Process should ascertain the deadlines applicable to DTC and the Federal Reserve Bank wire system by contacting the operations department of the broker or depository institution effectuating such transfer of Deposit Securities and Cash Component.

Acceptance of Creation Orders

The Trust and the Distributor reserve the right to reject a creation order transmitted to it by the Transfer Agent, for any reason, provided that such action does not result in a suspension of sales of Creation Units in contravention of Rule 6c-11 and the SEC's positions thereunder. For example, a Portfolio may reject or revoke acceptance of a creation order when: (a) the order is not in proper form; (b) the creator or creators, upon obtaining the shares, would own 80% or more of the currently outstanding shares of a Portfolio; (c) the Deposit Securities delivered are not as specified by the Administrator, as described above; (d) the acceptance of the Portfolio Deposit would, in the opinion of counsel, be unlawful; or (e) in the event that circumstances outside the control of the Trust, the Distributor and the Investment Manager make it for all practical purposes impossible to process creation orders. Examples of such circumstances include, without limitation, acts of God or public service or utility problems such as earthquakes, fires, floods, extreme weather conditions and power outages resulting in telephone, telecopy and computer failures; wars; civil or military disturbances, including acts of civil or military authority or governmental actions; terrorism; sabotage; epidemics; riots; labor disputes; market conditions or activities causing trading halts; systems failures involving computer or other information systems affecting the Trust, the Investment Manager, the Distributor, DTC, the NSCC or any other participant in the creation process, and similar extraordinary events. The Transfer Agent will notify an Authorized Participant if an order is rejected. The Trust, the Custodian, any sub-custodian, the Distributor and the Transfer Agent are under no duty, however, to give notification of any defects or irregularities in the delivery of Portfolio Deposits to Authorized Participants nor shall any of them incur any liability to Authorized Participants for the failure to give any such notification. All questions as to the amounts of the Deposit Securities and the validity, form, eligibility and acceptance for deposit of any securities to be delivered shall be determined by the Trust, and the Trust's determination shall be final and binding.

Portfolio Trading by Authorized Participants

When creation or redemption transactions consist of cash, the transactions may require the Portfolio to contemporaneously transact with broker-dealers for purchases or sales of portfolio securities, as applicable. Depending on the timing of the transactions and certain other factors, such transactions may be placed with the purchasing or redeeming Authorized Participant in its capacity as a broker-dealer or with its affiliated broker-dealer and conditioned upon an agreement with the Authorized Participant or its affiliated broker-dealer to transact at guaranteed prices in order to reduce transaction costs incurred as a consequence of settling creations or redemptions in cash rather than in-kind. Specifically, following the Portfolio's receipt of a creation or redemption order, to the extent such purchases or redemptions consist of a cash portion, the Portfolio may enter an order with the Authorized Participant or its affiliated broker-dealer to purchase or sell the portfolio securities, as applicable. Such Authorized Participant or its affiliated broker-dealer will be required to guarantee that the Portfolio will achieve execution of its order at a price at least as favorable to the Portfolio as the Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities used for purposes of calculating the NAV applied to the creation or redemption transaction giving rise to the order. Whether the execution of the order is at a price at least as favorable to the Portfolio will depend on the results achieved by the executing firm and will vary depending on market activity, timing, and a variety of other factors. An Authorized Participant is required to deposit an amount with the Portfolio in order to ensure that the execution of the order on the terms noted above will be honored on orders arising from creation transactions executed by an Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker-dealer. If the broker-dealer executing the order achieves executions in market transactions at a price equal to or more favorable than the Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities, the Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker dealer receives the benefit of the favorable executions and the deposit is returned to the Authorized Participant. If, however, the broker-dealer executing the order is unable to achieve a

price at least equal to the Portfolio's valuation of the securities, the Portfolio retains the portion of the deposit equal to the full amount of the execution shortfall (including any taxes, brokerage commissions or other costs) and may require the Authorized Participant to deposit any additional amount required to cover the full amount of the actual execution transaction.

An Authorized Participant agrees to pay the shortfall amount in order to ensure that a guarantee on execution will be honored for brokerage orders arising from redemption transactions executed by an Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker-dealer. If the broker-dealer executing the order achieves executions in market transactions at a price equal to or more favorable than the Portfolio's valuation of the portfolio securities, the Authorized Participant or its affiliate as broker dealer receives the benefit of the favorable executions. If, however, the broker-dealer is unable to achieve executions in market transactions at a price at least equal to the Portfolio's valuation of the securities, the Portfolio will be entitled to the portion of the offset equal to the full amount of the execution shortfall (including any taxes, brokerage commissions, or other costs).

Redemption of Creation Units

Shares may be redeemed only in Creation Units at their NAV next determined after receipt of a redemption request in proper form on a Business Day and only through a Participating Party or DTC Participant who has executed a Participant Agreement. The Portfolios will not redeem shares in amounts less than Creation Units (except each Portfolio may redeem shares in amounts less than a Creation Unit in the event the Portfolio is being liquidated). Beneficial owners must accumulate enough shares in the secondary market to constitute a Creation Unit in order to have such shares redeemed by the Trust. There can be no assurance, however, that there will be sufficient liquidity in the public trading market at any time to permit assembly of a Creation Unit. Authorized Participants should expect to incur brokerage and other costs in connection with assembling a sufficient number of shares to constitute a redeemable Creation Unit. All redemptions are subject to the procedures contained in the applicable Participant Agreement.

With respect to a Portfolio, the Custodian, through the NSCC, makes available prior to the opening of business on the Exchange (currently 9:30 a.m., Eastern time) on each Business Day, the identity and number or amount of each Portfolio's securities ("Portfolio Securities") and/or an amount of cash that will be applicable (subject to possible amendment or correction) to redemption requests received in proper form (as described below) on that day. All orders are subject to acceptance by the Distributor. Portfolio Securities received on redemption may not be identical to Deposit Securities that are applicable to creations of Creation Units.

Unless cash-only redemptions are available or specified for a Portfolio, the redemption proceeds for a Creation Unit will generally consist of Portfolio Securities – as published on the Business Day of the request for a redemption order received in proper form – plus cash in an amount equal to the difference between the NAV of the shares being redeemed, as next determined after a receipt of a request in proper form, and the value of the Portfolio Securities, less the redemption transaction fee and variable fees described below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust reserves the right to deliver a basket of securities and/or cash that differs from a basket of Portfolio Securities and/or cash published or transacted on a Business Day, or to substitute an amount of cash (a "cash-in-lieu" amount) to be added to the Cash Component to replace any Portfolio Security. Where "cash-in-lieu" is used, the amount of cash paid out in such cases will be equivalent to the value of the instrument listed as a Deposit Security. In the event that the Portfolio Securities have a value greater than the NAV of the shares, a compensating cash payment equal to the difference is required to be made by an Authorized Participant.

Redemptions of shares for Portfolio Securities will be subject to compliance with applicable US federal and state securities laws, and each Portfolio reserves the right to redeem Creation Units for cash to the extent that the Trust could not lawfully deliver specific Portfolio Securities upon redemptions or could not do so without first registering the Portfolio Securities under such laws. An Authorized Participant, or a beneficial owner of shares for which it is acting, subject to a legal restriction with respect to a particular security included in the redemption of a Creation Unit may be paid an equivalent amount of cash. This would specifically prohibit delivery of Portfolio Securities that are not registered in reliance upon Rule 144A under the 1933 Act to a redeeming beneficial owner of shares that is not a "qualified institutional buyer," as such term is defined under Rule 144A of the 1933 Act. The Authorized Participant may request the redeeming beneficial owner of the shares to complete an order form or to enter into agreements with respect to such matters as compensating cash payment.

The right of redemption may be suspended or the date of payment postponed with respect to a Portfolio: (i) for any period during which the NYSE is closed (other than customary weekend and holiday closings); (ii) for any period during which trading on the NYSE is suspended or restricted; (iii) for any period during which an emergency exists as a result of which disposal by the Portfolio of securities it owns or determination of the Portfolio's NAV is not reasonably practicable; or (iv) in such other circumstances as permitted by the SEC.

If the Trust determines, based on information available to the Trust when a redemption request is submitted by an Authorized Participant, that (i) the short interest of a Portfolio in the marketplace is greater than or equal to 100% and (ii) the orders in the aggregate from all Authorized Participants redeeming Portfolio shares on a Business Day represent 25% or more of the outstanding shares of the Portfolio, such Authorized Participant will be required to verify to the Trust the accuracy of its representations that are deemed to have been made by submitting a request for redemption. If, after receiving notice of the verification requirement, the Authorized Participant does not verify the accuracy of its representations that are deemed to have been made by submitting a request for redemption in accordance with this requirement, its redemption request will be considered not to have been received in proper form.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

For Lazard Equity Megatrends ETF and Lazard Next Gen Technologies ETF, income dividends, if any, are anticipated to be paid quarterly. For all other Portfolios, income dividends are anticipated to be paid semi-annually. Net capital gains, if any, are normally distributed annually but may be distributed more frequently.

Any dividend or distribution paid shortly after an investor's purchase of a Portfolio's shares may have the effect of reducing the aggregate NAV of the shares below the cost of the investment ("buying a dividend"), and such a dividend or distribution would be a return of capital in an economic sense, although taxable as stated in the Prospectus and this SAI. This is sometimes referred to as "buying a dividend."

With respect to all of the Portfolios, net realized capital gains, if any, will be distributed at least annually, and may be declared and paid more frequently.

Each Portfolio within the Trust is treated as a separate entity (and hence, as a separate "regulated investment company") for federal tax purposes. Any net capital gains recognized by a Portfolio are distributed to its investors without need to offset (for federal income tax purposes) such gains against any net capital losses of another Portfolio.

Undistributed net investment income is included in a Portfolio's net assets for the purpose of calculating NAV. Therefore, on the ex-dividend date, the NAV excludes the dividend (*i.e.*, is reduced by the per share amount of the dividend). Dividends paid shortly after the purchase of shares by an investor, although in effect a return of capital, are taxable as ordinary income.

Certain mortgage securities may provide for periodic or unscheduled payments of principal and interest as the mortgages underlying the securities are paid or prepaid. However, such principal payments (not otherwise characterized as original issue discount or bond premium expense) will not normally be considered as income to a Portfolio and therefore will not be distributed as dividends. Rather, these payments on MBS will be reinvested on your behalf by a Portfolio.

Dividend Reinvestment Service

No reinvestment service is provided by the Trust. Broker-dealers may make available the DTC book-entry dividend reinvestment service for use by beneficial owners of the Portfolios through DTC participants for reinvestment of their dividend distributions. If this service is used, dividend distributions of both income and realized gains will be automatically reinvested in additional whole shares of the Portfolios. Beneficial owners should contact their broker to determine the availability and costs of the service and the details of participation therein. Brokers may require beneficial owners to adhere to specific procedures and timetables. Distributions reinvested in additional shares of the Portfolios will nevertheless be taxable to Beneficial Owners acquiring such additional shares to the same extent as if such distributions had been received in cash.

Inactive Accounts and Potential Risk of Escheatment

In accordance with state "unclaimed property" laws, a shareholder's Portfolio shares may legally be considered abandoned and required to be transferred to the relevant state (also known as "escheatment") under certain circumstances. These circumstances, which vary by state, can include inactivity (e.g., no owner-initiated contact for a certain period), returned mail (e.g., when mail sent to a shareholder is returned by the post office as undeliverable), uncashed checks or a combination of these. An incorrect address may cause a shareholder's account statements and other mailings to be returned to the Portfolio or your financial intermediary. Since states' statutory requirements regarding inactivity differ, it is important to regularly contact your financial intermediary or the Portfolio's transfer agent. The process described above, and the application of state escheatment laws, may vary by state and/or depending on how shareholders hold their shares in the Portfolio. Escheatment with respect to a retirement account is subject to a 10% federal withholding on the account.

It is the shareholder's responsibility to ensure that such shareholder maintain a valid mailing address for his or her account, keep his or her account active by contacting his or her financial intermediary or the Portfolio's transfer agent (e.g., by mail or telephone), and promptly cash all checks for dividends,

CERTAIN MATERIAL US FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion is a general summary of certain material US federal income tax considerations applicable to a Portfolio and its shareholders, including each Portfolio's qualification and taxation as a RIC for US federal income tax purposes under Subchapter M of the Code and to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of a Portfolio's shares.

This discussion does not purport to be a complete description of all of the tax considerations applicable to the Portfolios or their shareholders. In particular, this discussion does not address certain considerations that may be relevant to certain types of shareholders subject to special treatment under US federal income tax laws, including shareholders subject to the alternative minimum tax, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, shareholders that are treated as partnerships for US federal income tax purposes, dealers in securities, traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for securities holdings, pension plans and trusts, REITs, other RICs, banks and other financial institutions, persons who hold Portfolio shares as part of a straddle or a hedging or conversion transaction and US shareholders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the US dollar, non-US shareholders (as defined below) engaged in a trade or business in the United States, persons who have ceased to be US citizens or to be taxed as residents of the United States, controlled foreign corporations ("CFC"), and passive foreign investment companies ("PFICs"). This discussion is limited to shareholders that hold a Portfolio's shares as capital assets (within the meaning of the Code) for US federal income tax purposes and does not address owners of a shareholder. This discussion does not discuss any aspects of US estate or gift tax or non-US, state or local tax laws nor does it discuss the special treatment under US federal income tax laws that could result if a Portfolio invests in tax-exempt securities or certain other investment assets. This discussion is based upon the Code, its legislative history, existing and proposed Treasury regulations, published rulings and court decisions, each as of the date of this SAI and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations, possibly retroactively, which could affect the continuing validity of this discussion. No Portfolio has sought, and no Portfolio will seek any ruling from the US Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") regarding any matter discussed herein, and this discussion is not binding on the IRS. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS would not assert, and that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax consequences discussed herein.

For the purposes of this discussion, a "US shareholder" is a beneficial owner of a Portfolio's shares that is for US federal income tax purposes:

- an individual who is a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for US federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia;
- a trust, if a court within the United States has primary supervision over its administration and one or more
 US persons (as defined in the Code) have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions, or the trust
 has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a domestic trust for US
 federal income tax purposes; or

an estate, the income of which is subject to US federal income taxation regardless of its source.

For the purposes of this discussion, a "non-US shareholder" is a beneficial owner of a Portfolio's shares that is neither a US shareholder nor an entity treated as a partnership for US federal income tax purposes.

If a partnership (including an entity treated as a partnership for US federal income tax purposes) holds a Portfolio's shares, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Beneficial owners of a Portfolio's shares that are partnerships or partners in such partnerships should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the ownership and disposition of such Portfolio's shares.

Tax matters are complicated and the tax consequences to a shareholder of an investment in a Portfolio's shares will depend on the facts of such shareholder's particular situation. Shareholders are strongly encouraged to consult their own tax advisor regarding the US federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of a Portfolio's shares, as well as the effect of state, local and foreign tax laws, and the effect of any possible changes in tax laws.

Taxation of the Portfolios

Each Portfolio intends to elect to be treated as and intends to continue to qualify in each taxable year as, a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. To qualify as a RIC, a Portfolio must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements (as described below). As a RIC, a Portfolio will not pay corporate-level US federal income taxes on any net ordinary income or capital gains that the Portfolio timely distributes (or is deemed to timely distribute) to its shareholders as dividends. Instead, dividends a Portfolio distributes (or is deemed to timely distribute) generally will be taxable to shareholders, and any net operating losses, foreign tax credits and most other tax attributes generally will not pass through to shareholders. A Portfolio will be subject to US federal corporate-level income tax on any undistributed income and gains.

To qualify as a RIC for US federal income tax purposes, a Portfolio generally must, among other things:

- > maintain an election and qualify as a registered management company under the 1940 Act at all times during each taxable year;
- ➤ derive in each taxable year at least 90% of the Portfolio's gross income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, gains from the sale of stock, other securities, foreign currencies or other income (including certain deemed inclusions) derived with respect to the Portfolio's business of investing in such stock, securities or currencies, or (b) net income derived from the Portfolio's interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership ("QPTP") (collectively, the "90% Gross Income Test");
- > diversify the Portfolio's holdings so that at the end of each quarter of the taxable year:
 - at least 50% of the value of the Portfolio's assets consists of cash, cash equivalents, US government securities, securities of other RICs and other securities that, with respect to any issuer, do not represent more than 5% of the value of the Portfolio's assets or more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of that issuer; and
 - no more than 25% of the value of the Portfolio's assets is invested in the securities, other than US government securities or securities of other RICs, of (i) one issuer; (ii) two or more issuers that are controlled, as determined under applicable tax rules, by such Portfolio and that are engaged in the same or similar or related trades or businesses; or (iii) securities of one or more QPTPs (collectively, the "Diversification Tests").

For the purpose of determining whether a Portfolio satisfies the 90% Gross Income Test and the Diversification Tests, the character of the Portfolio's distributive share of items of income, gain, losses, deductions and credits derived through any investments in companies that are treated as partnerships for US federal income tax purposes (other than certain publicly traded partnerships), or are otherwise treated as disregarded from the Portfolio for US federal income tax purposes, generally will be determined as if the Portfolio realized these tax items directly. Further, future Treasury regulations could provide that qualifying income under the 90% Gross Income Test will not

include gains from foreign currency transactions that are not directly related to a Portfolio's principal business of investing in stock or securities or options and futures with respect to stock or securities.

For purposes of calculating the value of a Portfolio's investment in the securities of an issuer for purposes of determining the 25% requirement of the Diversification Tests, the Portfolio's proper proportion of any investment in the securities of that issuer that are held by a member of the Portfolio's "controlled group" must be aggregated with the Portfolio's investment in that issuer. A controlled group is one or more chains of corporations connected through stock ownership with the Portfolio if (a) at least 20% of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting stock of each of the corporations is owned directly by one or more of the other corporations, and (b) the Portfolio directly owns at least 20% or more of the combined voting stock of at least one of the other corporations.

In addition, to maintain RIC tax treatment, a Portfolio must distribute with respect to each taxable year at least 90% of the sum of the Portfolio's investment company taxable income (which generally is the Portfolio's net ordinary taxable income and realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction) plus 90% of the excess of its gross tax-exempt interest income (if any) over certain disallowed deductions (the "Annual Distribution Requirement") for any taxable year. If a Portfolio qualifies as a RIC and satisfies the Annual Distribution Requirement, the Portfolio generally will not be subject to US federal income tax on its "investment company taxable income" and net capital gains (that is, the excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital losses) that it distributes as dividends to Shareholders (including amounts that are reinvested). Any taxable income, including any net capital gains, that a Portfolio does not distribute in a timely manner, will be subject to US federal income tax at the regular corporate rate.

If a Portfolio fails to distribute in a timely manner an amount at least equal to the sum of (1) 98% of its ordinary income for the calendar year, (2) 98.2% of its net capital gain income (both long-term and short-term) for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (3) 100% of any ordinary income and net capital gains recognized, but not distributed, in the preceding years (to the extent that income tax was not imposed on such amounts) less certain over-distributions in prior years (together, the "Excise Tax Distribution Requirements"), the Portfolio will be subject to a 4% nondeductible federal excise tax on the portion of the undistributed amounts of such income that are less than the amounts required to be distributed based on the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements. For this purpose, however, any ordinary income or capital gain net income retained by a Portfolio that is subject to corporate income tax for the tax year ending in that calendar year will be considered to have been distributed by year end (or earlier if estimated taxes are paid). Each Portfolio currently intends to make sufficient distributions each taxable year to satisfy the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements.

A Portfolio may have investments that require income to be included in investment company taxable income in a year prior to the year in which the Portfolio actually receives a corresponding amount of cash in respect of such income. For example, if a Portfolio holds corporate stock with respect to which Section 305 of the Code requires inclusion in income of amounts of deemed dividends even if no cash distribution is made, the Portfolio must include in its taxable income in each year the full amount of its applicable share of the Portfolio's allocable share of these deemed dividends. Additionally, if a Portfolio holds debt obligations that are treated under applicable US federal income tax rules as having original issue discount (such as debt instruments with "payment in kind" interest or, in certain cases, that have increasing interest rates or are issued with warrants), the Portfolio must include in its taxable income in each year a portion of the original issue discount that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether the Portfolio receives cash representing such income in the same taxable year. A Portfolio may also have to include in its taxable income other amounts that the Portfolio has not yet received in cash, such as accruals on a contingent payment debt instrument, deemed dividends with respect to certain conversion ratio adjustments relating to convertible debt or deferred loan origination fees that are paid after origination of the loan or are paid in non-cash compensation such as warrants or stock.

A RIC is limited in its ability to deduct expenses in excess of its investment company taxable income. If a Portfolio's deductible expenses in a given year exceed its investment company taxable income, the Portfolio will have a net operating loss for that year. A RIC is not able to offset its investment company taxable income with net operating losses on either a carryforward or carryback basis, and net operating losses generally will not pass through to shareholders. In addition, expenses may be used only to offset investment company taxable income and may not

be used to offset net capital gain. A RIC may not use any net capital losses (*i.e.*, realized capital losses in excess of realized capital gains) to offset its investment company taxable income but may carry forward those losses, and use them to offset future capital gains, indefinitely. These amounts are available to be carried forward to offset future capital gains to the extent permitted by the Code and applicable tax regulations. Any such carryforward losses will retain their character as short-term or long-term. If a Portfolio were to experience an ownership change as defined under the Code, the capital loss carryforwards and other favorable tax attributes of the Portfolio, if any, may be subject to limitation. Further, a RIC's deduction of net business interest expense is limited to 30% of its "adjusted taxable income" plus "floor plan financing interest expense." It is not expected that any portion of any underwriting or similar fee will be deductible for US federal income tax purposes to a Portfolio or its shareholders. Due to these limits on the deductibility of expenses, net capital losses and business interest expenses, a Portfolio may, for US federal income tax purposes, have aggregate taxable income for several years that the Portfolio is required to distribute and that is taxable to shareholders even if this income is greater than the aggregate net income the Portfolio actually earned during those years.

In order to enable a Portfolio to make distributions to shareholders that will be sufficient to enable the Portfolio to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement or the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements in the event that the circumstances described in the preceding two paragraphs apply, the Portfolio may need to liquidate or sell some of its assets at times or at prices that the Portfolio would not consider advantageous, the Portfolio may need to raise additional equity or debt capital, the Portfolio many need to take out loans, or the Portfolio may need to forego new investment opportunities or otherwise take actions that are disadvantageous to the Portfolio's business (or be unable to take actions that are advantageous to its business). Even if a Portfolio is authorized to borrow and to sell assets in order to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement or the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements, under the 1940 Act, the Portfolio generally is not permitted to make distributions to its shareholders while the Portfolio's debt obligations and senior securities are outstanding unless certain "asset coverage" tests or other financial covenants are met.

If a Portfolio is unable to obtain cash from other sources to enable the Portfolio to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement, the Portfolio may fail to qualify for the US federal income tax benefits allowable to RICs and, thus, become subject to a corporate-level US federal income tax (and any applicable state and local taxes). Although each Portfolio expects to operate in a manner so as to qualify continuously as a RIC, a Portfolio may decide in the future to be taxed as a "C" corporation, even if the Portfolio would otherwise qualify as a RIC, if the Portfolio determines that such treatment as a C corporation for a particular year would be in the Portfolio's best interests.

If a Portfolio is unable to obtain cash from other sources to enable the Portfolio to satisfy the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements, the Portfolio may be subject to additional tax. However, no assurances can be given that a Portfolio will not be subject to the excise tax and, a Portfolio may choose in certain circumstances to pay the excise tax as opposed to making an additional distribution.

<u>Failure to Qualify as a RIC</u>. If a Portfolio, otherwise qualifying as a RIC, fails to satisfy the 90% Gross Income Test for any taxable year or the Diversification Tests in any quarter of a taxable year, such Portfolio may continue to be taxed as a RIC for the relevant taxable year if certain relief provisions of the Code apply (which might, among other things, require the Portfolio to pay certain corporate-level US federal taxes or to dispose of certain assets). If the Portfolio fails to qualify as a RIC for more than two consecutive taxable years and then seeks to re-qualify as a RIC, the Portfolio would generally be required to recognize gain to the extent of any unrealized appreciation in its assets unless the Portfolio elects to pay US corporate income tax on any such unrealized appreciation during the succeeding 5-year period.

If a Portfolio fails to qualify for treatment as a RIC in any taxable year, and is not eligible for such relief provisions, the Portfolio would be subject to US federal income tax on all of its taxable income at the regular corporate US federal income tax rate and would be subject to any applicable state and local taxes, regardless of whether a Portfolio makes any distributions to the Portfolio's shareholders and would reduce the amount available to be distributed to the Portfolio's shareholders (or, potentially, policy owners). Such Portfolio would not be able to deduct distributions to its shareholders, nor would distributions to its shareholders be required to be made for US federal income tax purposes. Any distributions the Portfolio makes generally would be taxable to shareholders as ordinary dividend income and, subject to certain limitations under the Code, would be eligible for the current

maximum rate applicable to qualifying dividend income of individuals and other non-corporate US shareholders, to the extent of the Portfolio's current or accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to certain limitations under the Code, US shareholders that are corporations for US federal income tax purposes would be eligible for the dividends-received deduction. Distributions in excess of the Portfolio's current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated first as a return of capital to the extent of the shareholder's adjusted tax basis in its shares of the Portfolio, and any remaining distributions would be treated as capital gain.

Equalization Accounting. Each Portfolio may in certain years use "equalization accounting" in determining the portion of its net investment income and net realized capital gains that has been distributed. A Portfolio that elects to use equalization accounting in a year will allocate a portion of its investment income and capital gain to redemptions of Portfolio shares, and such income and gains will be deemed to have been distributed by the Portfolio for purposes of the distribution requirements under the Code. This may have the effect of reducing the amount of such income and/or gain that the Portfolio is required to distribute to non-redeeming shareholders to avoid federal income tax and excise tax and also may defer the recognition of taxable income by its non-redeeming shareholders. This process does not affect the tax treatment of redeeming shareholders and, as the amount of any undistributed income and/or gains will be reflected in the value of the Portfolio's shares, the total return on a shareholder's investment will not be reduced as a result of the Portfolio's distribution policy. The IRS has not published any guidance concerning the methods to be used in allocating investment income and capital gain to redemptions of shares. In the event that the IRS determines that a Portfolio is using an improper method of allocation and has underdistributed its net investment income or net realized capital gains for any taxable year, such Portfolio may be liable for additional federal income or excise tax or may be unable to maintain it qualification as a RIC.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that each Portfolio will continuously qualify as a RIC for each taxable year.

Portfolio Investments

General. Certain of a Portfolio's investment practices may be subject to special and complex US federal income tax provisions that may, among other things, (1) treat dividends that would otherwise constitute qualified dividend income as non-qualified dividend income, (2) disallow, suspend or otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions, (3) convert lower-taxed long-term capital gain into higher-taxed short-term capital gain or ordinary income, (4) convert an ordinary loss or a deduction into a capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited), (5) cause it to recognize income or gain without receipt of a corresponding cash payment, (6) adversely affect the time as to when a purchase or sale of stock or securities is deemed to occur, (7) adversely alter the characterization of certain complex financial transactions and (8) produce income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Gross Income Test. Each Portfolio intends to monitor its transactions and may make certain tax elections in order to mitigate the effects of these provisions; however, no assurance can be given that a Portfolio will be eligible for any such tax elections or that any elections it makes will fully mitigate the effects of these provisions.

Gain or loss recognized by a Portfolio from securities and other financial assets acquired by the Portfolio, as well as any loss attributable to the lapse of options, warrants, or other financial assets taxed as options, generally will be treated as capital gain or loss. Such gain or loss generally will be long-term or short-term depending on how long the Portfolio held a particular security or other financial asset.

A portfolio company in which a Portfolio invests may face financial difficulties that require the Portfolio to work-out, modify or otherwise restructure its investment in the portfolio company. Any such transaction could, depending upon the specific terms of the transaction, cause the Portfolio to recognize taxable income without a corresponding receipt of cash, which could affect its ability to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement or the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements or result in unusable capital losses and future non-cash income. Any such transaction could also result in the Portfolio receiving assets that give rise to non-qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Gross Income Test.

A Portfolio's investment in non-US securities may be subject to non-US income, withholding and other taxes. Tax conventions between certain countries and the United States may reduce or eliminate those foreign taxes in some cases. If more than 50% of a Portfolio's total assets at the end of its taxable year consist of foreign stock or securities or if at least 50% of the value of a Portfolio's total assets at the close of each quarter of its taxable year is

represented by interests in RICs, the Portfolio may elect to "pass through" to its investors certain foreign income taxes paid by the Trust, with the result that each investor will (1) include in gross income, as an additional dividend, even though not actually received, the investor's pro rata share of the Trust's foreign income taxes, and (2) either deduct (in calculating US taxable income) or credit (in calculating US federal income), subject to certain holding period and other limitations, the investor's pro rata share of the Trust's foreign income taxes. As a result, in certain cases, shareholders may be entitled to claim a US foreign tax credit or deduction with respect to non-US taxes paid by a Portfolio. There can be no assurance that a Portfolio will make such election even if it is qualified to do so.

If a Portfolio purchases shares in a PFIC, such a Portfolio may be subject to US federal income tax on a portion of any "excess distribution" received on, or gain from the disposition of, such shares, even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by the Portfolio to its shareholders. Additional charges in the nature of interest generally will be imposed on the Portfolio in respect of deferred taxes arising from such excess distribution or gain. If a Portfolio invests in a PFIC and elects to treat the PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" under the Code (a "QEF"), in lieu of the foregoing requirements, the Portfolio will be required to include in gross income each year a portion of the ordinary earnings and net capital gain of the QEF, even if such income is not distributed by the QEF to the Portfolio. Any inclusions in the Portfolio's gross income resulting from the QEF election will be considered qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Gross Income Test. Alternatively, a Portfolio may elect to mark to market at the end of each taxable year the Portfolio's shares in such PFIC, in which case, the Portfolio will recognize as ordinary income any increase in the value of such shares, and as ordinary loss any decrease in such value to the extent it does not exceed prior increases included in its income. A Portfolio's ability to make either election will depend on factors beyond its control, and the Portfolios are subject to restrictions which may limit the availability or benefit of these elections. Under either election, a Portfolio may be required to recognize in any year income in excess of its distributions from PFICs and its proceeds from dispositions of PFIC shares during that year, and such income will nevertheless be subject to the Annual Distribution Requirement and will be taken into account for purposes of determining whether the Portfolio satisfies the Excise Tax Distribution Requirements.

The functional currency of the Portfolios is the US dollar for US federal income tax purposes. Under Section 988 of the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates between the time a Portfolio accrues income, expenses or other liabilities denominated in a currency other than the US dollar and the time such Portfolio actually collects such income or pays such expenses or liabilities may be treated as ordinary income or loss. Similarly, gains or losses on foreign currency forward contracts, the disposition of debt denominated in a foreign currency and other financial transactions denominated in foreign currency, to the extent attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates between the acquisition and disposition dates, may also be treated as ordinary income or loss by a Portfolio.

Hedging and Derivative Transactions. Gain or loss, if any, realized from certain financial futures or forward contracts and options transactions ("Section 1256 contracts") generally is treated as 60% long-term capital gain or loss (as applicable) and 40% short-term capital gain or loss (as applicable). Gain or loss will arise upon exercise or lapse of Section 1256 contracts. In addition, any Section 1256 contracts remaining unexercised at the end of a shareholder's taxable year are treated as sold for their then fair market value, resulting in the recognition of gain or loss characterized in the manner described above.

Offsetting positions held by a Portfolio involving certain financial futures or forward contracts or options transactions with respect to actively traded personal property may be considered, for US federal income tax purposes, to constitute "straddles." In addition, investments by a Portfolio in particular combinations of investment funds also may be treated as a "straddle." To the extent the straddle rules apply to positions established by a Portfolio, or the investment funds, losses realized by the Portfolio may be deferred to the extent of unrealized gain in the offsetting positions. Short-term capital loss on straddle positions may be recharacterized as long-term capital loss, and long-term capital gains on straddle positions may be treated as short-term capital gains or ordinary income. Interest and carrying charges allocable to positions in straddles are required to be capitalized, rather than deducted as accrued. Certain of the straddle positions held by a Portfolio may constitute "mixed straddles." One or more elections may be made in respect of the US federal income tax treatment of "mixed straddles," resulting in different tax consequences. In certain circumstances, the provisions governing the tax treatment of straddles override or modify certain of the provisions discussed above.

If a Portfolio either holds (1) an appreciated financial position with respect to stock, certain debt obligations or partnership interests ("appreciated financial position") and enters into a short sale, futures, forward, or offsetting notional principal contract (collectively, a "Contract") with respect to the same or substantially identical property, or (2) an appreciated financial position that is a Contract and acquires property that is the same as, or substantially identical to, the underlying property, the Portfolio generally will be taxed as if the appreciated financial position were sold at its fair market value on the date the Portfolio enters into the financial position or acquires the property, respectively. The foregoing will not apply, however, to any transaction during any taxable year that otherwise would be treated as a constructive sale if the transaction is closed within 30 days after the end of that year and the appreciated financial position is held unhedged for 60 days after that closing (*i.e.*, at no time during that 60-day period is the risk of loss relating to the appreciated financial position reduced by reason of certain specified transactions with respect to substantially identical or related property, such as by reason of an option to sell, being contractually obligated to sell, making a short sale, or granting an option to buy substantially identical stock or securities).

If a Portfolio enters into certain derivatives (including forward contracts, long positions under notional principal contracts, and related puts and calls) with respect to equity interests in certain pass-through entities (including other RICs, REITs, partnerships, real estate mortgage investment conduits and certain trusts and foreign corporations), long-term capital gain with respect to the derivative may be recharacterized as ordinary income to the extent it exceeds the long-term capital gain that would have been realized had the interest in the pass-through entity been held directly during the term of the derivative contract. Any gain recharacterized as ordinary income will be treated as accruing at a constant rate over the term of the derivative contract and may be subject to an interest charge.

<u>Purchase of Creation Units</u>. The purchase of Creation Units generally will be a taxable event for the person who transfers securities in exchange for Creation Units but generally will not be a taxable event for the Portfolio. The transferor will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between (a) the sum of the fair market value of the Creation Units (which may differ from their NAV) and any balancing amount that is received and (b) the sum of the transferor's basis in the transferred securities, transaction fees and any balancing amount that is paid. The purchase of Creation Units may trigger application of the wash sale rules for federal income tax purposes.

Redemption of Creation Units. The redemption of Creation Units generally will be a taxable event for the person who receives securities in exchange for Creation Units but generally will not be a taxable event for the Portfolio. The recipient will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between (a) the sum of the fair market value of the securities and any Cash Redemption Amount that is received and (b) the sum of the basis of the Creation Unit shares, transaction fees and any cash redemption amount that is paid. The redemption of Creation Units may be treated as a wash sale for federal income tax purposes.

Taxation of US Shareholders

The following summary generally describes certain material US federal income tax consequences of an investment in a Portfolio's shares beneficially owned by US shareholders (as defined above). If you are not a US shareholder, this section does not apply to you.

Distributions on, and Sale or Other Disposition of, a Portfolio's Shares. Distributions by a Portfolio generally are taxable to US shareholders as ordinary income or long-term capital gain. Distributions of a Portfolio's investment company taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid, will be taxable as ordinary income to US shareholders to the extent of the Portfolio's current or accumulated earnings and profits, whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional common shares. To the extent such distributions a Portfolio pays to non-corporate US shareholders (including individuals) are attributable to dividends from US corporations and certain qualified foreign corporations, such distributions ("Qualifying Dividends") generally are taxable to US shareholders at the preferential rates applicable to long-term capital gains, provided holding period and other requirements are met at both the shareholder and Portfolio levels. Distributions of a Portfolio's net capital gains (which generally are the Portfolio's realized net long-term capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses) that are properly reported by the Portfolio as "capital gain dividends" will be taxable to a US shareholder as long-term capital gains that are currently taxable at reduced rates in the case of non-corporate taxpayers, regardless of the US shareholder's holding period for his, her or its shares and regardless of whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional shares. Distributions in excess of a Portfolio's earnings and profits first will reduce a US shareholder's

adjusted tax basis in such US shareholder's shares in the Portfolio and, after the adjusted tax basis is reduced to zero, will constitute capital gains to such US shareholder.

A portion of a Portfolio's ordinary income dividends paid to corporate US shareholders may, if certain holding period and other conditions are met, qualify for the 50% dividends received deduction to the extent that the Portfolio has received dividends from certain US corporations during the taxable year but only to the extent these ordinary income dividends are treated as paid out of earnings and profits of the Portfolio. A corporate US shareholder may be required to reduce its basis in its shares with respect to certain "extraordinary dividends," as defined in Section 1059 of the Code. Corporate US shareholders should consult their own tax advisors in determining the application of these rules in their particular circumstances.

Although each Portfolio currently intends to distribute any of its net capital gain for each taxable year on a timely basis, a Portfolio may elect in the future to retain its net capital gain or a portion thereof for investment and be taxed at corporate-level tax rates on the amount retained and therefore designate the retained amount as a "deemed dividend." In this case, the Portfolio may report the retained amount as undistributed capital gains to its US shareholders, who will be treated as if each US shareholder received a distribution of its pro rata share of this gain, with the result that each US shareholder will (i) be required to report its pro rata share of this gain on its tax return as long-term capital gain, (ii) receive a refundable tax credit for its pro rata share of tax paid by the Portfolio on the gain, and (iii) increase the tax basis for its shares by an amount equal to the deemed distribution less the tax credit. In order to utilize the deemed distribution approach, a Portfolio must provide written notice to its shareholders prior to the expiration of 60 days after the close of the relevant taxable year. A Portfolio cannot treat any of its investment company taxable income as a "deemed distribution."

For purposes of determining (1) whether the Annual Distribution Requirement is satisfied for any year and (2) the amount of capital gain dividends paid for that year, a Portfolio may, under certain circumstances, elect to treat a dividend that is paid during the following taxable year as if it had been paid during the taxable year in question. If a Portfolio makes such an election, a US shareholder will still be treated as receiving the dividend in the taxable year in which the distribution is made. However, any dividend declared by a Portfolio in October, November or December of any calendar year, payable to shareholders of record on a specified date in such a month and actually paid during January of the following year, will be treated as if it had been received by the Portfolio's shareholders on December 31 of the year in which the dividend was declared.

Certain distributions reported by a Portfolio as Section 163(j) interest dividends may be treated as interest income by US shareholders for purposes of the tax rules applicable to interest expense limitations under Section 163(j) of the Code. Such treatment by the US shareholder is generally subject to holding period requirements and other potential limitations, although the holding period requirements are generally not applicable to dividends declared by money market funds and certain other funds that declare dividends daily and pay such dividends on a monthly or more frequent basis. The amount that a Portfolio is eligible to report as a Section 163(j) dividend for a tax year is generally limited to the excess of the Portfolio's business interest income over the sum of the Portfolio's (i) business interest expense and (ii) other deductions properly allocable to the Portfolio's business interest income.

Individuals (and certain other non-corporate entities) are generally eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to ordinary dividends from REITs and certain taxable income from publicly traded partnerships through 2025. Treasury regulations allow a Portfolio to pass-through the deduction with respect to taxable ordinary dividends from REITs to shareholders. However, currently there is no mechanism to pass-through the deductions with respect to income from publicly traded partnerships.

If a US shareholder purchases shares of a Portfolio shortly before the record date of a distribution, the price of the shares will include the value of the distribution and such US shareholder will be subject to tax on the distribution even though it economically represents a return of its investment.

A US shareholder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss if the US shareholder sells or otherwise disposes of such shareholder's shares of a Portfolio. The amount of gain or loss will be measured by the difference between such shareholder's adjusted tax basis in the shares sold and the amount of the proceeds received in exchange. Any gain or loss arising from such sale, redemption or other disposition generally will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the US shareholder has held such shares for more than one year. Otherwise, such gain or loss will be

classified as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any capital loss arising from the sale, redemption or other disposition of Portfolio shares held for six months or less will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of the amount of capital gain dividends received, or undistributed capital gain deemed received, with respect to such shares. In addition, all or a portion of any loss recognized upon a disposition of the Portfolio's shares may be disallowed if substantially identical stock or securities are purchased (whether through reinvestment of distributions or otherwise) within 30 days before or after the disposition. In such case, any disallowed loss is generally added to the US shareholder's adjusted tax basis of the acquired shares.

In general, US shareholders that are individuals, trusts or estates are taxed at preferential rates on their net capital gain. Such rate is lower than the maximum rate on ordinary income currently payable by individuals. Corporate US shareholders currently are subject to US federal income tax on net capital gain at the maximum rate that also applies to ordinary income. A non-corporate US shareholder with net capital losses for a year (*i.e.*, capital loss in excess of capital gain) generally may deduct up to \$3,000 of such losses against its ordinary income each year; any net capital losses of a non-corporate US shareholder in excess of \$3,000 generally may be carried forward and used in subsequent years as provided in the Code. Corporate US shareholders generally may not deduct any net capital losses for a year but may carry back such losses for three years or carry forward such losses for five years.

Reporting to shareholders and the IRS is required annually on Form 1099-B not only with respect to the gross proceeds of Portfolios shares sold or redeemed but also their cost basis. Shareholders may elect to have one of several cost basis methods applied to their account when calculating the cost basis of shares sold, including average cost, FIFO ("first-in, first-out") or some other specific identification method. Cost basis will be calculated using the Trust's default method of average cost, unless a shareholder instructs the Trust to use a different methodology. Shareholders should consult with their tax advisors to determine the best cost basis method for their tax situation.

Each Portfolio will send to each of its US shareholders, after the end of each calendar year, a notice providing, on a per share and per distribution basis, the amounts includible in such US shareholder's taxable income for such year as ordinary income and as long-term capital gain. In addition, the US federal tax status of each year's distributions will generally be reported to the IRS (including the amount of dividends, if any, eligible for the preferential rates applicable to long-term capital gains).

Distributions by a Portfolio may also be subject to additional state, local and non-US taxes depending on a US shareholder's particular situation.

Tax Shelter Reporting Regulations. Under Treasury regulations, if a US shareholder recognizes a loss with respect to its shares of a Portfolio in excess of \$2 million or more for a non-corporate US shareholder or \$10 million or more for a corporate US shareholder in any single taxable year, such shareholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on Form 8886. Direct investors of "portfolio securities" in many cases are excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, equity owners of a RIC are not excepted. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Significant monetary penalties apply to a failure to comply with this reporting requirement. States may also have a similar reporting requirement. US shareholders should consult their tax advisor to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Net Investment Income Tax. An additional 3.8% Medicare tax generally is applicable in respect of the net investment income of non-corporate US shareholders (other than certain trusts) on the lesser of (i) the US shareholder's "net investment income" for a taxable year and (ii) the excess of the US shareholder's modified adjusted gross income for the taxable year over \$200,000 (\$250,000 in the case of joint filers). For these purposes, "net investment income" generally includes interest and taxable distributions and deemed distributions paid with respect to shares of a Portfolio, and net gain attributable to the disposition of shares of a Portfolio (in each case, unless the shares are held in connection with certain trades or businesses), but will be reduced by any deductions properly allocable to these distributions or this net gain.

Taxation of Non-US Shareholders

The following discussion applies only to persons that are non-US shareholders. If you are not a non-US shareholder, this section does not apply to you.

<u>Distributions on and Sale or Other Disposition of a Portfolio's Shares</u>. Distributions by a Portfolio to non-US shareholders generally will be subject to US withholding tax (unless lowered or eliminated by an applicable income tax treaty) to the extent payable from the Portfolio's current and accumulated earnings and profits.

If a non-US shareholder receives distributions and such distributions are effectively connected with a US trade or business of the non-US shareholder and, if an income tax treaty applies, are attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States of such non-US shareholder, such distributions generally will be subject to US federal income tax at the rates applicable to US persons. In that case, a Portfolio will not be required to withhold US federal income tax if the non-US shareholder complies with applicable certification and disclosure requirements.

Actual or deemed distributions of a Portfolio's net capital gain (which generally is the excess of a Portfolio's net long-term capital gain over a Portfolio's net short-term capital loss) to a non-US shareholder, and gains recognized by a non-US shareholder upon the sale of the shares, will not be subject to withholding of US federal income tax and generally will not be subject to US federal income tax unless (a) the distributions or gains, as the case may be, are effectively connected with a US trade or business of the non-US shareholder and, if an income tax treaty applies, are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-US shareholder in the United States (as discussed above) or (b) the non-US shareholder is an individual, has been present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year, and certain other conditions are satisfied. For a corporate non-US shareholder, distributions, including deemed distributions, and gains recognized upon the sale of the shares that are effectively connected with a US trade or business may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional "branch profits tax" (unless lowered or eliminated by an applicable income tax treaty). Non-US shareholders are encouraged to consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of an income tax treaty in their individual circumstances.

No assurance can be given that a Portfolio will distribute any interest related dividends or short-term capital gain dividends. In general, no US source withholding taxes will be imposed on dividends paid by RICs to non-US shareholders to the extent the dividends are properly reported as "interest related dividends" or "short term capital gain dividends." Under this exemption, interest related dividends and short-term capital gain dividends generally represent distributions of interest or short-term capital gain that would not have been subject to US withholding tax at the source if they had been received directly by a non-US shareholder and that satisfy certain other requirements.

If a Portfolio distributes its net capital gain in the form of deemed rather than actual distributions (which a Portfolio may do in the future), a non-US shareholder will be entitled to US federal income tax credit or tax refund equal to the non-US shareholder's allocable share of the tax the Portfolio pays on the capital gain deemed to have been distributed. In order to obtain the refund, the non-US shareholder must obtain a US taxpayer identification number (if one has not been previously obtained) and timely file a US federal income tax return even if the non-US shareholder would not otherwise be required to obtain a US taxpayer identification number or file a US federal income tax return.

Non-US shareholders may also be subject to US estate tax with respect to their Portfolio shares.

Each non-US shareholder should consult his or her tax adviser regarding the US and non-US tax consequences of ownership of shares of, and receipt of distributions from, a Portfolio.

Certain Additional Tax Considerations

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. A Portfolio may be required to withhold, for US federal income taxes, a portion of all taxable distributions payable to shareholders (a) who fail to provide the Portfolio with their correct taxpayer identification numbers (TINs) or who otherwise fail to make required certifications or (b) with respect to whom the IRS notifies the Portfolio that this shareholder is subject to backup withholding. Certain shareholders specified in the Code and Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder are exempt from backup withholding but may be required to provide documentation to establish their exempt status. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld will be allowed as a refund or a credit against the shareholder's US federal income tax liability if the appropriate information is timely provided to the IRS. Failure by a shareholder to furnish a certified TIN to the Portfolio could subject the shareholder to a penalty imposed by the IRS.

Withholding and Information Reporting on Foreign Financial Accounts. A non-US shareholder may be subject to information reporting and backup withholding of US federal income tax on dividends (including capital gain

dividends) and on the proceeds of redemptions and exchanges unless the non-US shareholder provides a Portfolio or the dividend paying agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or an acceptable substitute form) or otherwise meets documentary evidence requirements for establishing that it is a non-US shareholder or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding.

Pursuant to Sections 1471 to 1474 of the Code and Treasury regulations thereunder, the relevant withholding agent generally will be required to withhold 30% of any dividends paid on the shares to (i) a foreign financial institution unless such foreign financial institution agrees to verify, report and disclose its US owners and meets certain other specified requirements or is subject to an applicable "intergovernmental agreement; or (ii) a non-financial foreign entity that is the beneficial owner of the payment unless such entity certifies that it does not have any substantial US owners or provides the name, address and taxpayer identification number of each substantial US owner and such entity meets certain other specified requirements. If payment of this withholding tax is made, non-US shareholders that are otherwise eligible for an exemption from, or reduction of, US federal withholding taxes with respect to such dividends or proceeds will be required to seek a credit or refund from the IRS to obtain the benefit of such exemption or reduction. In certain cases, the relevant foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity may qualify for an exemption from, or be deemed to be in compliance with, these rules. Certain jurisdictions have entered into agreements with the United States that may supplement or modify these rules. Non-US shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the particular consequences to them of this legislation and guidance. No Portfolio will pay any additional amounts in respect to any amounts withheld.

State and Local Taxes. A Portfolio may be subject to state or local taxes in jurisdictions in which the Portfolio is deemed to be doing business. In addition, in those states or localities that impose income taxes, the treatment of a Portfolio and its shareholders under those jurisdictions' tax laws may differ from the treatment under federal income tax laws, and investment in the Portfolio may have tax consequences for shareholders that are different from those of a direct investment in the Portfolio's portfolio securities. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers concerning state and local tax matters.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE TRUST AND PORTFOLIOS

Percentage of Total

As of February 28, 2025, no entity beneficially owned any voting securities of the Portfolios. As of February 28, 2025, no person owned of record or was known to own beneficially 5% or more of a Class of the Predecessor Portfolio's outstanding voting securities except the following:

Name and Address	Institutional Shares Outstanding	
International Equity Advantage Portfolio		
National Financial Services LLC		
82 Devonshire St		
Boston, MA 02109-3605	58.7%	
Lazard Asset Management LLC		
30 Rockefeller Plaza		
New York, NY 10112	28.6%	
Pershing LLC		
1 Pershing Plaza		
Jersey City, NJ 07399-0001	11.3%	

International Equity Advantage Portfolio

Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. 211 Main Street San Francisco, 94105-1905

77.9%

Nationwide Life Insurance Company One Nationwide Plaza Columbus, OH 43215

21.2%

From time to time, an Authorized Participant, a third-party investor, the Investment Manager, an affiliate of the Investment Manager, and/or a Portfolio, may invest in a Portfolio and hold its investment for a specific period.

Under the 1940 Act, a shareholder that beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 25% of a Portfolio's total outstanding shares may be deemed a "control person" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Portfolio.

Certain shareholders of a Portfolio may from time to time own or control a significant percentage of the Portfolio's shares ("Large Shareholders"). Large Shareholders may include, for example, Authorized Participants, institutional investors, funds of funds, affiliates of the Investment Manager, and discretionary advisory clients whose buy-sell decisions are controlled by a single decision-maker, including separate accounts and/or Portfolios managed by the Investment Manager or its affiliates. Large Shareholders may redeem or sell all or a portion of their shares of a Portfolio at any time or may be required to redeem or sell all or a portion of their shares in order to comply with applicable regulatory restrictions (including, but not limited to, restrictions that apply to US banking entities and their affiliates, such as the Investment Manager). Redemptions by Large Shareholders of their shares of a Portfolio, if effected entirely or partially in cash, may force the Portfolio to sell securities at an unfavorable time and/or under unfavorable conditions, or sell more liquid assets of the Portfolio, in order to meet redemption requests. These sales may adversely affect a Portfolio's NAV and may result in increasing the Portfolio's liquidity risk, transaction costs and/or taxable distributions. In addition, transactions by Large Shareholders may account for a large percentage of the trading volume on the Exchange and may, therefore, have a material upward or downward effect on the market price of shares of a Portfolio.

Certain of the shareholders may be investment management clients of the Investment Manager that have entered into agreements with the Investment Manager pursuant to which the Investment Manager has investment discretion and voting power over any assets held in the clients' accounts, including shares of the Portfolios. For purposes of the list above, the Trust considers the Investment Manager to be a beneficial owner of Portfolio shares held in management accounts on behalf of its investment management clients.

As used in this SAI, the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities means, with respect to the Trust or a Portfolio, the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% of the shares represented at a meeting if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Trust or Portfolio, as the case may be, are present in person or by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Trust or Portfolio, as the case may be. As determined by the Trustees without the vote or consent of shareholders, on any matter submitted to a vote of shareholders, either (i) each whole share shall be entitled to one vote as to any matter on which it is entitled to vote and each fractional share shall be entitled to a proportionate fractional vote or (ii) each dollar of net asset value of the share determined at the close of business on the record date shall be entitled to one vote on any matter on which such shares are entitled to vote and each fractional dollar amount shall be entitled to a proportionate fractional vote. In the absence of any designation to the contrary, each whole share shall be entitled to one vote as to any matter on which it is entitled to vote and each fractional share shall be entitled to a proportionate fractional vote.

Shareholders are not entitled to any preemptive, subscription or conversion rights and are freely transferable. All shares, when issued and paid for in accordance with the terms of the offering, will be fully paid and non-assessable

by the Trust. Each share of a Portfolio is entitled to such dividends and distributions out of the income earned on the assets belonging to that Portfolio as are declared in the discretion of the Trust's Board.

Unless otherwise required by the 1940 Act, ordinarily it will not be necessary for the Trust to hold annual meetings of shareholders. As a result, shareholders may not consider each year the election of Trustees or the appointment of independent auditors. However, the holders of at least 10% of the shares outstanding and entitled to vote may require the Trust to hold a special meeting of shareholders for purposes of removing a Trustee from office. Shareholders may remove a Trustee by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the total combined net asset value of all shares of the Trust issued and outstanding. In addition, the Board will call a meeting of shareholders for the purpose of electing Trustees if, at any time, less than a majority of the Trustees then holding office have been elected by shareholders.

The Trust is a "series fund," which is a registered investment company divided into separate portfolios, each of which is treated as a separate entity for certain matters under the 1940 Act and for other purposes. A shareholder of one portfolio is not deemed to be a shareholder of any other portfolio. For certain matters shareholders vote together as a group; as to others they vote separately by portfolio.

All consideration received by the Trust for shares of one of the Portfolios, and all assets in which such consideration is invested, will belong to that Portfolio (subject only to the rights of creditors of the Trust) and will be subject to the liabilities related thereto. The income attributable to, and the expenses of, one Portfolio would be treated separately from those of the other Portfolios. The Trust has the ability to create, from time to time, new series without shareholder approval.

Rule 18f-2 under the 1940 Act provides that any matter required to be submitted under the provisions of the 1940 Act or applicable state law or otherwise to the holders of the outstanding voting securities of an investment company, such as the Trust, will not be deemed to have been effectively acted upon unless approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of each portfolio affected by such matter. Rule 18f-2 further provides that a portfolio shall be deemed to be affected by a matter unless it is clear that the interests of each portfolio in the matter are identical or that the matter does not affect any interest of such portfolio. The Rule exempts the selection of independent auditors and the election of Trustees from the separate voting requirements of the rule.

Each Portfolio will send annual and semi-annual financial statements to its shareholders.

Statements contained in the Prospectus or this SAI as to the content of any contract or other document referred to herein or in the Prospectus are not necessarily complete, and, in each instance, reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference.

COUNSEL AND INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Dechert LLP, 1095 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036, serves as counsel to the Trust.

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, 100 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10017, serves as counsel to the Independent Trustees.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, NY 10112, is the independent registered public accounting firm for the Trust.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited financial statements, accompanying notes and report of the independent registered public accounting firm appearing in the filing on Form N-CSR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 with respect to the Predecessor Portfolio, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on Form N-CSR on March 6, 2025 (Accession Number: 0000930413-25-000884), are incorporated by reference into this SAI. No other portions of the Predecessor Portfolio's filing on Form N-CSR are incorporated by reference herein.

The following Financial Statement is for the Lazard Japanese Equity ETF.

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

March 5, 2025

Assets

Cash	\$100,000
Total Assets	\$100,000
LIABILITIES	
Total Liabilities	\$ —
NET ASSETS (applicable to 4,000 shares of \$0.001 par value of beneficial interest outstanding)	\$100,000
NET ASSETS CONSIST OF:	
Paid in capital (unlimited shares authorized, par value of \$0.001 per share)	\$100,000
SHARES OF BENEFICIAL INTEREST OUSTANDING	4,000
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE	\$ 25.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Note 1: Organization

The Lazard Active ETF Trust (the "Trust") is an open-end management investment company, registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, (the "1940 Act"), and organized as a Delaware statutory trust on October 29, 2024. As of March 5, 2025, the Trust is comprised of five portfolios. This report includes only the financial statement of the Lazard Japanese Equity ETF (the "Portfolio").

The Trust has been inactive since its date of organization except for matters relating to the establishment, designation, registration of shares of beneficial interest under the Securities Act of 1933, and the sale of 4,000 shares of beneficial interest of the Portfolio (the "Initial Shares") for \$100,000 to Lazard Asset Management LLC, the Portfolio's investment manager (the "Investment Manager"). The proceeds of such Initial Shares in the Portfolio were held in cash.

Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies

The Trust is an investment company and, accordingly, follows the investment company accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 946 - Investment Companies. The preparation of the financial statement in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statement. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Offering and Organizational Costs—Costs incurred by the Trust in connection with the offering of shares of the Portfolio are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over a twelve-month period from the date of commencement of operations of the Portfolio. The Investment Manager has agreed to pay a portion of the Portfolio's offering costs during the Portfolio's first year of operations so that offering costs borne by the Portfolio do not amount to .01% of its average net assets, which is not subject to recoupment. Organizational costs, if any, are expensed as incurred. The Investment Manager has also agreed to pay all the Portfolio's organizational costs, which is not subject to recoupment.

Note 3: Investment Management Agreement

The Trust, on behalf of the Portfolio, has entered into an investment management agreement (the "Management Agreement") with the Investment Manager. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Investment Manager manages the investment operations of the Portfolio and the assets of the Portfolio, including the purchase, retention and disposition thereof, in accordance with the Portfolio's investment objectives, policies, and restrictions, and provides the Portfolio with administrative, operational and compliance assistance services. For its services provided to the Portfolio, the Investment Manager earns a management fee, accrued daily and paid monthly, at an annual rate equal to 0.60% of the Portfolio's average daily net assets (the "Management Fee").

In return for the Management Fee (which is sometimes referred to as a "unitary" or "unified" fee), the Investment Manager will pay substantially all expenses of the Portfolio (including expenses of the Trust relating to the Portfolio), except for the fee payment under the Management Agreement, acquired fund fees and expenses, interest expense, offering costs, trading expenses, taxes and extraordinary expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Investment Manager has agreed to pay a portion of the Portfolio's offering costs during the Portfolio's first year of operations so that offering costs borne by the Portfolio do not amount to .01% of its average net assets, which is not subject to recoupment.

Note 4: Administrator, Transfer Agent and Custodian

State Street Bank and Trust Company serves as the Portfolio's administrator, custodian and transfer agent pursuant to respective agreements for each arrangement.

Note 5: Federal Income Taxes

The Trust's policy is for the Portfolio to qualify as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and to distribute substantially all of its taxable income, including any net realized capital gains, to shareholders. Therefore, no federal income tax provision is required.

Note 6. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated events and transactions occurring after March 5, 2025 through the date that the financial statement was issued, and determined that no additional disclosure in the financial statement is required.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholder of the Lazard Japanese Equity ETF and the Board of Trustees of Lazard Active ETF Trust

Opinion on the Financial Statement

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of the Lazard Japanese Equity ETF (the "Fund"), one of the funds constituting the Lazard Active ETF Trust, as of March 5, 2025, and the related notes. In our opinion, the financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund as of March 5, 2025 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

This financial statement is the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Fund's financial statement based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Fund in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Fund is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statement, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP New York, New York March 31, 2025

We have served as the auditor of one or more of the investment companies in the Lazard Fund Complex since 2004.

Appendix A

RATING CATEGORIES

The following is a description of certain ratings assigned by S&P Global Ratings and Moody's.

S&P Global Ratings

An S&P Global Ratings issue credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation, a specific class of financial obligations, or a specific financial program (including ratings on medium-term note programs and commercial paper programs). It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers, or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation and takes into account the currency in which the obligation is denominated. The opinion reflects S&P Global Ratings' view of the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due, and this opinion may assess terms, such as collateral security and subordination, which could affect ultimate payment in the event of default.

Issue credit ratings can be either long-term or short-term. Short-term issue credit ratings are generally assigned to those obligations considered short-term in the relevant market, typically with an original maturity of no more than 365 days. Short-term issue credit ratings are also used to indicate the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to put features on long-term obligations. S&P Global Ratings would typically assign a long-term issue credit rating to an obligation with an original maturity of greater than 365 days. However, the ratings that S&P Global Ratings assigns to certain instruments may diverge from these guidelines based on market practices. Medium-term notes are assigned long-term ratings.

An "NR" indicates that a rating has not been assigned or is no longer assigned.

<u>Issue Credit Ratings</u>. Issue credit ratings are based, in varying degrees, on S&P Global Ratings' analysis of the following considerations:

- The likelihood of payment--the capacity and willingness of the obligor to meet its financial commitments on an obligation in accordance with the terms of the obligation;
- The nature and provisions of the financial obligation, and the promise S&P Global Ratings imputes; and
- The protection afforded by, and relative position of, the financial obligation in the event of a bankruptcy, reorganization, or other arrangement under the laws of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights.

An issue rating is an assessment of default risk but may incorporate an assessment of relative seniority or ultimate recovery in the event of default. Junior obligations are typically rated lower than senior obligations, to reflect lower priority in bankruptcy, as noted above. (Such differentiation may apply when an entity has both senior and subordinated obligations, secured and unsecured obligations, or operating company and holding company obligations.)

Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings.

An obligation rated "AAA" has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is extremely strong.

An obligation rated "AA" differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.

An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is still strong.

An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

Obligations rated "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. "BB" indicates the least degree of speculation and "C" the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposure to adverse conditions.

An obligation rated "BB" is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

An obligation rated "B" is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated "BB," but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. Adverse business, financial or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

An obligation rated "CCC" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

An obligation rated "CC" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The "CC" rating is used when a default has not yet occurred, but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.

An obligation rated "C" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, and the obligation is expected to have lower relative seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared with obligations that are rated higher.

An obligation rated "**D**" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or 30 calendar days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring.

Note: Ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the rating categories.

Short-Term Issue Credit Ratings. A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on these obligations is extremely strong.

A short-term obligation rated "A-2" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is satisfactory.

A short-term obligation rated "A-3" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken an obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

A short-term obligation rated "B" is regarded as vulnerable and has significant speculative characteristics. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments.

A short-term obligation rated "C" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

A short-term obligation rated "**D**" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within any stated grace period. However, any stated

grace period longer than five business days will be treated as five business days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring.

Municipal Short-Term Note Ratings Definitions. An S&P Global Ratings US municipal note rating reflects S&P Global Ratings' opinion about the liquidity factors and market access risks unique to the notes. Notes due in three years or less will likely receive a note rating. Notes with an original maturity of more than three years will most likely receive a long-term debt rating. In determining which type of rating, if any, to assign, S&P Global Ratings' analysis will review the following considerations: amortization schedule—the larger the final maturity relative to other maturities, the more likely it will be treated as a note; and source of payment—the more dependent the issue is on the market for its refinancing, the more likely it will be treated as a note.

- **SP-1** Strong capacity to pay principal and interest. An issue determined to possess a very strong capacity to pay debt service is given a plus (+) designation.
- **SP-2** Satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest, with some vulnerability to adverse financial and economic changes over the term of the notes.
- **SP-3** Speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.
- **D** "D" is assigned upon failure to pay the note when due, completion of a distressed exchange offer, or the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions.

Moody's

Ratings assigned on Moody's global long-term and short-term rating scales are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations issued by non-financial corporates, financial institutions, structured finance vehicles, project finance vehicles, and public sector entities. The following is a ranking (from highest to lowest) of Moody's long-term and short-term categories.

<u>Long-Term Obligation Ratings and Definitions</u>. Moody's long-term ratings are opinions of the relative credit risk of financial obligations with an original maturity of one year or more. They address the possibility that a financial obligation will not be honored as promised. Such ratings use Moody's Global Scale and reflect both the likelihood of default and any financial loss suffered in the event of default.

Obligations rated "Aaa" are judged to be of the highest quality, with minimal risk.

Obligations rated "Aa" are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.

Obligations rated "A" are considered upper medium-grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Obligations rated "Baa" are subject to moderate credit risk. They are considered medium-grade and as such may possess speculative characteristics.

Obligations rated "Ba" are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.

Obligations rated "B" are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

Obligations rated "Caa" are judged to be of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

Obligations rated "Ca" are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery in principal and interest.

Obligations rated "C" are the lowest-rated class of bonds and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal and interest.

Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates amid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

<u>Short-Term Ratings</u>. Moody's short-term ratings, unlike its long-term ratings, apply to an individual issuer's capacity to repay all short-term obligations rather than to specific short-term borrowing programs.

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

- **P-1** Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
- P-2 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
- P-3 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 have an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.
- **NP** Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.

US Municipal Short-Term Debt and Demand Obligation Ratings.

Short-Term Obligation Ratings. The Municipal Investment Grade ("MIG") scale is used to rate US municipal cash flow notes, bond anticipation notes and certain other short-term obligations, which typically mature in three years or less. Under certain circumstances, the MIG scale is used for bond anticipation notes with maturities of up to five years. MIG ratings are divided into three levels—MIG 1 through MIG 3—while speculative grade short-term obligations are designated "SG."

- MIG 1 This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by established cash flows, highly reliable liquidity support, or demonstrated broad-based access to the market for refinancing.
- MIG 2 This designation denotes strong credit quality. Margins of protection are ample, although not as large as in the preceding group.
- MIG 3 This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Liquidity and cash flow protection may be narrow, and market access for refinancing is likely to be less well-established.
- SG This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Debt instruments in this category may lack sufficient margins of protection.

Variable Municipal Investment Grade Ratings. In the case of variable rate demand obligations ("VRDOs"), a two-component rating is assigned. The components are a long-term rating and a short-term demand obligation rating. The long-term rating addresses the issuer's ability to meet scheduled principal and interest payments. The short-term demand obligation rating addresses the ability of the issuer or the liquidity provider to make payments associated with the purchase-price-upon-demand feature ("demand feature") of the VRDO. The short-term demand obligation rating uses a variation of the MIG scale called the Variable Municipal Investment Grade ("VMIG"). VMIG ratings with liquidity support use as an input the short-term Counterparty Risk Assessment of the support provider, or the long-term rating of the underlying obligor in the absence of third party liquidity support. Transitions of VMIG ratings of demand obligations with conditional liquidity support differ from transitions on the Prime scale to reflect the risk that external liquidity support will terminate if the issuer's long-term rating drops below investment grade.

- VMIG 1 This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by the superior short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- VMIG 2 This designation denotes strong credit quality. Good protection is afforded by the strong short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- VMIG 3 This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Adequate protection is afforded by the satisfactory short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- SG This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Demand features rated in this category may be supported by a liquidity provider that does not have a sufficiently strong short-term rating or may lack the structural or legal protections.

For VRDOs supported with conditional liquidity support, short-term ratings transition down at higher long-term ratings to reflect the risk of termination of liquidity support as a result of a downgrade below investment grade. VMIG ratings of VRDOs with unconditional liquidity support reflect the short-term debt rating (or counterparty assessment) of the liquidity support provider with VMIG 1 corresponding to P-1, VMIG 2 to P-2, VMIG 3 to P-3 and SG to not prime.

Appendix B

LAZARD ASSET MANAGEMENT LLC

GLOBAL PROXY VOTING POLICY

A. Introduction

Lazard Asset Management LLC and its investment advisory subsidiaries ("Lazard" or the "firm") provide investment management services for client accounts, including proxy voting services. As a fiduciary, Lazard is obligated to vote proxies in the best interests of its clients over the long-term. Lazard has developed a structure that is designed to ensure that proxy voting is conducted in an appropriate manner, consistent with clients' best interests, and within the framework of this Proxy Voting Policy (the "Policy"). In the proxy Voting Policy (the "Policy").

Lazard manages assets for a variety of clients worldwide, including institutions, financial intermediaries, sovereign wealth funds, and private clients. To the extent that proxy voting authority is delegated to Lazard, Lazard's general policy is to vote proxies on a given issue in the same manner for all of its clients. This Policy is based on the view that Lazard, in its role as investment adviser, must vote proxies based on what it believes (i) will maximize sustainable shareholder value as a long-term investor; (ii) is in the best interest of its clients; and (iii) the votes that it casts are intended in good faith to accomplish those objectives.

This Policy recognizes that there may be times when meeting agendas or proposals may create the appearance of a material conflict of interest for Lazard. Lazard will look to alleviate the potential conflict by voting according to pre-approved guidelines. In conflict situations where a pre-approved guideline is to vote case-by-case, Lazard will vote according to the recommendation of one of the proxy voting services Lazard retains to provide independent analysis. More information on how Lazard handles material conflicts of interest in proxy voting is provided in Section F of this Policy.

B. Responsibility to Vote Proxies

Generally, Lazard is willing to accept delegation from its clients to vote proxies. Lazard does not delegate that authority to any other person or entity, but retains complete authority for voting all proxies on behalf of its clients. Not all clients delegate proxy-voting authority to Lazard, however, and Lazard will not vote proxies, or provide advice to clients on how to vote proxies, in the absence of a specific delegation of authority or an obligation under applicable law. For example, securities that are held in an investment advisory account for which Lazard exercises no investment discretion are not voted by Lazard, nor are shares that a client has authorized their custodian bank to use in a stock loan program which passes voting rights to the party with possession of the shares.

C. General Administration

1. Overview and Governance

Lazard's proxy voting process is administered by members of its Operations Department ("the Proxy Administration Team"). Oversight of the process is provided by Lazard's Legal & Compliance Department and by a Proxy Committee comprised of senior investment professionals, members of the Legal & Compliance Department, the firm's Co-Heads of Sustainable Investment & Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance ("ESG") and other personnel. The Proxy Committee meets regularly, generally on a quarterly basis, to review this Policy and other matters relating to the firm's proxy voting functions. Meetings may be convened more frequently (for

¹ In accordance with this Policy, Lazard's exclusive purpose when voting proxies is to (i) maximize long-term shareholder value; (ii) prioritize our clients' pecuniary interests; and (iii) ensure that the votes cast are intended in good faith to accomplish these objectives, while adhering to our fiduciary responsibility. All proxy votes are cast in alignment with this purpose, demonstrating Lazard's commitment to act in the best interest of our clients.

example, to discuss a specific proxy agenda or proposal) as needed. A representative of Lazard's Legal & Compliance Department will participate in all Proxy Committee meetings.

A quorum for the conduct of any meeting will be met if a majority of the Proxy Committee's members are in attendance by phone or in person. Decisions of the Proxy Committee will be made by consensus and minutes of each meeting will be taken and maintained by the Legal & Compliance Department. The Proxy Committee may, upon consultation with Lazard's Chief Compliance Officer, General Counsel or his/her designee, take any action that it believes to be necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Policy. The Chief Compliance Officer, General Counsel or his/her designee, is responsible for updating this Policy, interpreting this Policy, and may act on behalf of the Proxy Committee in circumstances where a meeting of the members is not feasible.

2. Role of Third Parties

Lazard currently subscribes to advisory and other proxy voting services provided by Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. ("ISS") and Glass, Lewis & Co. ("Glass Lewis"). These proxy advisory services provide independent analysis and recommendations regarding various companies' proxy proposals. While this research serves to help improve our understanding of the issues surrounding a company's proxy proposals, Lazard's Portfolio Manager/Analysts and Research Analysts (collectively, "Portfolio Management") are responsible for providing the vote recommendation for a given proposal except when the Conflicts of Interest policy applies (see Section F).

ISS provides additional proxy-related administrative services to Lazard. ISS receives on Lazard's behalf all proxy information sent by custodians that hold securities on behalf of Lazard's clients and sponsored funds. ISS posts all relevant information regarding the proxy on its password-protected website for Lazard to review, including meeting dates, all agendas and ISS' analysis. The Proxy Administration Team reviews this information on a daily basis and regularly communicates with representatives of ISS to ensure that all agendas are considered and proxies are voted on a timely basis. ISS also provides Lazard with vote execution, recordkeeping and reporting support services. Members of the Proxy Committee, along with members of the Legal & Compliance Team, conducts periodic due diligence of ISS and Glass Lewis consisting of an annual questionnaire and, as appropriate, on site visits.

The Proxy Committee believes that the Policy is consistent with the firm's Corporate Governance Principals and ESG and Climate Change Policies at https://www.lazardassetmanagement.com/about/esg.

3. Voting Process

The Proxy Committee has approved proxy voting guidelines applicable to specific types of common proxy proposals (the "Approved Guidelines"). As discussed more fully below in Section D of this Policy, depending on the proposal, an Approved Guideline may provide that Lazard should vote for or against the proposal, or that the proposal should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

For each shareholder meeting the Proxy Administration Team provides Portfolio Management with the agenda and proposals, the Approved Guidelines, independent vote recommendations from Glass Lewis and ISS and supporting analyses for each proposal. Unless Portfolio Management disagrees with the Approved Guideline for a specific proposal, or where a potential material conflict of interest exists, the Proxy Administration Team will generally vote the proposal according to the Approved Guideline. In cases where Portfolio Management recommends a vote contrary to the Approved Guideline, a member of the Proxy Administration Team will contact a member of the Legal & Compliance Department advising the Proxy Committee. Such communication, which may be in the form of an e-mail, shall include: the name of the issuer, a description of the proposal, the Approved Guideline, any potential conflict of interest presented and the reason(s) Portfolio Management believes a proxy vote in this manner is in the best interest

of clients In such cases, the Proxy Committee and the Legal & Compliance Department will review the proposal and make a determination.

Where the Approved Guideline for a particular type of proxy proposal is to vote on a case-by-case basis, Lazard believes that Portfolio Management is best able to evaluate the potential impact to shareholders resulting from a particular proposal. Similarly, with respect to certain Lazard strategies, as discussed more fully in Sections F and G below, the Proxy Administration Team will consult with Portfolio Management to determine when it would be appropriate to abstain from voting. The Proxy Administration Team seeks Portfolio Management's recommendation on how to vote all such proposals. The Proxy Administration Team may also consult with Lazard's Chief Compliance Officer, General Counsel or his/her designee, and may seek the final approval of the Proxy Committee regarding a recommendation by Portfolio Management.

As a global firm, we recognize that there are differing governance models adopted in various countries and that local laws and practices vary widely. Although the Approved Guidelines are intended to be applied uniformly world-wide, where appropriate, Lazard will consider regional/local law and guidance in applying the Policy.

D. Specific Proxy Items

Shareholders receive proxies involving many different proposals. Many proposals are routine in nature, such as a change in a company's name. Others are more complicated, such as items regarding corporate governance and shareholder rights, changes to capital structure, stock option plans and other executive compensation/ issues, election of directors, mergers and other significant transactions and social or political issues. Lazard's Approved Guidelines for certain common agenda items are outlined below. The Proxy Committee will also consider any other proposals presented and determine whether to implement a new Approved Guideline.

Certain strategy-specific considerations may result in Lazard voting proxies other than according to the Approved Guidelines, not voting shares at all, issuing standing instructions to ISS on how to vote certain proxy matters on behalf of Lazard, or taking other action where unique circumstances require special voting efforts or considerations. These considerations are discussed in more detail in Section G, below.

1. Routine Items

Lazard generally votes routine items as recommended by the issuer's management and board of directors, based on the view that management is generally in a better position to assess these matters. Lazard considers routine items to be those that do not change the structure, charter, bylaws, or operations of an issuer in any way that is material to long-term shareholder value. Routine items generally include:

- issues relating to the timing or conduct of annual meetings;
- provisionary financial budgets and strategy for the current year;
- proposals that allow votes submitted for the first call of the shareholder meeting to be considered in the event of a second call;
- proposals to receive or approve of variety of routine reports (Lazard will generally vote FOR
 the approval of financial statements and director and auditor reports unless there are concerns
 about the accounts presented or audit procedures used or the company is not responsive to
 shareholder questions about specific items that should be publicly disclosed); and
- changes to a company's name.

2. Amendments to Board Policy/Charter/Regulation:

Proposals to amend a company's Articles of Association and other bylaws are commonly seen at shareholder meetings. Companies usually disclose what is being amended, or the amended bylaws, or both in their meeting circulars. Amendments are nearly always bundled together as a single voting resolution, and Lazard's general approach is to review these amendments on a case-

by-case basis and to oppose article amendments as a whole when they include changes Lazard opposes.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote FOR bylaw amendments that are driven by regulatory changes and are technical in nature or meant to update company-specific information such as address and/or business scope.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote AGAINST bylaw amendments if

- there is no disclosure on the proposed amendments or full text of the amended bylaw; or
- the amendments include increase in the decision authority of what is considered "excessive" and the company fails to provide a compelling justification.

3. Corporate Governance and Shareholder Rights

Many proposals address issues related to corporate governance and shareholder rights. These items often relate to a board of directors and its committees, anti-takeover measures, and the conduct of the company's shareholder meetings.

a. Board of Directors and its Committees²

Lazard votes in favor of provisions that it believes will increase the effectiveness of an issuer's board of directors.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote FOR the following:

- the establishment of an independent nominating committee, audit committee or compensation committee of a board of directors;¹
- a requirement that a substantial majority (e.g., 2/3) of a company's directors be independent;
- a proposal that a majority of the entirety of the board's committees be comprised of independent directors;
- proposals seeking to de-classify a board;
- the implementation of director stock retention/holding periods;
- proposals relating to the establishment of directors' mandatory retirement age and age
 restrictions for directors especially where such proposals seek to facilitate the improvement of
 the diversity of the board; and
- changes to the articles of association and other relevant documents which are in the long-term interests of shareholders;
- the appointment or (re)election of internal statutory auditors/fiscal council members <u>unless</u>
 (a) the name of the management nominees are not disclosed in a timely manner prior to the

² Given the governance practices unique to the Japanese market, the voting structure described herein is aligned with the Japanese Stewardship Code.

• meeting, (b) there are serious concerns about statutory reports presented or the audit procedures used, (c) questions exist concerning any of the auditors, (d) the auditors have previously served the company in an executive capacity (or are otherwise considered affiliated) or (e) minority shareholders have presented timely disclosure of minority fiscal council nominee(s) to be elected under separate elections.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote on a CASE by CASE Basis for the following:

- proposals to require an independent board chair or the separation of chairman and CEO; and
- establishment of shareholder advisory committees.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote AGAINST the following:

- proposals seeking to classify a board
- the election of directors where the board does not have independent "key committees" or sufficient board independence;
- non-independent directors who serve on key committees that are not sufficiently independent;
- proposals relating to cumulative voting;
- proposals where the names of the candidates (in the case of an election) or the principles for the establishment of a committee (where a new committee is being created) have not been disclosed in a timely manner;
- release of restrictions on competitive activities of directors³ if (a) there is a lack of disclosure on the key information including identities of directors in question, current position in the company and outside boards they are serving on or (b) the non-nomination system is employed by the company for the director election;
- the discharge of directors, including members of the management board and/or supervisory board and auditors, unless there is reliable information about significant and compelling concerns that the board is not fulfilling its fiduciary duties;⁴ and
- the chair of the board's nominating committee, or all incumbent nominating committee
 members in the absence of the chair, if there is not at least one female on the board of
 directors.

US Listed Corporates

Given the governance practices unique to the United States market, Lazard has adopted the following principles-based approach to proxy voting that is designed to address:

- Board effectiveness supporting board structure, diversity of cognitive thought, independence and avoiding over- boarding.
- Accountability in conjunction with the immediately preceding bullet point, emphasizing
 individual accountability, for example holding the Chair of the Nomination Committee
 accountable where weaknesses and conflicts have been identified.

b. Anti-takeover Measures

Certain proposals are intended to deter outside parties from taking control of a company. Such proposals could entrench management and adversely affect shareholder rights and the value of the company's shares.

³ This is intended to cover instances where directors engage in commercial transactions with the company and/or are involved with other companies (outside board memberships).

⁴ For example, a lack of oversight or actions by board members which invoke shareholder distrust, legal issues aiming to hold the board responsible for breach of trust or egregious governance issues.

Consequently, Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote AGAINST:

- proposals to adopt supermajority vote requirements or increase vote requirements;
- proposals seeking to adopt fair price provisions and on a case-by-case basis regarding proposals seeking to rescind them; and
- "blank check" preferred stock.

Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote on a CASE by CASE basis regarding other provisions seeking to amend a company's by-laws or charter regarding anti-takeover provisions or shareholder rights plans (also known as "poison pill plans").

Lazard has adopted an Approved Guideline to vote FOR proposals that ask management to submit any new poison pill plan to shareholder vote.

c. Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Lazard generally opposes any effort by management to restrict or limit shareholder participation in shareholder meetings, and is in favor of efforts to enhance shareholder participation. Lazard has therefore adopted Approved Guidelines to vote AGAINST:

- proposals to adjourn US meetings;
- proposals seeking to eliminate or restrict shareholders' right to call a special meeting;
- efforts to eliminate or restrict right of shareholders to act by written consent; and
- proposals to adopt supermajority vote requirements, or increase vote requirements.

Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote on a CASE by CASE basis on changes to quorum requirements and FOR proposals providing for confidential voting.

4. Changes to Capital Structure

Lazard receives many proxies that include proposals relating to a company's capital structure. These proposals vary greatly, as each one is unique to the circumstances of the company involved, as well as the general economic and market conditions existing at the time of the proposal. A board and management may have many legitimate business reasons in seeking to effect changes to the issuer's capital structure, including investing in financial products and raising additional capital for appropriate business reasons, cash flow and market conditions. Lazard generally believes that these decisions are best left to management but will monitor these proposals closely to ensure that they are aligned with the long-term interests of shareholders.

Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote FOR:

- management proposals to increase or decrease authorized common or preferred stock (unless it is believed that doing so is intended to serve as an anti-takeover measure);
- stock splits and reverse stock splits;
- investments in financial products unless the company fails to provide meaningful shareholder vote or there are significant concerns with the company's previous similar investments;⁵
- requests to reissue any repurchased shares unless there is clear evidence of abuse of authority in the past;

⁵ Evaluate (a) any known concerns with previous investments, (b) amount of the proposed investment relative to the company's assets and (c) disclosure of the nature of products in which the company proposed to invest and associated risks of the investment.

- management proposals to adopt or amend dividend reinvestment plans; and
- dividend distribution policies unless (a) the dividend payout ratio has been consistently below 30% without adequate explanation or (b) the payout is excessive given the company's financial position.

Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote on a CASE by CASE basis for:

- matters affecting shareholder rights, such as amending votes-per-share;
- management proposals to issue a new class of common or preferred shares (unless covered by an Approved Guideline relating to the disapplication of pre-emption rights);
- the use of proceeds and the company's past share issuances;
- proposals seeking to approve or amend stock ownership limitations or transfer restrictions;
 and
- loan and financing proposals. In assessing requests for loan financing provided by a related party the following factors will be considered: (a) use of proceeds, size or specific amount of loan requested, interest rate and relation of the party providing the loan.

Lazard has adopted Approved Guidelines to vote AGAINST:

- changes in capital structure designed to be used in poison pill plans or which seeks to disregard pre-emption rights in a way that does not follow guidance set by the UK Pre-Emption Group's Statement of Principles;
- the provision of loans to clients, controlling shareholders and actual controlling persons of the company; and
- the provision of loans to an entity in which the company's ownership stake is less than 75% and the financing provision is not proportionate to the company's equity stake.

5. Executive Compensation Issues

Lazard supports efforts by companies to adopt compensation and incentive programs to attract and retain the highest caliber management possible, and to align the interests of a board, management and employees with those of long-term shareholders. Lazard generally favors programs intended to reward management and employees for positive and sustained, long-term performance but will take into account various considerations such as whether compensation appears to be appropriate for the company after an analysis of the totality of the circumstances (including the company's time in history and evolution).

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote FOR:

- employee stock purchase plans, deferred compensation plans, stock option plans and stock appreciation rights plans that are in the long-term interests of shareholders;
- proposals to submit severance agreements to shareholders for approval;
- annual advisory votes on compensation outcomes where the outcomes are considered to be aligned with the interest of shareholders; and
- annual compensation policy votes where the policy structures are considered to be aligned with the interest of shareholders.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote on a CASE by CASE basis regarding:

restricted stock plans that do not define performance criteria; and

⁶ Specifically, with respect to the issuance of shares to raise funds for general financing purposes, Lazard will consider the Measures for the Administration of the Issuance of Securities by Listed Companies 2006 and the Detailed Rules for Private Placement by Listed Companies, the China Securities Regulatory Commission.

• proposals to approve executive loans to exercise options.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote AGAINST:

• proposals to re-price underwater options;

- annual advisory votes on remuneration outcomes where the outcomes are considered not to be in the interests of shareholders; and
- annual remuneration policy vote where the policy structures are considered not to be in the interests of shareholders.

US Listed Corporates

Given the governance practices unique to the United States market, Lazard maintains the view that votes regarding Say on Pay should in principle, support fair and transparent remuneration. In addition, we also consider:

- the level of dissent on previous Say on Pay votes; and
- individual accountability, for example holding the Chair of the Compensation Committee accountable where weaknesses have been identified.

6. Mergers and Other Significant Transactions

Shareholders are asked to consider a number of different types of significant transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, sales of all or substantially all of a company's assets, reorganizations involving business combinations and liquidations. Each of these transactions is unique. Therefore, Lazard's Approved Guideline is to vote on a CASE by CASE basis for these proposals.

7. Environmental, Social, and Corporate Governance

Proposals involving environmental, social, and corporate governance issues take many forms and cover a wide array of issues. Some examples may include: proposals to have a company increase its environmental disclosure; adoption of principles to limit or eliminate certain business activities; adoption of certain conservation efforts; adoption of proposals to improve the diversity of the board, the senior management team and the workforce in general; adoption of proposals to improve human capital management or the adoption of certain principles regarding employment practices or discrimination policies. These items are often presented by shareholders and are often opposed by the company's management and its board of directors.

As set out in Lazard's separate ESG Policy, Lazard is committed to an investment approach that incorporates ESG considerations in a comprehensive manner in order to safeguard the long-term interests of our clients and to manage more effectively long-term investment risks and opportunities related to ESG matters. Lazard generally supports the notion that corporations should be expected to act as good citizens. Lazard generally votes on environmental, social and corporate governance proposals in a way that it believes will most increase long-term shareholder value.

Lazard's Approved Guidelines are structured to evaluate many environmental, social and corporate governance proposals on a case-by-case basis.

- However, as a guide, Lazard will generally vote FOR proposals:
- asking for a company to increase its environmental/social disclosures (e.g., to provide a corporate sustainability report);
- seeking the approval of anti-discrimination policies;
- which are considered socially responsible agenda items;
- which improve an investee company's ESG risk management and related disclosures; and
- deemed to be in the long-term interests of shareholders.

8. Shareholder Proposals

Lazard believes in the ability of shareholders to leverage their rights related to the use of shareholder proposals to address deficits in best practices and related disclosures by companies. Many ESG issues are improved through such use of shareholder proposals. For example, some companies are collaborating with shareholders on such proposals by voicing their support and recommending that shareholders vote in-line with such proposals.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote FOR shareholder proposals which:

- seek improved disclosure of an investee company's ESG practices over an appropriate timeframe;
- seek improved transparency over how the investee company is supporting the transition to a low carbon economy;
- seek to improve the diversity of the board;
- seek improved disclosures on the diversity of the board and the wider workforce;
- seek to establish minimum stock-ownership requirements for directors over an appropriate time frame;
- seek to eliminate or restrict severance agreements, or are deemed to be in the long-term interests of shareholders including Lazard's clients.

Lazard has Approved Guidelines generally to vote AGAINST shareholder proposals which:

- seek to infringe excessively on management's decision-making flexibility;
- seek to establish additional board committees (absent demonstrable need);
- seek to establish term limits for directors if this is unnecessary;
- seek to change the size of a board (unless this facilitates improved board diversity);
- seek to require two candidates for each board seat; or
- are considered not to be in the long-terms interests of shareholders.

E. Voting Securities in Different Countries

Laws and regulations regarding shareholder rights and voting procedures differ dramatically across the world. In certain countries, the requirements or restrictions imposed before proxies may be voted may outweigh any benefit that could be realized by voting the proxies involved. For example, certain countries restrict a shareholder's ability to sell shares for a certain period of time if the shareholder votes proxies at a meeting (a practice known as "share blocking"). In other instances, the costs of voting a proxy (*i.e.*, by being routinely required to send a representative to the meeting) may simply outweigh any benefit to the client if the proxy is voted. Generally, the Proxy Administration Team will consult with Portfolio Management in determining whether to vote these proxies.

There may be other instances where Portfolio Management may wish to refrain from voting proxies (See Section G.1. below).

F. Conflicts of Interest

1. Overview

This Policy and related procedures implemented by Lazard are designed to address potential conflicts of interest posed by Lazard's business and organizational structure. Examples of such potential conflicts of interest are:

 Lazard Frères & Co. LLC ("LF&Co."), Lazard's parent company and a registered brokerdealer, or a financial advisory affiliate, has a relationship with a company the shares of which are held in accounts of Lazard clients, and has provided financial advisory or related services to the company with respect to an upcoming significant proxy proposal (*i.e.*, a merger or other significant transaction);

- Lazard serves as an investment adviser for a company the management of which supports a particular proposal;
- Lazard serves as an investment adviser for the pension plan of an organization that sponsors a proposal; or
- A Lazard employee who would otherwise be involved in the decision-making process regarding a particular proposal has a material relationship with the issuer or owns shares of the issuer.

2. General Policy

All proxies must be voted in the best long-term interest of each Lazard client, without consideration of the interests of Lazard, LF&Co. or any of their employees or affiliates. The Proxy Administration Team is responsible for all proxy voting in accordance with this Policy after consulting with the appropriate member or members of Portfolio Management, the Proxy Committee and/or the Legal & Compliance Department. No other employees of Lazard, LF&Co. or their affiliates may influence or attempt to influence the vote on any proposal. Violations of this Policy could result in disciplinary action, including letter of censure, fine or suspension, or termination of employment. Any such conduct may also violate state and Federal securities and other laws, as well as Lazard's client agreements, which could result in severe civil and criminal penalties being imposed, including the violator being prohibited from ever working for any organization engaged in a securities business. Every officer and employee of Lazard who participates in any way in the decision-making process regarding proxy voting is responsible for considering whether they have a conflicting interest or the appearance of a conflicting interest on any proposal. A conflict could arise, for example, if an officer or employee has a family member who is an officer of the issuer or owns securities of the issuer. If an officer or employee believes such a conflict exists or may appear to exist, he or she should notify the Chief Compliance Officer immediately and, unless determined otherwise, should not continue to participate in the decisionmaking process.

3. Monitoring for Conflicts and Voting When a Material Conflict Exists

The Proxy Administration Team monitors for potential conflicts of interest that could be viewed as influencing the outcome of Lazard's voting decision. Consequently, the steps that Lazard takes to monitor conflicts, and voting proposals when the appearance of a material conflict exists, differ depending on whether the Approved Guideline for the specific item is clearly defined to vote for or against, or is to vote on a case-by-case basis. Any questions regarding application of these conflict procedures, including whether a conflict exists, should be addressed to Lazard's Chief Compliance Officer or General Counsel.

a. Where Approved Guideline Is For or Against

Lazard has an Approved Guideline to vote for or against regarding most proxy agenda/proposals. Generally, unless Portfolio Management disagrees with the Approved Guideline for a specific proposal, the Proxy Administration Team votes according to the Approved Guideline. It is therefore necessary to consider whether an apparent conflict of interest exists when Portfolio Management disagrees with the Approved Guideline. The Proxy Administration Team will use its best efforts to determine whether a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest exists. If conflict appears to exist, then the proposal will be voted according to the Approved Guideline. Lazard also reserves its right to Abstain.

In addition, in the event of a conflict that arises in connection with a proposal for Lazard to vote shares held by Lazard clients in a Lazard mutual fund, Lazard will typically vote each proposal for or against proportion to the shares voted by other shareholders.

b. Where Approved Guideline Is Case-by-Case

In situations where the Approved Guideline is to vote case-by-case and a material conflict of interest appears to exist, Lazard's policy is to vote the proxy item according to the majority recommendation of the independent proxy services to which we subscribe. Lazard also reserves the right to Abstain.

G. Other Matters

1. Issues Relating to Management of Specific Lazard Strategies

Due to the nature of certain strategies managed by Lazard, there may be times when Lazard believes that it may not be in the best interests of its clients to vote in accordance with the Approved Guidelines, or to vote proxies at all. In certain markets, the fact that Lazard is voting proxies may become public information, and, given the nature of those markets, may impact the price of the securities involved. Lazard may simply require more time to fully understand and address a situation prior to determining what would be in the best interests of shareholders. In these cases the Proxy Administration Team will look to Portfolio Management to provide guidance on proxy voting rather than vote in accordance with the Approved Guidelines, and will obtain the Proxy Committee's confirmation accordingly.

Additionally, Lazard may not receive notice of a shareholder meeting in time to vote proxies for or may simply be prevented from voting proxies in connection with a particular meeting. Due to the compressed time frame for notification of shareholder meetings and Lazard's obligation to vote proxies on behalf of its clients, Lazard may issue standing instructions to ISS on how to vote on certain matters.

Different strategies managed by Lazard may hold the same securities. However, due to the differences between the strategies and their related investment objectives, one Portfolio Management team may desire to vote differently than the other, or one team may desire to abstain from voting proxies while the other may desire to vote proxies. In this event, Lazard would generally defer to the recommendation of the Portfolio Management teams to determine what action would be in the best interests of its clients. The Chief Compliance Officer or General Counsel, in consultation with members of the Proxy Committee will determine whether it is appropriate to approve a request to split votes among one or more Portfolio Management teams.

2. Stock Lending

As noted in Section B above, Lazard does not generally vote proxies for securities that a client has authorized their custodian bank to use in a stock loan program, which passes voting rights to the party with possession of the shares. Under certain circumstances, Lazard may determine to recall loaned stocks in order to vote the proxies associated with those securities. For example, if Lazard determines that the entity in possession of the stock has borrowed the stock solely to be able to obtain control over the issuer of the stock by voting proxies, or if the client should specifically request Lazard to vote the shares on loan, Lazard may determine to recall the stock and vote the proxies itself. However, it is expected that this will be done only in exceptional circumstances. In such event, Portfolio Management will make this determination and the Proxy Administration Team will vote the proxies in accordance with the Approved Guidelines.

H. Reporting

Separately managed account clients of Lazard who have authorized Lazard to vote proxies on their behalf will receive information on proxy voting with respect to that account. Additionally, the US mutual funds managed by Lazard will disclose proxy voting information on an annual basis on Form N-PX which is filed with the SEC.

I. Recordkeeping

Lazard will maintain records relating to the implementation of the Approved Guidelines and this Policy, including a copy of the Approved Guidelines and this Policy, proxy statements received regarding client

securities, a record of votes cast and any other document created by Lazard that was material to a determination regarding the voting of proxies on behalf of clients or that memorializes the basis for that decision. Such proxy voting books and records shall be maintained in the manner and for the length of time required in accordance with applicable regulations.

J. Review of Policy and Approved Guidelines

The Proxy Committee will review this Policy at least annually to consider whether any changes should be made to it or to any of the Approved Guidelines. The Proxy Committee will make revisions to its Approved Guidelines when it determines it is appropriate or when it sees an opportunity to materially improve outcomes for clients. Questions or concerns regarding the Policy should be raised with Lazard's General Counsel or Chief Compliance Officer.

Revised As Of November 15, 2023